

Lipschitz Bounds and Nonautonomous Integrals

CRISTIANA DE FILIPPIS & GIUSEPPE MINGIONE

Communicated by G. DAL MASO

Abstract

We provide a general approach to Lipschitz regularity of solutions for a large class of vector-valued, nonautonomous variational problems exhibiting nonuniform ellipticity. The functionals considered here range from those with unbalanced polynomial growth conditions to those with fast, exponential type growth. The results obtained are sharp with respect to all the data considered and also yield new, optimal regularity criteria in the classical uniformly elliptic case. We give a classification of different types of nonuniform ellipticity, accordingly identifying suitable conditions to get regularity theorems.

Contents

1.	Introduction	974
	1.1. Nonuniform Ellipticity at Polynomial Rates	977
	1.2. Nonuniform Ellipticity at Fast Rates and a Different Phenomenon	979
	1.3. New Results in the Uniformly Elliptic Setting	980
	1.4. Calderón-Zygmund Theory	981
	1.5. Obstacles	981
	1.6. Remarks and Organization of the Paper	982
2.	Basic Notation	983
3.	Potentials, Functions Spaces, Iteration Lemmas	984
4.	Assumptions and General Results	985
	4.1. Basic Structural Assumptions, and Consequences	986
	4.2. The Energy Functions	988
	4.3. Quantifying Nonuniform Ellipticity	988
	4.4. The Uniformly Elliptic Case	989
	4.5. General Results	989
	4.6. Different Notions of Nonuniform Ellipticity	991
5.		992
	5.1. General Setup	992
	5.2 Four Technical Lemmas	994

6.	A Priori Estimates	1002
	6.1. Caccioppoli Inequality for Powers, When $n > 2$	1005
	6.2. Moser's Iteration in Finite Steps	1013
	6.3. Sobolev Regularity	1015
	6.4. A Lipschitz Bound in the Homogeneous Case $f \equiv 0$	1017
	6.5. Caccioppoli Inequality on Level Sets	1017
	6.6. Nonlinear Iterations	1022
	6.7. The Case $n = 2$	1025
7.	Proofs of Theorems 4.1 and 4.3	1030
8.	Uniform Ellipticity and Proof of Theorem 4.2	1033
9.	Proof of Theorem 4.4	1036
10.	Proof of Theorems 1.1–1.7	1037
	10.1. Theorems 1.1 and 1.2	1037
	10.2. Theorem 1.3	1037
	10.3. Proof of Theorems 1.4–1.5 and 1.7	1042
	10.4. Proof of Theorem 1.6	1045
11.	Obstacle Problems and Theorem 1.8	1045
	11.1. A General Result	1045
	11.2. Proof of Theorem 1.8 and Additional Results	1048
12.	Justification of a Priori Regularity	1048
Ret	ferences	1054

1. Introduction

The aim of this paper is to provide a comprehensive treatment of Lipschitz regularity of solutions for a very large class of vector-valued nonautonomous variational problems, involving integral functionals of the type

$$W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N) \ni w \mapsto \mathcal{F}(w; \Omega) := \int_{\Omega} \left[F(x, Dw) - f \cdot w \right] dx \,. \tag{1.1}$$

Here $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is an open subset with $n \ge 2$ and $N \ge 1$. In what follows we shall assume the structure condition $F(x, Dw) \equiv \tilde{F}(x, |Dw|)$, which is natural in the vectorial case, where $\tilde{F} : \Omega \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is a suitably regular function (see Section 4.1 below for the precise assumptions). The vector field $f : \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{R}^N$ will be at least L^n -integrable

$$f \in L^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N).$$
(1.2)

The notion of a local minimizer used in this paper is quite standard in the literature.

Definition 1. A map $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ is a local minimizer of the functional \mathcal{F} in (1.1) with $f \in L^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ if, for every open subset $\tilde{\Omega} \subseteq \Omega$, we have $\mathcal{F}(u; \tilde{\Omega}) < \infty$ and $\mathcal{F}(u; \tilde{\Omega}) \leq \mathcal{F}(w; \tilde{\Omega})$ holds for every competitor $w \in u + W^{1,1}_0(\tilde{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Throughout the rest of the paper we shall abbreviate local minimizer simply by minimizer. We just remark that, thanks to (1.2) and Sobolev embedding, requiring $\mathcal{F}(u; \tilde{\Omega}) < \infty$ for every $\tilde{\Omega}$ in Definition 1 is the same to requiring $F(\cdot, Du) \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$. In this paper we deal with the following classical problem:

Problem. Find minimal regularity assumptions on f and $x \mapsto F(x, \cdot)$, guaranteeing local Lipschitz continuity of minima of the functional \mathcal{F} in (1.1), provided this type of regularity holds when $f \equiv 0$ and no x-dependence occurs, i.e., $F(x, z) \equiv F(z)$.

Eventually, Lipschitz continuity opens the way to higher order regularity. In the problem above, a situation where no dependence on *x* typically occurs when considering frozen integrands of the type $z \mapsto F(x_0, z)$, for some $x_0 \in \Omega$. We recall that, under suitable growth conditions, the analysis of (1.1) usually involves the related Euler-Lagrange system

$$-\operatorname{div}(\tilde{a}(x, |Du|)Du) = f, \quad \tilde{a}(x, |Du|) := \frac{\tilde{F}'(x, |Du|)}{|Du|}.$$
 (1.3)

Here \tilde{F}' denotes the partial derivative of \tilde{F} with respect to the second variable.

Recently, Cianchi & Maz'ya [19–23] (global estimates) and Kuusi and the second author [50–52] (local estimates), investigated the above problem in the uniformly elliptic, autonomous case, i.e. $\tilde{a}(x, |Du|) \equiv \tilde{a}(|Du|)$ and

$$\begin{cases} -1 < i_{a} \leq \frac{\tilde{a}'(t)t}{\tilde{a}(t)} \leq s_{a} < \infty & \text{for every } t > 0\\ \tilde{a} : (0, \infty) \to [0, \infty) \text{ is of class } C_{\text{loc}}^{1}(0, \infty) . \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

A special, yet important model, is given by the *p*-Laplacean system with coefficients

$$-\operatorname{div}(\mathfrak{c}(x)|Du|^{p-2}Du) = f, \quad p > 1, \quad 0 < \nu \leq \mathfrak{c}(\cdot) \leq L.$$
(1.5)

For this, we have the

Nonlinear Stein Theorem [51]. Let $u \in W_{loc}^{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a weak solution to (1.5). If $f \in L(n, 1)(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, and $\mathfrak{c}(\cdot)$ is Dini continuous, then Du is continuous.

In particular, Du is locally bounded. We recall that $f \in L(n, 1)(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ means that

$$\|f\|_{L(n,1)(\Omega)} := \int_0^\infty |\{x \in \Omega : |f(x)| > \lambda\}|^{1/n} \, d\lambda < \infty \,, \tag{1.6}$$

and also that $L^q \subset L(n, 1) \subset L^n$ for every q > n. Moreover, denoting by $\omega(\cdot)$ the modulus of continuity of $\mathfrak{c}(\cdot)$, the Dini continuity of $\mathfrak{c}(\cdot)$ amounts to require that

$$\int_{0} \omega(\varrho) \, \frac{d\varrho}{\varrho} < \infty \,. \tag{1.7}$$

The above theorem extends to general equations [50] and to systems depending on forms [69]; it also extends classical results of Uhlenbeck [74] and Uraltseva [75]; we again refer to Cianchi & Maz'ya [19,20,22] for global statements. The terminology is motivated by the fact that, for $c(\cdot) \equiv 1$ and p = 2, this is another classical result of Stein [71]. It is optimal both with respect to condition (1.6), as shown by Cianchi [18], and with respect to (1.7), as shown by Jin, Maz'ya and Van Schaftingen [56]. The relevant fact here is that the conditions on f and $c(\cdot)$ implying local Lipschitz continuity are independent of p. In fact, when considering more general equations,

they are independent of the vector field the divergence operator is applied to; for this, see [50], and [1] for conditions (1.3)–(1.4).

In the case of nonuniformly elliptic operators, the problem of deriving sharp conditions with respect to data for Lipschitz regularity is considerably more difficult. This has been attacked only recently by Beck and the second author [4], but only for the case of autonomous functionals in the principal part, i.e., $F(x, z) \equiv F(z)$ (with some abuse of terminology, in this paper we shall refer to $F(x, z) \equiv F(z)$ as to the autonomous case, no matter $f(\cdot)$ can still be present in (1.1), to emphasize that coefficients x do not appear in the part of the integrand containing gradient terms). The outcome of [4] is that, when n > 2, condition (1.6) is still sufficient to guarantee the local Lipschitz regularity of minima, thereby revealing itself as a sort of universal property. In the case n = 2, the alternative, slightly stonger borderline condition $L^2(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ with $\mathfrak{a} > 2$ implies Lipschitz continuity:

$$f \in L^2(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N) \iff \int_{\Omega} |f|^2 \log^{\mathfrak{a}} (\mathbf{e} + |f|) \, dx < \infty.$$
 (1.8)

Therefore, in the nonuniformly, autonomous case, the condition on f can be summarized as

$$|f| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega) = \begin{cases} L(n,1)(\Omega) & \text{if } n > 2\\ L^2(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega), \ \mathfrak{a} > 2 & \text{if } n = 2. \end{cases}$$
(1.9)

In this paper we deal with the general, fully nonautonomous case (1.1). This is by no means a technical extension as, in fact, when passing to the nonuniformly elliptic case, the role of coefficients drastically changes and they can no longer be treated via perturbation as in [51]. To give a glimpse of the situation, let us consider the so called double phase functional

$$\begin{cases} w \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \left[H(x, Dw) - f \cdot w \right] dx \\ H(x, z) := \tilde{H}(x, |z|) := |z|^p / p + a(x) |z|^q / q, \end{cases}$$
(1.10)

with $1 , <math>0 \leq a(\cdot) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. This functional has been originally introduced by Zhikov [77, 78] in the setting of Homogeneization of strongly anisotropic materials, and the corresponding regularity theory has been studied at length starting by [2,24,25]. The functional in (1.10) changes its rate of ellipticity/coercivity - from *p* to *q* - around the zero set $\{a(x) = 0\}$. As shown in [38,41], already when $f \equiv 0$, local minima fail to be continuous if the ratio q/p is too far from 1, in dependence on the rate of Hölder continuity α . Specifically, the condition

$$\frac{q}{p} \leq 1 + \frac{\alpha}{n}, \qquad a(\cdot) \in C^{0,\alpha}(\Omega), \qquad \alpha \in (0,1]$$
(1.11)

is necessary [38,41] and sufficient [2] to get gradient local continuity, thereby linking growth conditions of the integrand with respect to the gradient variable, to the smoothness of coefficients. In particular, classical Schauder's theory generally fails. This is the main theme of this paper. Condition in (1.11) reveals a typical phenomenon occurring when nonuniform ellipticity is directly generated by the presence of the *x*-variable as in (1.10). In this case, it is indeed the very presence of *x* making functionals as in (1.10) fail to meet the standard, two-sided polynomial conditions with the same exponent, i.e., $H(x, z) \not\approx |z|^p$. We shall also deal with more drastic examples of such an interplay, as for instance

$$w \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \left[\mathfrak{c}_1(x) \exp(\mathfrak{c}_2(x) |Dw|^p) - f \cdot w \right] dx, \qquad p > 1, \qquad (1.12)$$

where $0 < v \leq c_1(\cdot), c_2(\cdot) \leq L$. Here the dependence on *x* becomes even more delicate as it makes the ellipticity rate vary more drastically. Such integrands fail to satisfy the so-called Δ_2 -condition, i.e., $\tilde{F}(x, 2t) \not\leq \tilde{F}(x, t)$. This reflects in a loss of related integrability conditions on minimizers as one tries to use perturbation methods, that is, considering a specific point $x_0 \in \Omega$ and making small variations of *x* around x_0 . In other words, $\exp(c_2(\cdot)|Dw|^p) \in L^1$ does not necessarily imply $\exp(c_2(x_0)|Dw|^p) \in L^1$, and vice versa, and plain perturbation methods are again banned. Exponential type functionals are classical in the Calculus of Variations starting by the work of Duc and Eells [36] and Marcellini [61]. In the nonautonomous version, they are treated for instance in the setting of weak KAM-theory by Evans [39], but under special assumptions and boundary conditions. More recent progress is in [32], for $f \equiv 0$.

Nonuniform ellipticity is a very classical topic in partial differential equations, and it is often motivated by geometric and physical problems. Seminal papers on this subject are for instance [36,57,70,77,78]; a classical monograph is Ivanov's [44]. In the setting of the Calculus of Variations there is a wide literature available, starting from the basic papers of Uraltseva and Urdaletova [76] and Marcellini [60–63]. More recently, the study of the nonautonomous case has intensified; many papers have been devoted to study specific structures as well as genereal non-uniformly elliptic problems [4–7,9–12,14,30–32,54,55]. Connections to related function spaces have been studied too [34,53,67].

The results obtained in this paper are very general and cover large classes of different models cases simultaneously. For this, a number of technical assumptions are necessary; see Section 4.5 below. In any case, when applied to single models, such assumptions reveal to be minimal and produce sharp results. In the autonomous case $F(x, z) \equiv F(z)$, they coincide with the sharp ones introduced in [4]. For this reason, and also to ease the reading of the paper, in this introductory part we shall present a few main corollaries of the general theorems, in connection to some relevant instances of nonuniformly elliptic functionals often considered in the literature. These models fall in three different general classes, detailed in Sects. 1.1–1.3 below. We refer the reader to Section 2 for a full account of the notation used in this paper, while more remarks on nonuniform ellipticity are in Section 4.6 below.

1.1. Nonuniform Ellipticity at Polynomial Rates

We start considering functionals with unbalanced polynomial growth conditions, of so-called (p, q)-type after Marcellini [60,61]. The idea is to provide general conditions on the partial map $x \mapsto F(x, \cdot)$ implying regularity of minima and matching those suggested by counterexamples [38,41]. In this respect, we consider, for exponents 1 , the conditions

$$\begin{cases} F(x,z) = \tilde{F}(x,|z|) & \text{for all } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \\ \nu(|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{p/2} \leq F(x,z) \leq \Lambda (|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{q/2} + \Lambda (|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{p/2} \\ (|z|^2 + \mu^2) |\partial_{zz} F(x,z)| \leq \Lambda (|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{q/2} + \Lambda (|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{p/2} \\ \nu(|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2} |\xi|^2 \leq \partial_{zz} F(x,z) \xi \cdot \xi, \end{cases}$$
(1.13)

for every choice of $z, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $|z| \neq 0$. Here $0 < \nu \leq 1 \leq \Lambda$ and $\mu \in [0, 1]$ are fixed constants. \tilde{F} satisfies (4.1)_{2,3} below. We moreover assume that

$$t \mapsto \frac{\tilde{F}'(x,t)}{(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2}t}$$
 is non-decreasing (1.14)

for every $x \in \Omega$; as in the rest of the paper, we denote $\tilde{F}' \equiv \partial_t \tilde{F}$. As for the crucial dependence on *x*, we assume that

$$\begin{cases} |\partial_x \tilde{F}'(x,t)| \leq h(x) \left[(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(q-2)/2} t + (t^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2} t \right] \\ h(\cdot) \in L^d(\Omega), \ d > n \end{cases}$$
(1.15)

holds for a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and every t > 0. Of course, F, \tilde{F}' , are also assumed to be continuous on $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$, while \tilde{F}'' and $\partial_x \tilde{F}$ are Carathéodory regular. Using Sobolev regularity on coefficients, is a natural approach, also considered elsewhere. See for instance the paper [48] in the case of uniformly elliptic integrals. As for the nonuniformly elliptic setting, this approach has been used in [37]; see also Marcellini's survey [63] for a general overview. We also mention that, over the last several years, Sobolev coefficients have been systematically considered as a replacement of usual Lipschitz ones to find optimal conditions in several other fields of analysis and PDE; see for instance [8,26,40].

Theorem 1.1. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of \mathcal{F} in (1.1), under assumptions (1.13)-(1.15). Assume that (1.9) holds and

$$\frac{q}{p} < 1 + \min\left\{\frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{d}, \mathfrak{m}_p\right\} \quad \text{with} \quad \mathfrak{m}_p := \begin{cases} \frac{4(p-1)}{\vartheta p(n-2)} & \text{if} \quad n \ge 3\\ \frac{2(p-1)}{\vartheta p} & \text{if} \quad n = 2 \end{cases}$$
(1.16)

where $\vartheta = 1$ if $p \ge 2$ and $\vartheta = 2$ otherwise. Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$. When either $p \ge 2$ or $f \equiv 0$, (1.16) can be replaced by

$$\frac{q}{p} < 1 + \frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{d} \,. \tag{1.17}$$

Theorem 1.1 actually follows from Theorem 4.1 in Section 4.5 below and, as all the other results presented in this Introduction, comes along with explicit local a priori estimates. In particular, for splitting structures as

$$w \mapsto \int_{\Omega} [\mathfrak{c}(x)F(Dw) - f \cdot w] \, dx \,, \qquad 0 < \nu \leq \mathfrak{c}(\cdot) \leq L \,, \qquad (1.18)$$

Theorem 1.1 becomes

Theorem 1.2. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.18), under assumptions (1.13)-(1.14) with $F(\cdot) \equiv F(z) \equiv \tilde{F}(|z|)$, and f as in (1.9). Assume that $\mathfrak{c}(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ with d > n and that (1.16) is satisfied. Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$. When either $p \ge 2$ or $f \equiv 0$, (1.16) can be replaced by (1.17).

For double phase functionals in (1.10), condition (1.15) again amounts to assume that $a(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$, and indeed we have

Theorem 1.3. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.10), such that $0 \leq a(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$, d > n, and that (1.9) holds together with

$$q/p \le 1 + 1/n - 1/d$$
, if $n \ge 2$ and, when $n = 2$, also $q/p < p$. (1.19)

Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}).$

Theorem 1.3 allows to clarify in which sense assumptions (1.15) and (1.17) & (1.19) are sharp. Indeed, Sobolev–Morrey embedding yields $a(\cdot) \in C^{0,\alpha}$ with $\alpha = 1 - n/d$. This last identity makes conditions (1.11) and (1.17) coincide. In turn, (1.11) is sharp by the counterexamples in [38,41]. Therefore, (1.15) is the sharp differentiable version of (1.11), which is stronger than (1.11), but weaker than assuming that $a(\cdot)$ is Lipschitz. Lipschitz continuity of coefficients is typically assumed in the literature in the nonautonomous case (see for instance [61,66] and related references).

1.2. Nonuniform Ellipticity at Fast Rates and a Different Phenomenon

A prototype we have in mind here is given by (1.12). Looking at the case of polynomial growth in Section 1.1, from (1.15) and (1.16) we see that the required integrability rate of coefficients d increases with the ratio q/p. A naive, but seemingly natural bet, would then assert that the exponential case needs more stringent conditions on the integrability exponent d. On the contrary, the situation reverses, and any d > n implies local Lipschitz continuity.

Theorem 1.4. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.12), such that $\mathfrak{c}_1(\cdot), \mathfrak{c}_2(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ with d > n and f satisfies (1.9). Then $Du \in L^\infty_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$.

The same applies to more general functionals with faster growth, involving arbitrary compositions of exponentials, and therefore even faster growth conditions. Specifically, we fix exponent functions $\{p_k(\cdot)\}$ and coefficients $\{c_k(\cdot)\}$, all defined on the open subset $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, such that

$$\begin{cases} 1 < p_{\mathfrak{m}} \leq p_{0}(\cdot) \leq p_{M}, \quad 0 < p_{m} \leq p_{k}(\cdot) \leq p_{M}, \text{ for } k \geq 1\\ 0 < \nu_{\mathfrak{m}} \leq \mathfrak{c}_{k}(\cdot) \leq L, \quad p_{k}(\cdot), \mathfrak{c}_{k}(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega), \quad d > n, \text{ for } k \geq 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.20)

We then inductively define, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the functions $\mathbf{e}_k \colon \Omega \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{e}_{k+1}(x,t) := \exp\left(\mathbf{c}_{k+1}(x) \left[\mathbf{e}_{k}(x,t)\right]^{p_{k+1}(x)}\right) \\ \mathbf{e}_{0}(x,t) := \exp\left(\mathbf{c}_{0}(x)t^{p_{0}(x)}\right) , \end{cases}$$
(1.21)

and consider the variational integrals

$$w \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \left[\mathbf{e}_k(x, |Dw|) - f \cdot w \right] \, dx \,. \tag{1.22}$$

Functionals as in (1.22) have been studied at length in the literature also because they provide the best case study to test how far one can go in relaxing the standard uniform ellipticity assumptions; see [4,61] and related references. The nonautonomous case is of special interest as the sensitivity to the *x*-dependence is magnified by taking multiple compositions of exponentials; see comments after display (1.12). We have the following result, which, as also in Theorem 1.4, is completely new already in the case $f \equiv 0$:

Theorem 1.5. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.22) for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, under assumptions (1.20) and such that f satisfies (1.9). Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$.

In other words, this fact brings functionals as in (1.12) closer to the realm of uniformly elliptic ones. The next step comes in fact in the subsequent section.

1.3. New Results in the Uniformly Elliptic Setting

New results follow in the classical uniformly elliptic setting too. This time the model is

$$w \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \left[A(x, |Dw|) - f \cdot w \right] dx , \quad A(x, t) := \mathfrak{c}(x) \int_{0}^{t} \tilde{a}(s) s \, ds \quad (1.23)$$

for $t \ge 0$, with (1.4) being in force and such that $0 < \nu \le c(\cdot) \le L$. Under such conditions, every solution to the system in (1.3) is a minimizer of the functional in (1.23) and the second identity in (1.3) is automatically satisfied.

Theorem 1.6. Let $u \in W_{loc}^{1,1}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.23), under assumptions (1.4). If $|f|, |D\mathfrak{c}| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ as defined in (1.9), then $Du \in L_{loc}^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$. Moreover, there exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(n, N, i_a, s_a, \mathfrak{c}(\cdot)) \leq 1$ such that if $\mathcal{B} \Subset \Omega$ is a ball with $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$, then the following estimate holds for $c \equiv c(n, N, v, L, i_a, s_a)$:

$$\|A(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}/2)} \leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} A(\cdot, |Du|) \, dx + c \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\frac{i_{a+2}}{i_{a+1}}} + c \,. \tag{1.24}$$

In other words, f and Dc are this time required to have the same degree of regularity. Theorem 1.6 applies to (1.5) by taking $A(x, t) \equiv c(x)t^p/p$ and it is sufficient to require that $Dc \in L(n, 1)(\Omega)$ for n > 2. This is, already when $f \equiv 0$, a new regularity criterion on coefficients, which goes beyond the known and classical one in (1.7). Indeed, $Dc \in L(n, 1)$ implies that $c(\cdot)$ is continuous [71], but not necessarily with a modulus of continuity $\omega(\cdot)$ satisfying (1.7). Moreover, this criterion works for the general cases as in (1.23), to which methods from [51] do not apply under the only considered structure assumption (1.4). When considered in the special case (1.5), it is $i_a = p - 2$ and estimate (1.24) gives back the classical one valid for the *p*-Laplacean system in (1.5); see for instance [51,52].

1.4. Calderón-Zygmund Theory

In Theorems 1.1-1.6, we can replace (1.9) by the weaker $f \in L^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$, getting, as a corresponding outcome, that $Du \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ for every $p \ge 1$; see Theorem 4.3 below. This result is new in the nonuniformly elliptic case and is in perfect accordance with the Nonlinear Calderón–Zygmund theory known for the uniformly elliptic one [50]. For instance, considering the system in (1.5), $Dc \in L^n$ implies that $c(\cdot) \in VMO$, the space of functions with vanishing mean oscillations [68]. At this point, $Du \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$, for every $p \ge 1$, follows from the standard theory (see [10,35] and references). In fact, we provide the first Calderón–Zygmund type estimates in problems with non-polynomial growth conditions. An example is the following result, which is completely new already in the autonomous case:

Theorem 1.7. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.22) for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, under assumptions (1.20) with n > 2, and such that $f \in L^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$. Then $\mathbf{e}_k(\cdot, |Dw|) \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ for every $p \ge 1$.

1.5. Obstacles

Applications follow to obstacle problems, leading to completely new and sharp results, already in the classical, uniformly elliptic case. For instance, we give the first results for fast growth functionals as in (1.12), and these are new already in the case of smooth obstacles. For this we consider the functional

$$\mathcal{F}_0(w;\Omega) := \int_{\Omega} F(x, Dw) \, dx \tag{1.25}$$

defined on $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, where *F* is for instance one of the integrands considered in Theorems 1.1–1.6; here we of course consider the scalar case N = 1. Next we consider a measurable function $\psi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ and the convex set $\mathcal{K}_{\psi}(\Omega) :=$ $\{w \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega) : w(x) \ge \psi(x) \text{ for a.e. } x \in \Omega\}$. We then say that a function $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega) \cap \mathcal{K}_{\psi}(\Omega)$ is a constrained local minimizer of \mathcal{F}_0 if, for every open subset $\tilde{\Omega} \subseteq \Omega$, we have $\mathcal{F}_0(u; \tilde{\Omega}) < \infty$ and if $\mathcal{F}_0(u; \tilde{\Omega}) \le \mathcal{F}_0(w; \tilde{\Omega})$ holds for every competitor $w \in u + W^{1,1}_0(\tilde{\Omega})$ such that $w \in \mathcal{K}_{\psi}(\tilde{\Omega})$. We then have the following far reaching extension of classical theorems from [16, 17, 42, 47, 59]: **Theorem 1.8.** Let $u \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,1}(\Omega)$ be a constrained local minimizer of \mathcal{F}_0 in (1.25), where $F: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is one of the integrands from Theorems 1.1-1.6 with $p \geq 2, i_a \geq 0$ (whenever such parameters are involved). If $\psi \in W_{\text{loc}}^{2,1}(\Omega)$ and $|D^2\psi| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$, then $Du \in L_{\text{loc}}^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)$.

This last result is new already in the classical *p*-Laplacean case $F(x, z) \equiv |z|^p/p$, for which it offers a criterion which is alternative to those given in [16,17] – see also [45] for double phase type functionals. In such papers Lipschitz estimates are obtained assuming that $D\psi$ is locally Hölder continuous. Here we trade this last condition with $|D^2\psi| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$, that in turn implies the mere continuity of $D\psi$. This is essentially the same phenomenon seen in Theorem 1.6, where the condition $|D\mathbf{c}| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ replaces the Dini-continuity of $\mathbf{c}(\cdot)$. We note that in the constrained versions of Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 we can allow for $p \ge 1$ provided that $\mu > 0$; for this, see Remark 11 below.

1.6. Remarks and Organization of the Paper

Some of the methods here also extend to general scalar functionals, i.e., when minima and competitors are real valued functions. In this case there is no need to assume the radial structure $F(x, Dw) \equiv \tilde{F}(x, |Dw|)$. On the other hand, additional conditions ensuring the absence of the so-called Lavrentiev phenomenon are needed to build suitable approximation arguments, see for instance [31,38]. The radial structure is usually assumed in the vectorial case, otherwise singular minimizers might occur, even when data are smooth [66,72]. Again in the scalar case, we mention the recent, very interesting paper [54], where gradient regularity results are obtained for minimizers of functionals as in (1.25). These results cover functionals with polynomial growth and special structure—the double phase functional is an instance—under Hölder continuity assumptions on coefficients. Anyway, they miss to cover all the classes of integrands described in Sects. 1.1–1.2.

The rest of the paper is organised as follows: after Sects. 2 and 3, containing notations and preliminaries, respectively, in Section 4 we describe in detail the assumptions and the main results of the paper, that is Theorems 4.1-4.4 in Section 4.5. These will imply, directly or with a few additional arguments, Theorems 1.1–1.8 above. We then proceed to Section 5, that contains the necessary approximation tools for the proofs. One word here: this is a delicate point, as the approximations considered must carefully match the shape of the a priori estimates found later, on one side, and reflect the original structure assumptions on the other. The core of the paper is Section 6, where we derive all the main a priori estimates. The proofs here involve a series of ingredients. First, we employ a delicate version of Moser's iteration scheme developed in Proposition 6.2. This is based on a peculiar choice of test maps suited to the structural assumptions considered. It goes via a finite step procedure taking advantage of suitable smallness conditions; by the way, this is sufficient to get the basic L^p -estimates of Theorem 4.3. In turn, this is a preliminary ingredient used to make a nonlinear potential theoretic approach work; this last one is encoded in the abstract iteration Lemma 3.1 below. This approach works in the case n > 2, but breaks down in two dimensions n = 2, where more difficulties appear, as for instance already noted in [4, 19–22]. In this case we take another path, as devised in Section 6.7 below. We use a different interpolation type approach, eventually culminating in the use of Lemma 3.1 again. Section 7 features the proofs of Theorems 4.1 and 4.3, combining the approximation scheme of Section 5 and the estimates in Section 6. Section 8 contains the results and the proofs for the uniformly elliptic case, i.e., the proof of Theorem 4.2; additional a priori estimates are included here. In Section 10 we demonstrate the derivation of Theorems 1.1-1.7. These are all direct corollaries of the main results, but Theorem 1.3. This in fact requires some additional arguments to reach the equality borderline case in the first bound from (1.19), thereby reconnecting Theorem 1.3 to the known literature [2,24,25] in the case $f \equiv 0$; the details can be found in Section 10.2. Section 11 contains applications to obstacle problems and the proof of Theorem 1.8. Finally, Section 12 features some auxiliary technical facts aimed at making certain computations in Sects. 6 and 8 legal.

2. Basic Notation

In what follows, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ denotes an open domain, and $n \geq 2$ and there is no loss of generality, in assuming that Ω is also bounded, as all our results are local in nature. We denote by c a general constant larger than 1. Different occurrences from line to line will be still denoted by c. Special occurrences will be denoted by c_* , \tilde{c} or likewise. Relevant dependencies on parameters will be as usual emphasized by putting the corresponding parameters in parentheses. We denote by $B_r(x_0) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - x_0| < r\}$ the open ball with center x_0 and radius r > 0; we omit denoting the center when it is not necessary, i.e., $B \equiv B_r \equiv B_r(x_0)$; this especially happens when various balls in the same context will share the same center. Given a ball B, we denote by r(B) its radius; with γ being a positive number, we denote by γB the ball concentric to B, with radius $\gamma r(B)$, and set $B/\gamma \equiv (1/\gamma)B$. In denoting several function spaces like $L^p(\Omega), W^{1,p}(\Omega)$, we shall denote the vector valued version by $L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^k), W^{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^k)$ in the case the maps considered take values in \mathbb{R}^k , $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We shall often abbreviate $L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^k) \equiv$ $L^{p}(\Omega), W^{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{k}) \equiv W^{1,p}(\Omega)$. We denote $\{e^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{N}$ and $\{e_{i}\}_{i=1}^{n}$ standard bases for \mathbb{R}^{N} and \mathbb{R}^{n} , respectively; we shall always assume $n \geq 2$ and $N \geq 1$. The general second-order tensor of size (N, n) as $\zeta = \zeta_i^{\alpha} e^{\alpha} \otimes e_i$ is identified with an element of $\mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$. The Frobenius product of second-order tensors z and ξ is defined as $z \cdot \xi = z_i^{\alpha} \xi_i^{\alpha}$ so that $\xi \cdot \xi = |\xi|^2$, and this is the norm we use here for tensors, vectors, matrixes; needless to say, we are using Einstein's convention on repeated indexes. For instance, if $v, u \in \mathbb{R}^k$, then $v \cdot u = v_i u_i$. The gradient of a map $u = u^{\alpha} e^{\alpha}$ is thus defined as $Du = \partial_{x_i} u^{\alpha} e^{\alpha} \otimes e_i \equiv D_i u^{\alpha} e^{\alpha} \otimes e_i$, and the divergence of a tensor $\zeta = \zeta_i^{\alpha} e^{\alpha} \otimes e_i$ as div $\zeta = \partial_{x_i} \zeta_i^{\alpha} e^{\alpha}$. When dealing with the integrands of the type $F: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \to [0, \infty)$, as the one considered in (1.1), second differential of $\partial_{zz} F(\cdot, z)$ is interpreted as $\partial_{zz} F(\cdot, z) = \partial_{z_i^{\beta} z_i^{\alpha}} F(\cdot, z) (e^{\alpha} \otimes e_i) \otimes (e^{\beta} \otimes e_j)$, whenever $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$. For the rest of the paper we shall keep the following notation:

$$E(t) := \sqrt{t^2 + \mu^2}, \qquad E_{\varepsilon}(t) := \sqrt{t^2 + (\mu + \varepsilon)^2}$$
 (2.1)

for $t > 0, \mu \in [0, 1], \varepsilon > 0$. With $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ being a measurable subset with bounded positive measure $0 < |\mathcal{B}| < \infty$, and with $g \colon \mathcal{B} \to \mathbb{R}^k, k \ge 1$, being a measurable map, we denote

$$(g)_{\mathcal{B}} \equiv \int_{\mathcal{B}} g(x) \, dx := \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \int_{\mathcal{B}} g(x) \, dx$$

Finally, in what follows we denote

$$2^* := \begin{cases} \frac{2n}{n-2} & \text{if } n > 2\\ \text{any number larger than } 2 & \text{if } n = 2. \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

The actual value of 2^* when n = 2 will be clear from the context.

3. Potentials, Functions Spaces, Iteration Lemmas

With $g \in L^2(B_r(x_0); \mathbb{R}^k)$ and $B_r(x_0) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ being any ball, $n \ge 2$, we consider the following nonlinear potential, that will play a crucial role in this paper:

$$\mathbf{P}_1^g(x_0,r) := \int_0^r \left(\varrho^2 \oint_{B_\varrho(x_0)} |g|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \frac{d\varrho}{\varrho}$$

This quantity naturally relates to the standard, truncated Riesz potential in the sense that

$$\int_{B_r(x_0)} \frac{|g(x)|}{|x-x_0|^{n-1}} \, dx \lesssim \mathbf{P}_1^g(x_0, 2r) \, .$$

As a matter of fact, \mathbf{P}_1^g can be used as an effective replacement of the original Riesz potential when dealing with nonlinear problems. Actually, its mapping properties coincide with those of the classical Riesz potentials on those function spaces that are in a sense smaller than L^2 . We refer to [50,65] for more information on such nonlinear potentials and for recent results on Nonlinear Potential Theory in the setting of this paper. The space $\mathfrak{X}(\cdot)$ in (1.9) plays a special role to ensure the local boundedness of \mathbf{P}_1 . Indeed, given concentric balls $B_R \subset B_{R+r} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with r > 0 and $R + r \leq 2$, and $g \in L^2(B_{R+r}; \mathbb{R}^k)$, the following inequalities hold:

$$\begin{cases} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{1}^{g}(\cdot, r) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{R})} \leq c(n) \|g\|_{L(n,1)(B_{R+r})} \quad n > 2 \\ \left\| \mathbf{P}_{1}^{g}(\cdot, r) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{R})} \leq c(\mathfrak{a}) \|g\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{R+r})} \quad n = 2. \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

Here, in the last of the two inequalities, it is $c(\mathfrak{a}) \to \infty$ when $\mathfrak{a} \searrow 2$. For this we refer to [4,50]. Note that in the right-hand side of $(3.1)_2$ we find the Luxemburg norm of the Orlicz space $L^2(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}$ in (1.8), which is defined as

$$\|g\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{R+r})} := \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \int_{B_{R+r}} \left(\frac{|g|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}} \right) \log^{\mathfrak{a}} \left(e + \frac{|g|}{\lambda} \right) dx \leq 1 \right\}.$$

The two following inequalities are well-known and hold for any $\tau > 0$:

$$\begin{cases} \|g\|_{L(n,1)(B_{R+r})} \leq c(n,\tau) \|g\|_{L^{n+\tau}(B_{R+r})} \\ \|g\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{R+r})} \leq c(\mathfrak{a},\tau) \|g\|_{L^{2+\tau}(B_{R+r})} . \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Recalling the standard notation $(v - \kappa)_+ := \max\{v - \kappa, 0\}$, we select the following result from [4, Lemma 3.1], that incorporates the basic elements of De Giorgi's iteration, as used in Nonlinear Potential Theory since the basic work of Kilpeläinen and Malý [46]:

Lemma 3.1. Let $B_{r_0}(x_0) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $n \geq 2$, $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$ and $v \in W^{1,2}(B_{r_0}(x_0))$ be non-negative and $f_1, f_2 \in L^2(B_{2r_0}(x_0))$. Assume that there exist positive constants $\tilde{c}, M_1, M_2, M_3 \geq 1$ and a number $\kappa_0 \geq 0$ such that for all $\kappa \geq \kappa_0$ and every ball $B_r(x_0) \subset B_{r_0}(x_0)$ the inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{B_{r/2}(x_0)} |D(v-\kappa)_+|^2 \, dx &\leq \frac{\tilde{c}M_1^2}{r^2} \int_{B_r(x_0)} (v-\kappa)_+^2 \, dx \\ &+ \tilde{c}M_2^2 \int_{B_r(x_0)} |f_1|^2 \, dx + \tilde{c}M_3^2 \int_{B_r(x_0)} |f_2|^2 \, dx \end{aligned} \tag{3.3}$$

holds. If x_0 is a Lebesgue point for v, then

$$v(x_{0}) \leq \kappa_{0} + cM_{1}^{1+\max\left\{\delta,\frac{n-2}{2}\right\}} \left(\int_{B_{r_{0}}(x_{0})} (v - \kappa_{0})_{+}^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} + cM_{1}^{\max\left\{\delta,\frac{n-2}{2}\right\}} \left[M_{2}\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f_{1}}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) + M_{3}\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f_{2}}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) \right]$$
(3.4)

holds too, with $c \equiv c(n, \tilde{c}, \delta)$.

We conclude with another, more classical iteration lemma (see references of [4]).

Lemma 3.2. Let $\mathcal{Z}: [\varrho, \xi] \to [0, \infty)$ be a bounded function. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, $a_1, a_2, \mathfrak{b} \ge 0$ be numbers. If

$$\mathcal{Z}(\tau_1) \le \varepsilon \mathcal{Z}(\tau_2) + \frac{a_1}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)^{\mathfrak{b}}} + a_2$$

holds whenever $\xi \leq \tau_1 < \tau_2 \leq \varrho$ *, then*

$$\mathcal{Z}(\varrho) \le \frac{ca_1}{(\varrho - \xi)^{\mathfrak{b}}} + ca_2$$

holds too, with $c \equiv c(\varepsilon, \mathfrak{b})$ *.*

4. Assumptions and General Results

In this section we are going to describe a number of conditions on the integrand F in (1.1) implying our main results, that is Theorems 4.1–4.4 in Section 4.5 below; in turn, these will imply Theorems 1.1–1.8 from the Introduction.

4.1. Basic Structural Assumptions, and Consequences

We assume that F has radial structure, i.e., there exists $\tilde{F} : \Omega \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$

$$\begin{cases} F(x,z) = \tilde{F}(x,|z|) \text{ for all } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \\ t \mapsto \tilde{F}(x,t) \in C^{1}_{\text{loc}}[0,\infty) \cap C^{2}_{\text{loc}}(0,\infty) & \text{ for all } x \in \Omega \\ x \mapsto \tilde{F}'(x,t) \in W^{1,n}(\Omega) & \text{ for every } t > 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

We assume in general that \tilde{F} , \tilde{F}' are continuous on $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$, while $\tilde{F}'', \partial_x \tilde{F}'$ are instead Carathéodory regular on the same set. Of course we also assume that $\sup_{\Omega \times K} \partial_{zz} F$ is finite for every compact subset $K \subset \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \setminus \{0_{\mathbb{R}^{N \times n}}\}$. Now we describe the minimal and standard assumptions qualifying the functional in (1.1) as elliptic. For this, we use three locally bounded functions $g_i : \Omega \times (0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$, for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, in the sense that $\sup_{\Omega \times K} g_i$ is finite, for every compact subset $K \subset (0, \infty)$. The first two g_1, g_2 are continuous and serve to bound the lowest and the largest eigenvalues of $\partial_{zz} F$, respectively. The third one g_3 is Carathéodory regular and controls the growth of derivatives with respect to x. Specifically, we assume that there exists T > 0 such that

$$\begin{cases} z \mapsto F(x, z) & \text{is convex for all } x \in \Omega \\ |\partial_{zz}F(x, z)| \le g_2(x, |z|) & \text{for all } x \in \Omega \text{ on } \{|z| \ge T\} \\ g_1(x, |z|)|\xi|^2 \le \partial_{zz}F(x, z)\xi \cdot \xi & \text{on } \{|z| \ge T\} \text{ and for all } x \in \Omega \\ |\partial_x \tilde{F}'(x, t)| \le h(x)g_3(x, t) & \text{for a.e. } x \in \Omega \text{ and every } t > 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2)$$

where (4.2)₃ holds for every $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$, $h(\cdot) \in L^n(\Omega)$ and we assume also that

$$\inf_{x \in \Omega} g_1(x, T) > 0. \tag{4.3}$$

Using as in (1.3) the notation $\tilde{a}(x, t) := \tilde{F}'(x, t)/t$, defined for $(x, t) \in \Omega \times (0, \infty)$, we assume that for fixed numbers $\gamma > 1$, $\mu \in [0, 1]$, and for every $x \in \Omega$, the minimal γ -superlinear growth of the lowest eigenvalue of $\partial_{zz}F(x, \cdot)$, that is,

$$t \mapsto \frac{\ddot{a}(x,t)}{(t^2+\mu^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}$$
 and $t \mapsto \frac{g_1(x,t)}{(t^2+\mu^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}$ are non-decreasing on $(0,\infty)(4.4)$

Note that the global convexity of $F(\cdot)$ in (4.2)₁ implies, arguing as in (4.9)–(4.11) below, that $\tilde{a}(\cdot) \ge 0$, that is, $t \mapsto \tilde{F}(x, t)$ is non-decreasing on $[0, \infty)$, for every $x \in \Omega$.

Remark 1. When considering partial derivatives of F and g_1 in the x-variable, as well as the function g_3 , properties will be given a.e. with respect to x in the Carathéodory sense. For instance, $(4.2)_4$ means there exists a negligible set $N \subset \Omega$ such that $(4.2)_4$ holds for every t > 0, whenever $x \in \Omega \setminus N$. The same will apply later when considering for instance (4.16)–(4.17) and (5.13).

Remark 2. In most of the relevant models it turns out to be $\tilde{a}(\cdot) \equiv g_1(\cdot)$, and this justifies the double assumption in (4.4). Assumptions in (4.2) are bound to quantify ellipticity of $\partial_{zz} F(\cdot, z)$ only outside the ball $\{|z| < T\}$ (recall we are assuming $\nu > 0$), and this allows to cover functionals loosing their ellipticity properties on a bounded set of $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$. This condition not only adds more generality, but helps simplifying the treatment in the case of nonuniformly elliptic problems. We could do the same also with respect to $\partial_x \tilde{F}'$ in (4.2)₄, but we prefer not, as this would only add technical difficulties, while not covering more examples.

Let us derive a few consequences of (4.1)–(4.4). First, for every $x \in \Omega$ it holds that

$$0 < s \leq t \Longrightarrow \begin{cases} g_1(x,s)s \leq g_1(x,t)t\\ a(x,s)s \leq a(x,t)t \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5)$$

Indeed, as $t \mapsto (t^2 + \mu^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} t$ is non-decreasing, we have

$$g_{1}(x,s)s = \frac{g_{1}(x,s)}{(s^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}(s^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}s$$

$$\stackrel{(4.4)}{\leq} \frac{g_{1}(x,t)}{(t^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}(t^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}t = g_{1}(x,t)t.$$

The same argument works for $t \mapsto a(\cdot, t)t$. Moreover, again from (4.4), it readily follows that

$$\begin{cases} \nu(t^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} \leq g_{1}(x, t) \text{ for } t \geq T \\ 0 \stackrel{(4.3)}{<} \nu := \min\left\{\frac{\inf_{x \in \Omega} g_{1}(x, T)}{(T^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}, 1\right\} \leq 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.6)$$

From the very definition of $\tilde{a}(\cdot)$, for $(x, t) \in \Omega \times (0, \infty)$ we have

$$F(x,z) - F(x,0_{\mathbb{R}^{N\times n}}) = \tilde{F}(x,|z|) - \tilde{F}(x,0) = \int_0^{|z|} \tilde{a}(x,s)s \, ds \qquad (4.7)$$

and therefore $\partial_{xz} F(x, |z|) = \partial_x \tilde{a}(x, |z|) \otimes z = [\partial_x \tilde{F}'(x, |z|)/|z|] \otimes z$ holds for $|z| \neq 0$. It follows that (4.1)₃ and (4.2)₄ imply that $x \mapsto \partial_z F(x, z) \in W^{1,n}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ such that $|z| \neq 0$, and

$$|\partial_{xz}F(x,z)|, |\partial_x\tilde{a}(x,|z|)||z| \le h(x)g_3(x,|z|) \text{ on } \{|z|>0\}, \text{ a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$
 (4.8)

Again from the second-last display it follows that

$$\partial_{zz} F(x, z) = \partial_{z} [\tilde{a}(x, |z|)z] = \tilde{a}(x, |z|) \mathbb{I}_{N \times n} + \tilde{a}'(x, |z|)|z| \frac{z \otimes z}{|z|^{2}}$$
(4.9)

holds for $|z| \neq 0$, so that, using (4.2)_{2,3} with $\xi = z$ and $\xi \perp z$ in (4.9), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \tilde{a}(x,|z|) + \tilde{a}'(x,|z|)|z| &\geq g_1(x,|z|) \\ \tilde{a}(x,|z|) &\geq g_1(x,|z|) \end{aligned} \quad \text{for } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \left\{ |z| \geq T \right\} \quad (4.10) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\tilde{a}(x,|z|) + \tilde{a}'(x,|z|)|z| \leq g_2(x,|z|) \quad \text{for } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \geq T\}. \quad (4.11)$$

In particular, it follows that

$$\begin{cases} 0 < g_1(\cdot, t) \leq g_2(\cdot, t) & \text{for } t \geq T \\ \tilde{a}(\cdot, t) \leq c(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(\gamma - 2)/2} & \text{for } 0 < t \leq T. \end{cases}$$
(4.12)

The first inequality in (4.12) is a consequence of (4.6). In (4.12)₂, as a constant c we can take $c = \|\tilde{a}(\cdot, T)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}(T^2 + \mu^2)^{(2-\gamma)/2} \leq \|g_2(\cdot, T)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}(T^2 + \mu^2)^{(2-\gamma)/2}$. This follows from (4.4) and again from (4.11).

4.2. The Energy Functions

These are two functions bound to quantify the minimal energy controlled by the functional in (1.1); they will play a crucial role in the rest of the paper. For every $(x, t) \in \Omega \times (0, \infty)$, we set

$$\begin{cases} G(x,t) := \int_{T}^{\max\{t,T\}} g_1(x,s)s \, ds \\ \bar{G}(x,t) := G(x,t) + (T^2 + 1)^{\gamma/2} \,. \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

4.3. Quantifying Nonuniform Ellipticity

Here we quantify ellipticity and growth of *F* in the nonuniformly elliptic case. For this, we consider numbers $d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma} \ge 0$ such that

$$h(\cdot) \in L^d(\Omega), \quad d > n$$
 (4.14)

and

$$\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < \begin{cases} \min\left\{\frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{d}, \frac{4}{\vartheta(n-2)}\left(1 - \frac{1}{\gamma}\right)\right\} \text{ if } n > 2\\ \min\left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{d}, \frac{2}{\vartheta}\left(1 - \frac{1}{\gamma}\right)\right\} \text{ if } n = 2. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.15)$$

Here it is $\vartheta \equiv \vartheta(\gamma) = 1$ when $\gamma \ge 2$, and $\vartheta = 2$ otherwise. We assume that $x \mapsto g_1(x, t) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ for all $t \ge T$ and that $\partial_x g_1(\cdot)$ is Carathéodory regular on $\Omega \times [T, \infty)$. Then, for a fixed constant $c_b \ge 1$, we consider the assumptions

$$\frac{[g_3(x,t)]^2}{g_1(x,t)} \leq c_b [\bar{G}(x,t)]^{1+2\sigma}, \qquad (4.17)$$

$$\frac{g_2(x,t)}{g_1(x,t)} \le c_b [\bar{G}(x,t)]^{\sigma}$$
(4.18)

for every $t \ge T$, every $x \in \Omega$ in the case of (4.18), and for a.e. $x \in \Omega$ in the case of (4.16)–(4.17). Comments on the meaning of (4.16)–(4.18) can be found in Section 4.6, below.

4.4. The Uniformly Elliptic Case

Here we instead describe conditions relevant to the uniformly elliptic case, and therefore to models as in (1.23). Such conditions are a slightly more general version of those considered in [19,20,58], that are classical. We retain the structure conditions (4.1)–(4.4) from Section 4.1 but, instead of using (4.14)–(4.18) from Section 4.3, for a fixed constant $c_u \ge 1$, this time we consider

$$\begin{cases} t > 0 \Longrightarrow g_i(x, t) \equiv g_i(t), \quad i \in \{1, 2, 3\} \\ T \leq t \Longrightarrow g_2(t) \leq c_u g_1(t) \\ T \leq t \Longrightarrow g_1(t) t \leq g_3(t) \leq c_u g_1(t) t . \end{cases}$$
(4.19)

4.5. General Results

In what follows, we abbreviate the assumptions considered as

$$\begin{cases} \text{set} := \{(4.1) - (4.4), (4.14) - (4.18)\} \\ \text{set}_u := \{(4.1) - (4.4), (4.19)\} \end{cases}$$
(4.20)

and these are going to be used in the nonuniformly elliptic setting, and in the uniformly elliptic one, respectively. Accordingly, we also gather the parameters influencing the constants in the a priori estimates as

$$\begin{cases} data := (n, N, \nu, \gamma, T, c_{b}, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}, \mathfrak{a}) \\ data_{u} := (n, N, \nu, \gamma, T, c_{u}, g_{1}(1), \mathfrak{a}). \end{cases}$$
(4.21)

The presence of a only occurs in the two-dimensional case n = 2.

Theorem 4.1. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of \mathcal{F} in (1.1), under assumptions set in (4.20), with $f \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ as defined in (1.9). Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$. Moreover, there exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}, f(\cdot)) \leq 1$ such that if $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ is a ball with $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$, then

$$\|G(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + 1 \right]$$
(4.22)

holds for every $s \in (0, 1)$, where $c \equiv c(data, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}) \ge 1, \beta, \theta \equiv \beta, \theta(n, \gamma, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) > 0.$

Remark 3. When either $\gamma \ge 2$ or $f \equiv 0$, in Theorem 4.1 we can replace the upper bound on $\sigma + \hat{\sigma}$ in (4.15) by the less restrictive $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$. See Remark 9 below.

The main Lipschitz regularity result in the uniformly elliptic case is in

Theorem 4.2. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of \mathcal{F} in (1.1), under assumptions $s \in t_u$ in (4.20), and with $f, h \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ as defined in (1.9). Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$. Moreover, there exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(data_u, h(\cdot)) \leq 1$ such that if $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ is a ball with $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$, then

$$\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{n} [r(\mathcal{B})]^{n}} \|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})} + c \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)} + c$$
(4.23)

holds for every $s \in (0, 1)$, where $c \equiv c(data_u)$.

In deriving Theorem 4.1 we need to prove higher integrability bounds for the gradient, that are worth being singled out in the following:

Theorem 4.3. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of \mathcal{F} in (1.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) with n > 2, and with $f \in L^n(\Omega)$. Then $Du \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ for every $p \in [1, \infty)$. Moreover, for every $p \in [1, \infty)$ there exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}, f(\cdot), p) \leq 1$ such that, if $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ is a ball with $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$, then

$$\|G(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta_{p}}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right]$$
(4.24)

holds for every $s \in (0, 1)$, where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}, p)$, $\theta_{p}, \beta_{p} \equiv \theta_{p}, \beta_{p}(n, \gamma, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}, p)$.

Remark 4. In order to prove Theorem 4.3 the full strength of (4.15) is not actually needed. Assuming $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$ suffices.

Remark 5. In Theorems 4.1-4.3, as well as in the other estimates in this paper, the constants depending on data and data_u blow-up when $T \to \infty$ (complete loss of ellipticity). On the contrary, they remain bounded when $T \to 0$ (full recovery of ellipticity), as long as the quantity $v \equiv v(T)$ in (4.6) stays bounded away from zero. This is for instance the case in Theorems 1.1–1.5; see Section 10 below. As a matter of fact, there is an additional dependence of the constants on the specific operator considered. Indeed, the dependence on T typically shows up via quantities controlled by $\|\tilde{a}(\cdot, T)\|_{L^{\infty}}(T^2 + \mu^2) + T^{\gamma}$; this can be in turn controlled as $\leq \|\tilde{a}(\cdot, 1)\|_{L^{\infty}}(T^{\gamma} + \mu^{\gamma})$ for $T \leq 1$ via (4.4). All in all, the dependence of the constants on the specific operator (i.e., $\partial_x F$) appears only through v defined in (4.6), and $\|\tilde{a}(\cdot, 1)\|_{L^{\infty}}$ when T approaches zero. See also the appearance of $g_1(1)$ in data_u in the uniformly elliptic case.

Finally, we give another general result concerning an intermediate form of nonuniform ellipticity. This for instance applies to the case of functionals with special structure as the double phase one in (1.10). More comments on this will follow in Section 4.6 below.

Theorem 4.4. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of \mathcal{F} in (1.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) with $\sigma = \hat{\sigma}$ in (4.16)-(4.17) and f as in (1.9). Moreover, replace (4.15) and (4.18) by

$$\hat{\sigma} < \begin{cases} 1/n - 1/d & \text{if } n > 2\\ \min\{1/2 - 1/d, \gamma - 1\} & \text{if } n = 2 \end{cases} \quad and \quad \frac{g_2(x, t)}{g_1(x, t)} \le c_b \,, \qquad (4.25) \end{cases}$$

respectively. Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ and (4.22) holds.

Remark 6. Replacing the integrand F in (1.1) with the new one $F_0(x, z) := F(x, z) - \tilde{F}(x, 0)$, does not change the set of minimizers of \mathcal{F} , and gets another functional still satisfying the conditions of Theorems 4.1–4.4. Moreover, as $\tilde{F}(x, 0) \ge 0$, once the estimates in (4.22)–(4.24) are proved in the case $F_0(x, z)$ is considered, then they also hold in the original case. Therefore for the rest of the paper we can always assume that $\tilde{F}(x, 0) = 0$ and by (4.7) it follows that

$$\tilde{F}(x,t) = \int_0^t \tilde{a}(x,s)s \, ds \quad \text{for } (x,t) \in \Omega \times (0,\infty) \,. \tag{4.26}$$

Such a replacement makes sense provided $\tilde{F}(x, 0) \in L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega)$, but this is always the case in our situation. Specifically, this is true as soon as the functional \mathcal{F} in (1.1) admits a minimizer u, which is therefore such that $\tilde{F}(\cdot, |Du|) \in L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega)$. This implies that $0 \leq \tilde{F}(x, 0) \leq \tilde{F}(x, |Du(x)|)$ (recall that $t \mapsto \tilde{F}(x, t)$ is nondecreasing), so that $\tilde{F}(\cdot, 0) \in L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega)$.

4.6. Different Notions of Nonuniform Ellipticity

What do we call nonuniform ellipticity of the integrand F here? To provide a measure, in the autonomous case $F(x, z) \equiv F(z)$, it is rather standard to use the ellipticity ratio

$$\mathcal{R}_F(z) := \frac{\text{highest eigenvalue of } \partial_{zz} F(z)}{\text{lowest eigenvalue of } \partial_{zz} F(z)}.$$
(4.27)

The occurrence of nonuniform ellipticity then refers to the fact that $\Re_F(z) \to \infty$ as $|z| \to \infty$; accordingly, the uniformly elliptic case occurs when $\Re_F(\cdot) \approx 1$. In the nonautonomous case this leads to define the same pointwise quantity $\Re_F(x, z)$, by taking into account the *x*-dependence in the right-hand side of (4.27). In this paper we have considered assumptions aimed at bounding $\Re_F(x, z)$ pointwise, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{R}_F(x,z) \lesssim \frac{g_2(x,|z|)}{g_1(x,|z|)} \stackrel{(4.18)}{\lesssim} \left(\int_T^{|z|} g_1(x,s) s \, ds \right)^{\sigma} + 1. \tag{4.28}$$

On the other hand, the ratio $\Re_F(x, z)$ misses to properly encode full information in the nonautonomous one. This leads to consider the nonlocal quantity

$$\Re_F(z, B) := \frac{\sup_{x \in B} \text{ highest eigenvalue of } \partial_{zz} F(x, z)}{\inf_{x \in B} \text{ lowest eigenvalue of } \partial_{zz} F(x, z)},$$
(4.29)

with $B \subset \Omega$ being any ball. The new ratio $\Re_F(z, B)$ naturally occurs in integral estimates and, in fact, turns out to be the right quantity to describe intermediate notions of nonuniform ellipticity in the nonautonomous case. Obviously, from the definitions it follows that $\sup_{x \in B} \Re_F(x, z) \leq \Re_F(z, B)$, with equality in the autonomous case.

Remark 7. (Double face of the double phase functional (1.10)) To further motivate (4.29), recall that for general uniformly elliptic problems one typically recovers classical theories as Schauder's [58] and Calderón-Zygmund's [13]. This is in general not the case for the double phase integral in (1.10), due to the counterexamples in [38,41]. Nevertheless the integrand $H(\cdot)$ turns out to be uniformly elliptic when using the quantity in (4.27) as test, in the sense that $\Re_H(\cdot) \approx 1$. On the other hand, when considering a ball B such that $B \cap \{a(x) = 0\} \neq 0$, we have that $\Re_H(z, B) \approx |B|^{1/n-1/d} |z|^{q-p} + 1$, therefore $\Re_H(z, B) \to \infty$ when $|z| \to \infty$. In such sense, the use of quantity in (4.29) resolves the above ambiguity. In this case, the assumptions (1.19) provide a way to correct the growth of $\Re_H(z, B)$ with respect to |z| with the smallness of |B|, as pointed out in the Introduction.

In this paper we consider different assumptions, playing with the parameters σ , $\hat{\sigma}$ in (4.16)–(4.18), in order to tune different degrees of nonuniform ellipticity, involving both $\mathcal{R}_F(\cdot)$ and $\mathfrak{R}_F(\cdot)$. In Theorems 4.1–4.2, we prescribe a direct pointwise bound on $\mathcal{R}_F(\cdot)$ as in (4.28), and then control the behaviour with respect to x of the derivatives of F via (4.16)–(4.17). This has the overall effect of providing an indirect control on $\mathfrak{R}_F(\cdot)$ too. In Theorem 4.4, we bound $\mathcal{R}_F(\cdot) \lesssim 1$, that is, uniform ellipticity is assumed in the pointwise sense, still allowing for nonuniform ellipticity in the nonlocal sense of (4.29). This leads, for instance, to obtaining better bounds, and opens the way to Theorem 1.3, dealing with the intermediate case of double phase functionals in the sense of Remark 7.

5. Approximation of Integrands

Here we implement a truncation scheme aimed at approximating the original integrand F in (1.1) with a family $\{F_{\varepsilon}\}$ of integrands with standard polynomial growth, and converging to F locally uniformly. The new integrands preserve structure properties as (4.1)–(4.2), with corresponding control functions $g_{i,\varepsilon}$, still satisfying relations as those of the original ones. For this we will exploit a few arguments used in [4] as a starting point. In this section we shall permanently assume that (4.1)–(4.4) are in force, so that their consequences (4.5)–(4.12) can be used as well. Additional assumptions such as (4.16)–(4.18) shall also be considered; when they are, this will be explicitly mentioned. In that which follows we use a parameter ε that will always be such that $0 < \varepsilon < \min\{1, T\}/4$ and use that $\tilde{F}(x, 0) \equiv 0$.

5.1. General Setup

Given T and μ in (4.2) and (4.4), respectively, we introduce the numbers

$$\mu_{\varepsilon} := \mu + \varepsilon, \quad T_{\varepsilon} := T + 1/\varepsilon.$$
 (5.1)

With $\tilde{a}: \Omega \times (0, \infty) \mapsto [0, \infty)$ that has been defined in (1.3) as

$$\tilde{a}(x,t) := \frac{\tilde{F}'(x,t)}{t}$$
(5.2)

for t > 0, which is continuous on $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$, we start introducing the functions $\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon} \colon \Omega \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ as

$$\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \begin{cases} \frac{\tilde{a}(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^{2}+\mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^{2}+\mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [0,\varepsilon) \\ \tilde{a}(x,t) & \text{if } t \in [\varepsilon,T_{\varepsilon}) \\ \frac{\tilde{a}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2}+\mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^{2}+\mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [T_{\varepsilon},\infty) , \end{cases}$$

$$(5.3)$$

for every $x \in \Omega$, where γ also appears in (4.4); accordingly, we define

$$\begin{cases} F_{\varepsilon}(x,z) := \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|), \text{ for } \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \int_{0}^{t} \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s)s \, ds + \varepsilon L_{\gamma,\varepsilon}(t) \\ L_{\gamma,\varepsilon}(t) := \frac{1}{\gamma} \left[(t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\gamma/2} - \mu_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} \right] = \int_{0}^{t} (s^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds \,, \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

and, finally,

$$\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) + \varepsilon(t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} \Longrightarrow a_{\varepsilon}(x,z) := \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|)z = \partial_z F_{\varepsilon}(x,z).$$
(5.5)

Note that \tilde{a}_{ε} is continuous on $\Omega \times [0, \infty)$ and $\partial_x \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}$ is Carathéodory regular; $(x, t) \mapsto \tilde{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, t)$ is instead Borel regular. In view of (4.1) and (4.26), it follows that

$$t \mapsto \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \in C^{1}_{\text{loc}}[0,\infty) \cap C^{2}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty) \setminus \{\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}) \text{ for all } x \in \Omega$$

$$x \mapsto \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}'(x,t) \in W^{1,n}(\Omega) \text{ for all } t \in [0,\infty)$$

$$t \mapsto \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \in \text{Lip}_{\text{loc}}[0,\infty) \cap C^{1}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty) \setminus \{\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}) \text{ for all } x \in \Omega$$

$$t \mapsto \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \text{ is strictly convex and non-decreasing for all } x \in \Omega$$

$$F_{\varepsilon} \text{ is continuous on } \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \text{ and } \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,0) = 0$$

$$F_{\varepsilon} \to F \text{ uniformly on } \Omega \times \mathcal{K} \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0, \forall \text{ compact } \mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$$

$$\partial_{x} \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon} \text{ is Carathéodory-regular on } \Omega \times [0,\infty).$$
(5.6)

For (5.6)₄, see (5.17) below. For the proof of (5.6)₅, recall that \tilde{F}' is continuous on $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$. For details about (5.6)₆, see also Lemma 5.4 below. For (5.6)₇ use that $\partial_x \tilde{F}'$ is Carathéodory.

Definitions (5.1)–(5.3) lead to introduce new control functions $g_{i,\varepsilon} \colon \Omega \times [0,\infty) \to (0,\infty), i \in \{1,2,3\}$ as

$$g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t) := \mathfrak{g}_1 \begin{cases} \frac{g_1(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [0,\varepsilon) \\ g_1(x,t) & \text{if } t \in [\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}) \\ \frac{g_1(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [T_{\varepsilon},\infty) , \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

$$g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t) := \mathfrak{g}_{2} \left\{ \begin{aligned} \left[\frac{g_{2}(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} + \varepsilon \right] (t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [0,\varepsilon) \\ g_{2}(x,t) + \varepsilon (t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}) \\ \left[\frac{g_{2}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} + \varepsilon \right] (t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [T_{\varepsilon},\infty) , \end{aligned} \right.$$

$$g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,t) := \left\{ \begin{aligned} \frac{g_{3}(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} t & \text{if } t \in [0,\varepsilon) \\ g_{3}(x,t) & \text{if } t \in [\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}) \\ \frac{g_{3}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} T_{\varepsilon}} (t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} t & \text{if } t \in [T_{\varepsilon},\infty) , \end{aligned} \right.$$

$$(5.9)$$

where the constants \mathfrak{g}_1 and \mathfrak{g}_2 are defined by

$$g_1 := \min\{1, \gamma - 1\} \le 1 \le g_2 := 20(Nn + \gamma).$$
 (5.10)

Observe that $g_{1,\varepsilon}$, $g_{2,\varepsilon}$ are still continuous and $g_{3,\varepsilon}$ is still Carathéodory regular. We next introduce also the truncated counterparts of the functions defined in (4.13), i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} G_{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \int_{T}^{\max\{t,T\}} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s)s \, ds \\ \bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) := G_{\varepsilon}(x,t) + (T^2+1)^{\gamma/2} \,. \end{cases}$$
(5.11)

In what follows, recalling (5.1), we shall repeatedly use

$$1 \leq \frac{s^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2}{s^2 + \mu^2} \leq 3, \text{ provided } s \geq \varepsilon,$$
(5.12)

and assert that this is a decreasing of s.

5.2. Four Technical Lemmas

Lemma 5.1. Under assumptions (4.1)-(4.4) we have that

– There exist constants $\{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}\}$ and $\{L_{\varepsilon}\}$ such that the following properties hold:

$$\begin{cases} |\partial_{zz}F_{\varepsilon}(x,z)| \leq g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,|z|) & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \left\{ |z| \geq T , |z| \neq T_{\varepsilon} \right\} \\ g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|z|)|\xi|^{2} \leq \partial_{zz}F_{\varepsilon}(x,z)\xi \cdot \xi & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \left\{ |z| \geq T , |z| \neq T_{\varepsilon} \right\} \\ |\partial_{xz}F_{\varepsilon}(x,z)| \leq h(x)g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,|z|) & \text{for a.e. } x \in \Omega \text{ and every } z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \\ |\partial_{x}\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|)||z| \leq h(x)g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,|z|) & \text{for a.e. } x \in \Omega \text{ and every } z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \end{cases}$$

$$(5.13)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{zz} F_{\varepsilon}(x,z)| &\leq \Lambda_{\varepsilon} (|z|^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \neq \varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon} \} \\ \varepsilon \mathfrak{g}_{1} (|z|^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} |\xi|^{2} &\leq \partial_{zz} F_{\varepsilon}(x,z) \xi \cdot \xi & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \neq \varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon} \} \\ |\partial_{xz} F_{\varepsilon}(x,z)| &\leq L_{\varepsilon} h(x) (|z|^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} |z| & \text{for a.e. } x \in \Omega, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.14)$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$. As a consequence, it follows that

$$g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|z|) \leq \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|) \leq g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,|z|)$$
(5.15)

holds for all $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \ge T\}$, and

$$\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) + \bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|)|z| \ge g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) + \bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|)|z| \le g_{2,\varepsilon}(x, |z|)$$

$$(5.16)$$

hold for all $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \ge T, |z| \ne T_{\varepsilon}\}$. - It holds that

$$0 < s \leq t \implies \begin{cases} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s)s \leq g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)t\\ \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s)s \leq \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)t \end{cases}$$
(5.17)

In particular, the function $t \mapsto G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t)$ in (5.11) is convex. - For every $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \ge T\}$, it holds that:

$$\begin{cases} c(\nu, \gamma)(|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \leq g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \\ G(x, |z|) \leq F(x, z) \\ G_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \leq F_{\varepsilon}(x, z) . \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

For every $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [T, \infty)$, there holds

$$\begin{cases} (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\gamma/2} \le c(\nu, \gamma) \bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \\ G_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \le c(\nu, \gamma) [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, t)]^{2/\gamma} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) . \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

Again for every $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \ge T\}$, it holds

$$\begin{cases} c(\nu,\gamma)F(x,z) \ge (|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{\gamma/2} - (T^2 + \mu^2)^{\gamma/2} \\ c(\nu,\gamma)F_{\varepsilon}(x,z) \ge (|z|^2 + \mu^2)^{\gamma/2} - (T^2 + \mu^2)^{\gamma/2} . \end{cases}$$
(5.20)

- For every $x \in \Omega$ and for a fixed constant $c \equiv c(v, \gamma)$, we have

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \leq c\tilde{a}(x,t) & \text{for } t \geq \varepsilon \\ (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \leq c\tilde{a}(x,t) & \text{for } t \geq T . \end{cases}$$
(5.21)

- Finally, for another constant c depending on v and $\|\tilde{a}(\cdot, T)\|_{L^{\infty}}(T^2 + \mu^2) + T^{\gamma}$, we have that

$$F_{\varepsilon}(x,z) \leq cF(x,z) + c \quad holds \text{ for all } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$$
 (5.22)

and that

$$\frac{\varepsilon}{\gamma}(t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\gamma/2} - \frac{\varepsilon \mu_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}}{\gamma} \leq \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \leq c_{\varepsilon}(t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\gamma/2}$$
(5.23)

holds for all $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [0, \infty)$.

Proof. By the very definitions in (5.3)–(5.4), we note that $\partial_{zz} F_{\varepsilon}(x, z)$ exists for all $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \neq \varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}$ with

$$\partial_{zz} F_{\varepsilon}(x,z) = \begin{cases} \left(|z|^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} \left[\frac{\tilde{a}(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} + \varepsilon\right] C_{\varepsilon}(z) \\ \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| < \varepsilon\} \\ \partial_{zz} F(x,z) + \varepsilon(|z|^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} C_{\varepsilon}(z) \\ \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{\varepsilon < |z| < T_{\varepsilon}\} \\ \left(|z|^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} \left[\frac{\tilde{a}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} + \varepsilon\right] C_{\varepsilon}(z) \\ \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{T_{\varepsilon} < |z|\}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$C_{\varepsilon}(z) := \mathbb{I}_{N \times n} + (\gamma - 2) \frac{z \otimes z}{|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2} \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$$

Moreover, recalling (5.3), by the definition of weak derivatives, we have

$$\partial_{xz} F_{\varepsilon}(x,z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\partial_x \tilde{a}(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} z & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| < \varepsilon\} \\ \partial_x \tilde{a}(x,|z|)z & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{\varepsilon \le |z| < T_{\varepsilon}\} \\ \frac{\partial_x \tilde{a}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} z & \text{if } (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{T_{\varepsilon} \le |z|\}. \end{cases}$$

Then (5.13)–(5.14) directly follow by (4.2), (4.8), (5.3), (5.7)–(5.9), and with the choice

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{\varepsilon} &:= \mathfrak{g}_2 \left[1 + \sup_{x \in \Omega} \frac{2g_2(x, T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma - 2}{2}}} + \sup_{x \in \Omega, |z| \in [\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}]} \frac{|\partial_{zz} F(x, z)|}{(|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma - 2}{2}}} \right], \\ L_{\varepsilon} &:= \sup_{t \in [\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}]} \frac{\|g_3(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}}{(t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma - 2}{2}}t} \,. \end{split}$$

Note that we are also using $(4.11)_2$ and (4.4) in order to get upper bounds for $|\partial_{zz}F_{\varepsilon}(x, z)|$, in $(5.13)_1$ and $(5.14)_1$, respectively; also (5.12) is used to estimate

$$\frac{\tilde{a}(x,\varepsilon)}{(\varepsilon^2+\mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} \leq \frac{2\tilde{a}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2+\mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} \leq \frac{2g_2(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2+\mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} \,.$$

We also used $(4.10)_2$ to get $(5.13)_2$.

As for (5.15)–(5.16), when $|z| \neq T_{\varepsilon}$, these follow from definition (5.5) and (5.13), arguing exactly as for (4.10)–(4.11). The case $|z| = T_{\varepsilon}$ of (5.15) follows by continuity.

The property in (5.17) readily follows from (4.5) and the definitions in (5.7)–(5.8), also using the fact that $t \mapsto (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} t$ is increasing.

We now come to (5.18)–(5.20). For $(5.18)_2$ – $(5.20)_1$ we note that

$$F(x,z) \geq \int_{T}^{|z|} \tilde{a}(x,s)s \, ds \stackrel{(4.10)_2}{\geq} \int_{T}^{|z|} g_1(x,s)s \, ds \stackrel{(4.13)}{=} G(x,|z|)$$

$$\stackrel{(4.6)}{\geq} \nu \int_{T}^{|z|} (s^2 + \mu^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds \stackrel{(2.1)}{=} \frac{\nu}{\gamma} \left\{ [E(|z|)]^{\gamma} - [E(T)]^{\gamma} \right\}.$$
(5.24)

Let us now take care of $(5.19)_1$. For $t \in [T, T_{\varepsilon})$, using (4.6) and (5.12), we see that (recall that $\varepsilon \leq T/4$)

$$\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \geq \frac{\mathfrak{g}_{1}\nu}{\gamma} \left[(t^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\gamma/2} - (T^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\gamma/2} \right] + (T^{2} + 1)^{\gamma/2}$$
$$\geq \frac{(t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\gamma/2}}{c(\nu,\gamma)}, \qquad (5.25)$$

while, when $t \ge T_{\varepsilon}$, by analogous means, we have

$$\begin{split} \bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) &= \mathfrak{g}_{1} \int_{T_{\varepsilon}}^{t} \frac{g_{1}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (s^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds \\ &+ \mathfrak{g}_{1} \int_{T}^{T_{\varepsilon}} g_{1}(x,s) s \, ds + (T^{2} + 1)^{\gamma/2} \\ &\geq \frac{1}{c(\nu,\gamma)} \int_{T}^{t} (s^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds + (T^{2} + 1)^{\gamma/2} \geq \frac{(t^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\gamma/2}}{c(\nu,\gamma)} \,. \end{split}$$
(5.26)

Implicit in the arguments from (5.25)–(5.26) is also the proof of $(5.18)_1$. Inequalities $(5.18)_3$ and $(5.20)_2$ follow using the lower bound in (5.15) and then $(5.18)_1$, as in (5.24). As for $(5.19)_2$, note that

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \int_{T}^{t} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s) s \, ds \stackrel{(5.17)}{\leq} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t) t \int_{T}^{t} ds$$
$$= g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t) t (t-T) \leq g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t) t^{2}$$
(5.27)

holds whenever $t \ge T$. Now (5.19)₂ follows using (5.27) with (5.19)₁.

The proof of $(5.21)_1$ follows straightaway from the definition of \tilde{a}_{ε} in (5.3), the first property in (4.4) and (5.12); the relation in (5.21)₂ instead follows from (4.6), (4.10)₂ and again (5.12).

For the proof of (5.22) we use (4.6) and (5.12), to get, in the case $t \leq T$

$$\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \leq c \left[\frac{\tilde{a}(x,T)}{(T^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} + \varepsilon \right] \int_{0}^{t} (s^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds$$
$$\leq c \|\tilde{a}(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{\infty}} (T^{2} + \mu^{2}) + c(T^{\gamma} + 1) \,.$$
(5.28)

On the other hand, when t > T, using (5.21) gives that $\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) - \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x, T) \leq c\tilde{F}(x, t)$ and this, together with the content of the last display, gives (5.21) again. Finally, the proof of (5.23) follows straightaway from the definitions in (5.3)–(5.4).

Lemma 5.2. Under assumptions (4.1)–(4.4) we have that

- If (4.18) is also in force for some $\sigma \ge 0$, then for every $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [T, \infty)$ it holds that

$$\frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \leq c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{\sigma}, \quad \text{where } c \equiv c(n,N,\nu,\gamma,c_b).$$
(5.29)

In particular, if $g_2/g_2 \leq c_b$ holds as in (4.25), then it also holds that

$$\frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \le c(n,N,\nu,\gamma,c_b).$$
(5.30)

- If (4.16) is also in force, then, with \mathfrak{g}_1 as in (5.10), for a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and every $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ with $|z| \ge T$, it holds that

$$|\partial_x g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)|t \le \frac{h(x)}{\mathfrak{g}_1^{\hat{\sigma}}(1+\hat{\sigma})} \partial_t [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+\hat{\sigma}} .$$
(5.31)

- For all $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [T, \infty)$, the following holds:

$$\varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2 < \min\{1, T\}/4 \Longrightarrow g_{1,\varepsilon_2}(x, t) \leq c(\gamma)g_{1,\varepsilon_1}(x, t).$$
 (5.32)

Thus, this time, for all $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [0, \infty)$, it follows that

$$G_{\varepsilon_2}(x,t) \leq c(\gamma)G_{\varepsilon_1}(x,t) \quad and \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} G_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \mathfrak{g}_1G(x,t).$$
 (5.33)

The last convergence occurs uniformly on compact subsets of $[0, \infty)$ *.*

Proof. For (5.29), note that (4.6), $(4.12)_1$ and (5.12) imply

$$T \leq t \leq T_{\varepsilon} \implies \frac{1}{\mathfrak{g}_1} \frac{g_2(x,t)}{g_1(x,t)} \leq \frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \leq c(\nu,\gamma) \frac{g_2(x,t)}{g_1(x,t)} \quad (5.34)$$

and that the definitions in (5.7)–(5.8) imply

$$t > T_{\varepsilon} \Longrightarrow \frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} = \frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}.$$
(5.35)

Then, for $T \leq t \leq T_{\varepsilon}$ we have

$$\frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \stackrel{(5.34)}{\leq} c \frac{g_2(x,t)}{g_1(x,t)} \stackrel{(4.18)}{\leq} c[\bar{G}(x,t)]^{\sigma} \stackrel{(5.7)}{\leq} c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{\sigma}$$
(5.36)

while, for $T_{\varepsilon} < t$, we have

$$\frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,t)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \stackrel{(\mathbf{5},\mathbf{35})}{=} \frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,T_{\varepsilon})} \stackrel{(\mathbf{5},\mathbf{36})}{\leq} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,T_{\varepsilon})]^{\sigma} \leq c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{\sigma},$$

and (5.29) is completely proved. The proof of (5.30) follows as in the last two displays by formally taking $\sigma = 0$. The proof of (5.31) is a straightforward consequence of the definition in (5.7) and (4.16) when $t \leq T_{\varepsilon}$. In the case $t > T_{\varepsilon}$, we instead have, also using (4.16), that

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_x g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)|t &\stackrel{(\mathbf{5}.7)}{=} \frac{\mathfrak{g}_1 |\partial_x g_1(x,T_{\varepsilon})|}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} t \\ &\leq \frac{\mathfrak{g}_1 h(x) [\bar{G}(x,T_{\varepsilon})]^{\hat{\sigma}} g_1(x,T_{\varepsilon})}{(T_{\varepsilon}^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} (t^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} t \\ &\leq \frac{h(x)}{\mathfrak{g}_1^{\hat{\sigma}}} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{\hat{\sigma}} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t) t \\ &= \frac{h(x)}{\mathfrak{g}_1^{\hat{\sigma}} (1 + \hat{\sigma})} \partial_t [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+\hat{\sigma}} , \end{aligned}$$

that is, (5.31). Finally, the properties in (5.32)–(5.33), follow directly from the definitions in (5.7) and (5.11), using (4.4) and (5.12). \Box

Lemma 5.3. Under assumptions (4.1)–(4.4) and (4.17), the inequalities

$$\begin{cases} g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,t)t \leq c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+\sigma} \\ \frac{[g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,t)]^2}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \leq c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+2\sigma} \end{cases}$$
(5.37)

hold for all $t \ge T$ and for a.e. $x \in \Omega$, where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_b)$.

Proof. When $t \in [T, T_{\varepsilon})$, the proof of (5.37) follows directly by the definitions (5.7), (5.9), (5.11) and from assumption (4.17). Therefore we restrict ourselves to the case $t \ge T_{\varepsilon}$. For this, we set $t_{\varepsilon} := t/T_{\varepsilon}$, and

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\varepsilon}(t) := \frac{\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, T_{\varepsilon})}{\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, t)} \leq 1$$
(5.38)

and bound via $(4.17)_1$ and (5.12) as follows:

$$g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,t)t \leq cg_{3}(x,T_{\varepsilon})T_{\varepsilon}\left(\frac{t^{2}+\mu_{\varepsilon}^{2}}{T_{\varepsilon}^{2}+\mu_{\varepsilon}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}t_{\varepsilon}^{2}$$
$$\leq c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,T_{\varepsilon})]^{1+\sigma}t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}\leq c(n,\gamma,c_{b})[\mathcal{Q}_{\varepsilon}(t)]^{1+\sigma}t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+\sigma}.$$
(5.39)

In order to bound $\mathfrak{Q}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ we start observing that if $t_{\varepsilon} \leq 1000$, then (5.37)₁ follows using (5.38). When $t_{\varepsilon} > 1000$, we instead estimate

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\varepsilon}(t) \stackrel{(5.11)}{\leq} \frac{\bar{G}(x, T_{\varepsilon})}{\int_{T_{\varepsilon}}^{t} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, s) s \, ds + (T^2 + 1)^{\gamma/2}}$$

$$\stackrel{(5.7)}{\leq} \frac{\bar{G}(x, T_{\varepsilon})}{\frac{\mathfrak{g}_{1}\mathfrak{g}_{1}(x, T_{\varepsilon})}{\gamma(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} T_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} \left[\left(t_{\varepsilon}^{2} + (\mu_{\varepsilon}/T_{\varepsilon})^{2} \right)^{\gamma/2} - \left(1 + (\mu_{\varepsilon}/T_{\varepsilon})^{2} \right)^{\gamma/2} \right] }$$

$$\stackrel{t_{\varepsilon} > 1000}{\leq} \frac{c(\gamma)\bar{G}(x, T_{\varepsilon})(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}{g_{1}(x, T_{\varepsilon})T_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}}$$

$$\stackrel{(5.27)}{\leq} c(\gamma) \left[\frac{g_{1}(x, T_{\varepsilon})T_{\varepsilon}^{2}(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}{g_{1}(x, T_{\varepsilon})T_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}} + \frac{(T^{\gamma} + 1)(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}}{g_{1}(x, T_{\varepsilon})T_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}} \right]$$

$$\stackrel{(4.6)}{\leq} \frac{c(\gamma)}{t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}} \left[1 + \frac{T^{\gamma} + 1}{\nu T_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}} \right] .$$

It follows that

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\varepsilon}(t) \leq \frac{c(\nu, \gamma)}{t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}}$$
(5.40)

Inserting this last estimate in (5.39), we get

$$g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,t)t \leq ct_{\varepsilon}^{-\sigma\gamma} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+\sigma} \leq c[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+\sigma},$$
(5.41)

where $c \equiv c(n, \nu, \gamma, c_b)$ and the proof of $(5.37)_1$ follows in the case $t_{\varepsilon} > 1000$ too. As for $(5.37)_2$, similarly to $(5.37)_1$, when $t \in [T, T_{\varepsilon})$ the proof follows from (5.7), (5.9) and assumption $(4.17)_2$, while for $t \ge T_{\varepsilon}$, using $(4.17)_2$ we have

$$\frac{[g_{3,\varepsilon}(x,t)]^2}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)} \leq c \frac{[g_3(x,T_{\varepsilon})]^2}{g_1(x,T_{\varepsilon})} \left(\frac{t^2+\mu_{\varepsilon}^2}{T_{\varepsilon}^2+\mu_{\varepsilon}^2}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} t_{\varepsilon}^2$$
$$\leq c(n,N,\gamma) [\mathfrak{Q}_{\varepsilon}(t)]^{1+2\sigma} t_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)]^{1+2\sigma}$$

and $(5.37)_2$ follows using (5.40) in the last estimate and again arguing as for (5.41).

Lemma 5.4. Under assumptions (4.1)-(4.4) and (4.18) for some $\sigma \ge 0$, consider a ball $B \in \Omega$ with $r(B) \le 1$, numbers $0 < \varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2 \le \min\{1, T\}/4$ and let $w \in W^{1,\gamma}(B; \mathbb{R}^N)$. If $\overline{G}(\cdot, |Dw|) \in L^p(B)$ for some $p > 1 + \sigma$, then

$$\int_{B} \left| F_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x, Dw) - F_{\varepsilon_{2}}(x, Dw) \right| \, dx \le o(\varepsilon_{2}) \int_{B} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x, |Dw|)]^{p} \, dx + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \,,$$
(5.42)

holds, where $o(\varepsilon_2)$ denotes a quantity such that $o(\varepsilon_2) \rightarrow 0$ as $\varepsilon_2 \rightarrow 0$, and

$$\int_{B} \left| F(x, Dw) - F_{\varepsilon_{2}}(x, Dw) \right| \, dx \le o(\varepsilon_{2}) \int_{B} \left[\bar{G}(x, |Dw|) \right]^{p} \, dx + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \,.$$
(5.43)

Proof. Note that (5.33) implies $G_{\varepsilon_1}(x, t) \le c(\gamma)G(x, t)$, and therefore we also have that $\overline{G}_{\varepsilon_1}(\cdot, |Dw|) \in L^p(B)$. Next, we denote

$$\bar{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) - \varepsilon L_{\gamma,\varepsilon}(t) := \int_0^t \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s) s \, ds \tag{5.44}$$

and in the following we always take $x \in B$. In the case it is $|z| \leq \varepsilon_2$, by (4.4) and (5.12) we easily have

$$\begin{split} &|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_1}(x,|z|) - \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_2}(x,|z|)| \leq \left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_1}(x,\varepsilon_2)\right| + \left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_2}(x,\varepsilon_2)\right| \\ &\leq c \|\tilde{a}(\cdot,1)\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} \int_0^{\varepsilon_2} (s^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon_1}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds \\ &+ c \|\tilde{a}(\cdot,1)\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} \int_0^{\varepsilon_2} (s^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon_2}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} s \, ds \leq o(\varepsilon_2) \, . \end{split}$$

When $\varepsilon_2 \leq |z| \leq T_{\varepsilon_2}$, recalling that $\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon_1}(x, |z|) \equiv \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon_2}(x, |z|)$, by also using the information in the last display we find

$$\left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_1}(x,|z|) - \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_2}(x,|z|)\right| \leq \left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_1}(x,\varepsilon_2)\right| + \left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_2}(x,\varepsilon_2)\right| \leq o(\varepsilon_2).$$
(5.45)

Finally, note that (4.4) and (5.12) imply

$$\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon_2}(x,s) \leq c(\gamma)\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon_1}(x,s) \leq c(\gamma)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon_1}(x,s) \quad \text{for } s > T_{\varepsilon_2}$$
(5.46)

therefore, when $|z| > T_{\varepsilon_2}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,|z|) - \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{2}}(x,|z|)\right|^{(5.46)} & \left|\bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,T_{\varepsilon_{2}}) - \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{2}}(x,T_{\varepsilon_{2}})\right| \\ & + c \int_{T_{\varepsilon_{2}}}^{|z|} \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,s) s \, ds \\ & \left(\frac{5.45}{\leq} c \int_{T_{\varepsilon_{2}}}^{|z|} \bar{a}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,s) s \, ds + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \right) \\ & \left(\frac{5.15}{\leq} c \int_{T_{\varepsilon_{2}}}^{|z|} g_{2,\varepsilon_{1}}(x,s) s \, ds + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \right) \\ & \left(\frac{5.29}{\leq} c \int_{T_{\varepsilon_{2}}}^{|z|} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,s)]^{\sigma} g_{1,\varepsilon_{1}}(x,s) s \, ds + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \right) \\ & \leq c [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,|z|)]^{\sigma} \int_{T_{\varepsilon_{2}}}^{|z|} g_{1,\varepsilon_{1}}(x,s) s \, ds + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \\ & \leq c [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x,|z|)]^{1+\sigma} + o(\varepsilon_{2}) \,, \end{split}$$

and we have also used that $s \mapsto \overline{G}_{\varepsilon_1}(x, s)$ is non-decreasing. Using the content of the last four displays, and using also Hölder's inequality, we get

$$\int_{B} \left| \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x, |Dw|) - \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{2}}(x, |Dw|) \right| \, dx$$

$$\leq \circ(\varepsilon_2)|B| + c \int_{B \cap \{|Dw| > T_{\varepsilon_2}\}} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_1}(x, |Dw|)]^{1+\sigma} dx$$

$$\leq \circ(\varepsilon_2)|B| + c|B \cap \{|Dw| > T_{\varepsilon_2}\}|^{\frac{p-1-\sigma}{p}} \left(\int_B [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_1}(x, |Dw|)]^p dx \right)^{\frac{1+\sigma}{p}}$$

for $c \equiv c(v, \gamma, p)$. On the other hand, observe that

$$|B \cap \{|Dw| > T_{\varepsilon_2}\}| \leq T_{\varepsilon_2}^{-\gamma p} \int_{B \cap \{|Dw| > T_{\varepsilon_2}\}} |Dw|^{\gamma p} dx$$

$$\leq (5.19)_1 \leq \varepsilon_2^{\gamma p} \int_B [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_1}(x, |Dw|)]^p dx$$

Last two inequalities yield

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} \left| \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x, |Dw|) - \bar{F}_{\varepsilon_{2}}(x, |Dw|) \right| \, dx &\leq |B| \circ (\varepsilon_{2}) \\ &+ c \varepsilon_{2}^{\gamma(p-1-\sigma)} \int_{B} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x, |Dw|)]^{p} \, dx, \end{split}$$

where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_a, c_b)$. By using again (5.19)₁, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} \left| \varepsilon_{1} L_{\gamma, \varepsilon_{1}}(Dw) - \varepsilon_{2} L_{\gamma, \varepsilon_{2}}(Dw) \right| \, dx &\leq c \varepsilon_{2} \int_{B} (|Dw|^{2} + 1)^{\gamma/2} \, dx \\ &\leq c \varepsilon_{2} \int_{B} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(x, |Dw|)]^{p} \, dx \, . \end{split}$$

Combining the content of the last two displays and recalling (5.4) and (5.44) we arrive at (5.42). As for (5.43), this follows from (5.6)₆ and (5.42) letting $\varepsilon_1 \rightarrow 0$. Indeed, note that Fatou's lemma works for the left-hand one; as for the right-hand side, we use again that $G_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \leq G(x, t)$ and the second information in (5.33), and finally Lebesgue dominated convergence.

6. A Priori Estimates

In this section we develop basic a priori estimates. These are obtained for solutions to certain elliptic systems associated to the integrands defined in Section 5, (5.4). Unless differently specified, we shall permanently assume that set in (4.20) is in force; all properties (4.1)–(4.18) will be therefore available as well. With $0 < \varepsilon < \min\{1, T\}/4$ and $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ being a ball such that $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq 1$, we consider a weak solution $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ to the system

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) = f \quad \text{in } \mathcal{B} \\ f \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N}), \ |f| \leq |\mathfrak{f}|, \text{ where } \mathfrak{f} \in L^{n}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N}), \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

with $a_{\varepsilon}: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \to \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ being defined as in (5.5). This setting will be kept for the rest of Section 6. In particular, all the balls considered in the following will

have radius ≤ 1 . Eventually, we shall consider additional restrictions of the type $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$, where R_* will be a (small) threshold radius to be determined as a function of the fixed parameters of the problem, but independently of the solution *u* considered. From (6.1), and taking (5.14) and (5.23) into account, it follows that *u* is a minimizer of the functional

$$w \mapsto \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[F_{\varepsilon}(x, Dw) - f \cdot w \right] dx = \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Dw|) - f \cdot w \right] dx \,. \tag{6.2}$$

We recall that $\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$, defined in (5.5), is such that $x \mapsto \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ for all $t \ge 0, t \mapsto \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \in W^{1,\infty}_{\text{loc}}[0, \infty) \cap C^{1}_{\text{loc}}([0, \infty) \setminus \{\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\})$ i.e., it is locally C^{1} -regular outside $\{\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}$ and it is such that $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, 0) = 0$ for all $x \in \Omega$. This implies that $x \mapsto a_{\varepsilon}(x, z) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ and $z \mapsto a_{\varepsilon}(x, z) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ and $z \mapsto a_{\varepsilon}(x, z) \in W^{1,\infty}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^{N \times n}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ for all $x \in \Omega$. Finally, the functions $t \mapsto \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t)$ and $g_{1,\varepsilon}(\cdot, t)$ are non-decreasing when $\gamma \ge 2$; this is indeed an easy consequence of assumption (4.4)₁ (see display after 4.5). A direct consequence of (5.15)–(5.16) is

$$\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,|z|)||z| \le g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,|z|) \quad \text{for all} \ (x,z) \in \Omega \times \{|z| \ge T, \ |z| \ne T_{\varepsilon}\}.$$
(6.3)

Indeed, if $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \geq 0$, then (6.3) trivially follows from (5.16)₂; otherwise (5.16)₁, and then (5.15), give $|\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|)||z| = -\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|)|z| \leq -g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |z|) + \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \leq \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \leq g_{2,\varepsilon}(x, |z|)$. Similarly to (5.15), by (5.3) and (5.14), we have that

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon \mathfrak{g}_1(|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \leq \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \leq \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \\ |\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x, |z|)| \leq c_{\varepsilon}(|z|^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2)^{(\gamma-3)/2} \end{cases}$$
(6.4)

holds this time for all $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ (must be $|z| \neq \varepsilon$, T_{ε} for (6.4)₂). From (5.13)–(5.14) we can apply Proposition 12.1 from Section 12, and this yields

$$Du \in L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}) \text{ and } u \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N).$$
 (6.5)

In turn, this implies that

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du) = \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) Du \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}).$$
(6.6)

This follows for instance from the results in [27, Theorem 1.5], together with the expression (chain rule) of $Da_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)$. It is sufficient to check that $\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(\mathcal{B})$ and that the corresponding chain rule applies to $D_s(\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|))$, for every $s \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. After extending $t \mapsto \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, t)$ to \mathbb{R} by even reflection, we apply [27, Theorem 1.5] to the vector field $B: \mathcal{B} \times \mathbb{R} \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$ defined by $(B(\cdot))_j \equiv (\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)\delta_{sj})$. For this, note that for every $t \in \mathbb{R}, x \mapsto \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \in W^{1,n}(\mathcal{B})$ (this is [27, Theorem 1.5, (i)]), and that $\partial_x \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot) = \partial_x \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$ is still Carathéodory regular; this follows from the definitions (5.2)–(5.3) and by the fact that $\partial_x \tilde{F}'$ is Carathéodory regular by assumptions (this is [27, Theorem 1.5, (ii)]). The crucial point to apply the results from [27] is that, as described in (5.6), the set of non-differentiable points of the (extended) partial function $t \mapsto \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, t)$ is contained in $\{-T_{\varepsilon}, -\varepsilon, \varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}$ for every $x \in \mathcal{B}$, and it is therefore a null set which is independent of x (this is [27, Theorem 1.5, (iii)]). Finally, [27, Theorem 1.5, (iv)] is verified thanks to (5.13)_1 and (6.4)_2. Therefore, by (6.5), [27, Theorem 1.5] applies and (6.6) follows

with the corresponding chain rule (see (6.8) and the related discussion a few lines below). Note that we have used (6.5), that, together with (5.14)₄, also implies $\partial_{x_s} a_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du) \in L^n_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$.

Let us write, with abuse of notation (keep in mind $\partial_z a_{\varepsilon}(x, z) \equiv \partial_{zz} F_{\varepsilon}(x, z)$ is not defined when $|z| = \varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}$)

$$(\partial_z a_{\varepsilon}(x,z))_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} = \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|)\delta_{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta} + \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|z|)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,|z|)|z|\frac{z_i^{\alpha}z_j^{\beta}}{|z|^2}$$
(6.7)

for $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n} \setminus \{0\}$, and here we are denoting by $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\cdot)$ the indicator function of the set $\mathcal{D} := \mathbb{R} \setminus \{\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}$. We explain (6.7) as follows. Recalling that $|Du| \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ by (6.5)–(6.6), we have that

$$D_{s}[a_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)] = \partial_{x_{s}}a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) + \partial_{z}a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du)DD_{s}u$$

$$= \partial_{x_{s}}\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)Du + \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)\mathbb{I}_{N \times n}DD_{s}u$$

$$+\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x, |Du|)D_{s}|Du|$$
(6.8)

holds a.e. in \mathcal{B} , for every $s \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Here we are using Einstein's convention on repeated indexes and $\mathbb{I}_{N \times n} \equiv (\delta_{ij} \delta_{\alpha\beta})$. Exactly as in the autonomous case, the presence of $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|)$ in (6.7)–(6.8) then accounts for the fact that the term $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)D_s|Du|$ is interpreted as zero at those points where D|Du| = 0, and in particular, for a.e. *x* such that $|Du(x)| \in \{\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}\}$, i.e., where $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du(x)|)$ alone does not make sense; see [27, Theorem 1.5]. Note that, in particular, from (6.7), (5.13)_{1,2} and (5.15), it follows that

$$g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|z|)|\xi|^2 \leq \partial_z a_{\varepsilon}(x,z)\xi \cdot \xi , \quad |\partial_z a_{\varepsilon}(x,z)| \leq g_{2,\varepsilon}(x,|z|) , \qquad (6.9)$$

whenever $|z| \ge T$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$.

Similar arguments apply to $G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)$, this time using directly [27, Corollary 1.7]. Indeed, change/extend $g_{1,\varepsilon}(\cdot)$ on $\Omega \times (\infty, T)$ as $g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) := g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, T)$ for $t \leq T$ (this is continuous as $g_{1,\varepsilon}$ is continuous), and, in [27], take $b : \mathcal{B} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ defined as $(b)_j := (g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)t\delta_{ij})_j$ for every $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, with $w(\cdot) \equiv T$, $u(\cdot) \equiv \max\{|Du|, T\} \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}) \cap L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B})$ (here $u(\cdot)$ is the one from [27], and not the solution considered in (6.1)). Finally, note that $\partial_{x_i}g_{1,\varepsilon} \in L^n_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B} \times \mathbb{R})$ by (5.31). Then [27, Corollary 1.7] implies

$$G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B})$$
(6.10)

and

$$D_i G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) = \int_T^{\max\{|Du|, T\}} \partial_{x_i} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t \, dt + g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) D_i \max\{|Du|, T\}$$

holds a.e. in \mathcal{B} . In particular, on $\{|Du| > T\}$, we have

$$D_i G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) = g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du| D_i |Du| + \int_T^{|Du|} \partial_{x_i} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t \, dt$$

$$=g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)\sum_{\alpha=1}^{N}\sum_{s=1}^{n}D_{i}D_{s}u^{\alpha}D_{s}u^{\alpha}+\int_{T}^{|Du|}\partial_{x_{i}}g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t)t\,dt$$
(6.11)

for every $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, where we have also used that

$$D_i |Du| = \frac{1}{|Du|} \sum_{\alpha=1}^N \sum_{s=1}^n D_i D_s u^{\alpha} D_s u^{\alpha} .$$
 (6.12)

Note also that $D_i G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \equiv 0$ a.e. on the complement of $\{|Du| > T\}$.

Lemma 6.1. For $\lambda \equiv (\lambda_i) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $z = (z_i^{\alpha}) \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$, $1 \leq i \leq n$ and $1 \leq \alpha \leq N$, with $|z| \geq T$

$$\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|)\lambda \cdot \lambda + \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|z|)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,|z|)|z| \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \frac{|\lambda \cdot z^{\alpha}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}}$$

$$\geq \min\left\{\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|), \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|z|) + \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|z|)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,|z|)|z|\right\}|\lambda|^{2}$$

$$\geqq g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|z|)|\lambda|^{2}$$
(6.13)

holds for every $x \in \Omega$.

Proof. Indeed, (6.13) is trivial by (5.15) if $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|z|)\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|) \ge 0$ (note that (5.15) holds when $|z| = T_{\varepsilon}$ too). Otherwise, we can estimate simply $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|)|\lambda \cdot z^{\alpha}|^2 \ge \bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |z|)|z^{\alpha}|^2|\lambda|^2$ for every α and then use (5.16)₁.

6.1. Caccioppoli Inequality for Powers, When n > 2

Up to and including Section 6.3, we concentrate on the case n > 2, and we set

$$m := \frac{d}{d-2} > 1$$
 and $1 \stackrel{n < d}{<} \chi := \frac{2^*}{2m} = \frac{n}{n-2} \frac{d-2}{d}$. (6.14)

The main result here is

Proposition 6.2. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) for n > 2, and replace (4.15)₁ by

$$\begin{cases} \sigma + \hat{\sigma} < \frac{s_*}{n} - \frac{s_*}{d} \\ 1 \le s_* < \min\left\{ 2m(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}), \frac{2n}{n-2} \right\}. \end{cases}$$
(6.15)

Then, for every $p \in [1, \infty)$, there exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}, \mathfrak{f}(\cdot), p) \leq 1$ such that if $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$ and $B_{\varsigma} \Subset B_{\varrho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} , then

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c}{(\varrho - \varsigma)^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{s_{\varepsilon}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1\right]$$
(6.16)

holds with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}) \ge 1, \beta_{p}, \theta_{p} \equiv \beta_{p}, \theta_{p}(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}, p) > 0.$

Needless to say, (6.15) is implied by $(4.15)_1$ for $s_* = 1$. The proof of Proposition 6.2 will take this and the subsequent Sects. 6.2–6.3; in the following, all the balls considered but \mathcal{B} , will be concentric with $B_{\varsigma} \in B_{\varrho}$ from the statement. We recall it is $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq 1$; the size of R_* will be chosen in due course of the proof. Observe that all the foregoing computations, except those involving f, still work in the case n = 2; this case will be treated in Section 6.7 below. To start with the proof of Proposition 6.2, by (6.5)–(6.7) we pass to the differentiated form of system (6.1), that is

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[\partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) D D_{s} u \cdot D\varphi + \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot D\varphi + f \cdot D_{s} \varphi \right] dx = 0,$$
(6.17)

which holds for all $\varphi \in W_0^{1,2}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ with compact support in \mathcal{B} , by density. Indeed, note that the terms multiplying $D\varphi$ belong to $L^2_{loc}(\mathcal{B})$ and $L^n_{loc}(\mathcal{B})$; this follows from (5.13)₃ and (6.5). We now consider concentric balls $B_{\varsigma} \subset B_{\tau_1} \Subset B_{\tau_2} \subset B_{\varrho}$; in particular it is $\varsigma \leq \tau_1 < \tau_2 \leq \varrho \leq 1$. In (6.17) we take $\varphi \equiv \varphi_s := \eta^2 [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} D_s u$ for $s \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, where $\kappa \geq 0$ and $\eta \in C_c^1(B_{\varrho})$ satisfies $\mathbbm{1}_{B_{\tau_1}} \leq \eta \leq \mathbbm{1}_{B_{\tau_2}}$ and $|D\eta| \lesssim 1/(\tau_2 - \tau_1)$. Note that (6.5) and (6.10) imply that $\varphi_s \in W_0^{1,2}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$, has support contained in B_{τ_2} and, as such, it is admissible in (6.17). It follows that

$$D\varphi_{s} = \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} DD_{s} u$$

+ $(\kappa + 1)\eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} D_{s} u \otimes DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)$
+ $2\eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} D_{s} u \otimes D\eta$. (6.18)

By (6.5) and (6.10) it follows that $\varphi \in W_0^{1,2}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and it is therefore admissible in (6.17). By the last identity we have

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot D\varphi_{s} dx$$

$$= \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot DD_{s} u dx$$

$$+ (\kappa + 1) \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u$$

$$\cdot (D_{s} u \otimes DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)) dx$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot (D_{s} u \otimes D\eta) dx$$

$$=: (\mathbf{I})_{z} + (\mathbf{II})_{z} + (\mathbf{III})_{z}. \qquad (6.19)$$

Note that in the display above and in the following ones until (6.25), as $G_{\varepsilon}(x, t) \equiv 0$ for $t \leq T$, all the integrals above actually extend only over $B \cap \{|Du| > T\}$,

therefore we can always use (6.11) when computing the derivatives of G_{ε} . To proceed, we have

(I)
$$_{z} \stackrel{(6.9)}{\geq} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |D^{2}u|^{2} dx =: \mathcal{S}_{1}.$$

We temporarily shorten the notation as follows (recall $(4.12)_1$):

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}(Du) &:= (\kappa+1) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} \frac{\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} \,, \\ \mathcal{H}'_{\kappa}(Du) &:= (\kappa+1) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} \frac{\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du|}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} \end{aligned}$$

As all the integrals extend over $\{|Du| > T\}$ by (4.6), it is $g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) > 0$. Recalling (6.7)–(6.12), we then re-write

$$(\mathrm{II})_{z} = \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}(Du) DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) dx + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}'(Du) \frac{(DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot Du^{\alpha})^{2}}{|Du|^{2}} dx - \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}(Du) \int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t dt \cdot DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) dx - \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}'(Du) \left(\int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t dt \cdot Du^{\alpha}\right) \times \frac{(DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot Du^{\alpha})}{|Du|^{2}} dx =: (\mathrm{II})_{z,1} + (\mathrm{II})_{z,2} + (\mathrm{II})_{z,3} + (\mathrm{II})_{z,4}.$$
(6.20)

We now observe that

$$(\mathrm{II})_{z,1} + (\mathrm{II})_{z,2} \ge (\kappa + 1) \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^2 [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} |DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)|^2 dx$$

=: \mathcal{S}_2 . (6.21)

Indeed, this follows from (6.13) with $\lambda \equiv DG_{\varepsilon}$ and $z \equiv Du$. Then we have, by using (5.15), (5.29), (5.31) and (6.3),

•

$$\leq \bar{\varepsilon}S_2 + \frac{c(\kappa+1)\|h\|_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}^2}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \\ \times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2m} [G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} dx\right)^{1/m} ,$$

where $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, c_b)$, and arbitrary $\bar{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$. Note that in last two lines we have used Young and Hölder's inequalities. Similarly to (6.20), we also have

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(III)}_{z} &= 2 \int_{\mathcal{B}} \frac{\eta G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}(Du)}{\kappa + 1} DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot D\eta \, dx \\ &+ 2 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \frac{\eta G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}'(Du)}{(\kappa + 1) |Du|^{2}} (DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot Du^{\alpha}) (Du^{\alpha} \cdot D\eta) \, dx \\ &- 2 \int_{\mathcal{B}} \frac{\eta G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}(Du)}{\kappa + 1} \left(\int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t \, dt \cdot D\eta \right) \, dx \\ &- 2 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \frac{\eta G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \mathcal{H}_{\kappa}'(Du)}{(\kappa + 1) |Du|^{2}} \\ &\qquad \times \left(\int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t \, dt \cdot Du^{\alpha} \right) (Du^{\alpha} \cdot D\eta) \, dx \\ &=: (\text{III})_{z,1} + (\text{III})_{z,2} + (\text{III})_{z,3} + (\text{III})_{z,4} \, . \end{aligned}$$

Using (5.15), (5.29), (6.3) and Young's inequality again, we have, for every $\bar{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$,

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathrm{III})_{z,1}| + |(\mathrm{III})_{z,2}| \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} \frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} |DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)| |D\eta| \, dx \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\sigma} |DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)| |D\eta| \, dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \delta_{2} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}(\kappa+1)} \int_{\mathcal{B}} |D\eta|^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma)} \, dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \delta_{2} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}(\kappa+1)} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} |D\eta|^{2m} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma)} \, dx \right)^{1/m} \end{aligned}$$

(recall that $\bar{G}_{\varepsilon} \ge 1$) and, now also using (5.31), we get

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathrm{III})_{z,3}| &+ |(\mathrm{III})_{z,4}| \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta h(x) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} |D\eta| \, dx \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^2 [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+2} \, dx \\ &+ c \int_{\mathcal{B}} |h(x)|^2 |D\eta|^2 [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} \, dx \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} dx + c \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} |D\eta|^{2m} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} dx \right)^{1/m} \leq c \left(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} + 1 \right) \times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} dx \right)^{1/m},$$
(6.22)

with $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, c_b)$. Now we look at the second group of terms stemming from (6.17) to get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot D\varphi_{s} \, dx \\ \stackrel{(6.18)}{=} \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot DD_{s} u \, dx \\ &+ (\kappa+1) \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot (D_{s} u \otimes DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)) \, dx \\ &+ 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot (D_{s} u \otimes D\eta) \, dx \\ &=: (I)_{x} + (II)_{x} + (III)_{x} \, . \end{split}$$

From $(5.13)_3, (5.37)_2$, Hölder and Young inequalities, we obtain, for arbitrary $\bar{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$,

$$\begin{split} |(\mathbf{I})_{x}| &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} h(x) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} g_{3,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |D^{2}u| dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [h(x)]^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} \frac{[g_{3,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2}}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2m} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma)} dx \right)^{1/m}, \end{split}$$

where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_b)$. This time using (5.37)₁ we get

$$\begin{split} |(\mathrm{II})_{x}| &\leq c(\kappa+1) \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} h(x) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} g_{3,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du| |DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)| \, dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{2} + \frac{c(\kappa+1)}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [h(x)]^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [g_{3,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2} |Du|^{2} \, dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{2} + \frac{c(\kappa+1)}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \\ &\qquad \times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2m} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma)} \, dx \right)^{1/m}, \end{split}$$

with $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_b)$. Again, (5.37)₁, Young and Hölder inequalities, as in (6.22), give

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathrm{III})_{x}| &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta h(x) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} g_{3,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du| |D\eta| \, dx \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+2} \, dx \\ &+ c \int_{\mathcal{B}} |D\eta|^{2} [h(x)]^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [g_{3,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2} |Du|^{2} \, dx \\ &\leq c \left(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} + 1 \right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma)} \, dx \right)^{1/m}, \end{aligned}$$
(6.23)

where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_b)$. Finally, we examine the contributions to (6.17) coming from the terms featuring f:

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} f \cdot D_{s} \varphi_{s} dx \stackrel{(6.18)}{=} \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} (f \cdot D_{s} D_{s} u) dx$$
$$+ (\kappa + 1) \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} D_{s} G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) (f \cdot D_{s} u) dx$$
$$+ 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} D_{s} \eta (f \cdot D_{s} u) dx$$
$$=: (\mathbf{I})_{f} + (\mathbf{II})_{f} + (\mathbf{III})_{f} .$$

Here recall that n > 2. Using $(5.19)_2$, Hölder and Young inequalities we get

$$\begin{split} |(\mathbf{I})_{f}| &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} |f| |D^{2}u| dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} |f|^{2} [g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{-1} G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} |f|^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2/\gamma} dx \\ &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{*}} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^{*}\kappa/2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^{*}} dx \right)^{2/2^{*}} , \end{split}$$

with $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma)$ and 2^* is as in (2.2). Moreover, by $(5.19)_1$, we get

$$|(\mathrm{II})_{f}| \leq c(\kappa+1) \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} |f| |DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)| |Du| dx$$
$$\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathscr{S}_{2} + \frac{c(\kappa+1)}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} |f|^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2/\gamma} dx$$

$$\leq \bar{\varepsilon} S_2 + \frac{c(\kappa+1) \|f\|_{L^n(\mathcal{B})}^2}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \\ \times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^*} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^* \kappa/2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^*} dx \right)^{2/2^*}$$

for $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma)$. Finally, again from $(5.19)_1$ we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathrm{III})_{f}| &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+1} |f| |D\eta| |Du| dx \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} |D\eta|^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa+2} dx \\ &+ c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} |f|^{2} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2/\gamma} dx \\ &\leq c \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} |D\eta|^{2m} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m} dx \right)^{1/m} \\ &+ c \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{*}} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^{*\kappa/2}} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^{*}} dx \right)^{2/2^{*}} \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.24)$$

where $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma)$. In the previous three displays, we also used that, by $(5.11)_2$ it is $\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot) \geq 1$ for all $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [0, \infty)$, thus, for instance $[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)]^{1/\gamma} \leq \bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$.

Merging the content of displays from (6.19) to (6.24), with (6.17), choosing $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ small enough (in order to reabsorb terms in the usual way), we get, after a few standard manipulations, and again using that $\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot) \geq 1$,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{1} + \mathcal{S}_{2} &\leq c(\kappa+1) \left(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} + 1 \right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{m\kappa} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} \, dx \right)^{1/m} \\ &+ c(\kappa+1) \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{*}} [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^{*}\kappa/2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2^{*}} \, dx \right)^{2/2^{*}}, \end{split}$$

$$(6.25)$$

with $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, c_b)$. Now we note that, by $(5.11)_2$ it follows

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \le \bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \le (T^2+1)^{\gamma/2} \left[G_{\varepsilon}(x,t) + 1 \right], \tag{6.26}$$

for all $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [0, \infty)$, therefore, recalling (6.21), estimate (6.25) can be rearranged as

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^2 [G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\kappa} |DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq c \left(\|h\|_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}^2 + 1 \right) \end{split}$$

,

$$\times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{m(\kappa+2+2\sigma+2\hat{\sigma})} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{1/m}$$
$$+ c \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{\ast}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{\frac{2^{\ast}}{2}(\kappa+2)} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{2/2^{\ast}},$$

where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, T, c_b)$ and every number $\kappa \ge 0$. Note that this is the first time a dependence of the constants on *T* appears, via (6.26); no blow-up occurs when $T \rightarrow 0$, compare with Remark 5. Sobolev-Poincaré inequality and the previous display give

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{*}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{\frac{2^{*}}{2}(\kappa+2)} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{2/2^{*}} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{*}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{\frac{\kappa}{2}+1} + 1 \right]^{2^{*}} dx \right)^{2/2^{*}} \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} |D(\eta([G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\frac{\kappa}{2}+1} + 1))|^{2} dx \\ &\leq c(\kappa+1)^{2} \left(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} + 1 \right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{m(\kappa+2+2\sigma+2\hat{\sigma})} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{1/m} \\ &+ c_{ab}(\kappa+1)^{2} \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^{*}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{\frac{2^{*}}{2}(\kappa+2)} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{2/2^{*}}, \end{split}$$
(6.27)

with $c, c_{ab} \equiv c, c_{ab}(n, N, \nu, \gamma, T, c_b)$. We now determine the radius R_* such that $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$ as in the statement of Proposition 6.2. Specifically, we fix $\bar{\kappa} \geq 0$ and, using the absolute continuity of the integral, determine $R_* \equiv R_*(n, N, \nu, \gamma, T, c_b, \mathfrak{f}(\cdot), \bar{\kappa}) \in (0, 1)$, such that

$$c_{ab}(\bar{\kappa}+1)^2 \|f\|_{L^n(\mathcal{B})}^2 \stackrel{(6.1)}{\leq} c_{ab}(\bar{\kappa}+1)^2 \|f\|_{L^n(\mathcal{B})}^2 \leq 1/2.$$
(6.28)

With (6.28) now being in force, for all $\kappa \leq \bar{\kappa}$ estimate (6.27) becomes

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2^*} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{\frac{2^*}{2}(\kappa+2)} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{2/2^*} \\ &\leq c(\kappa+1)^2 \left(\|h\|_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}^2 + 1 \right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{m(\kappa+2+2\sigma+2\hat{\sigma})} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{1/m} \end{split}$$

$$(6.29)$$

for $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, T, c_b)$.

6.2. Moser's Iteration in Finite Steps

With $1 \leq i \in \mathbb{N}$, we inductively define the exponents

$$\kappa_1 := 0, \quad \kappa_{i+1} := \chi(\kappa_i + 2) - 2(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}), \quad s_i := m(\kappa_i + 2 + 2\sigma + 2\hat{\sigma}).$$
(6.30)

Note that $s_*/n - s_*/d < \chi - 1$ if and only if $s_* < 2n/(n-2)$, and therefore the second condition in (6.15) implies, again together with the first one, that

$$\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < \frac{s_*}{n} - \frac{s_*}{d} < \chi - 1.$$
(6.31)

This, in turn, implies that $\{\kappa_i\}$ and $\{s_i\}$ are increasing sequences; moreover, it holds that

$$\begin{cases} \kappa_{i+1} = 2\chi^{i} - 2(\sigma + \hat{\sigma}) \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \chi^{j} - 2 & \text{for } i \ge 1\\ s_{i+1} = 2m\chi^{i} - 2m(\sigma + \hat{\sigma}) \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \chi^{j} & \text{for } i \ge 2 \text{ and } s_{2} = 2m\chi = 2^{*}. \end{cases}$$

Note that this implies

$$\begin{cases} s_{i+1} = \frac{2^*}{2} (\kappa_i + 2) = \frac{n(\kappa_i + 2)}{n-2} \Longrightarrow k_{i+1} \leq s_{i+1} \leq 2m\chi^i \\ k_{i+1} \leq 2\chi^i . \end{cases}$$
(6.32)

Again (6.31) implies, for $i \ge 1$,

$$s_{i+1} = 2m\chi^{i} \left[1 - \frac{(\sigma + \hat{\sigma})(1 - \chi^{1 - i})}{\chi - 1} \right] > 2m\chi^{i} \left(1 - \frac{\sigma + \hat{\sigma}}{\chi - 1} \right)$$
$$\implies \lim_{i \to \infty} s_{i+1} = \infty, \tag{6.33}$$

so that from the first relation in (6.32) it also follows that $\kappa_i \to \infty$. For $0 < \zeta \leq \tau_1 < \tau_2 \leq \varrho$, we consider a sequence $\{B_{\varrho_i}\}$ of shrinking, concentric balls, $B_{\tau_1} \Subset B_{\varrho_i+1} \Subset B_{\varrho_i} \Subset B_{\tau_2}$, where $\varrho_i := \tau_1 + (\tau_2 - \tau_1)2^{-i+1}$. Note that $\{\varrho_i\}$ is a decreasing sequence with $\varrho_1 = \tau_2$ and $\varrho_i \to \tau_1$, therefore it is $\bigcap_{i \in \mathbb{N}} B_{\varrho_i} = \overline{B_{\tau_1}}$ and $B_{\varrho_1} = B_{\tau_2}$. Accordingly, we fix corresponding cut-off functions $\{\eta_i\} \subset C_c^1(B)$ with $\mathbb{1}_{B_{\varrho_{i+1}}} \leq \eta_i \leq \mathbb{1}_{B_{\varrho_i}}$ and $|D\eta_i| \lesssim 1/(\varrho_i - \varrho_{i+1}) \approx 2^i/(\tau_2 - \tau_1)$. Choosing $\eta \equiv \eta_i$ in (6.29), elementary manipulations also based on (6.30) and (6.32) give that

$$\left(\int_{B_{\varrho_{i+1}}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{s_{i+1}} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{1/\chi} \le \frac{\left(c \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})} + c \right)^{2m} 2^{2mi} (\kappa_{i} + 1)^{2m}}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{2m}} \int_{B_{\varrho_{i}}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{s_{i}} + 1 \right] dx \quad (6.34)$$

holds whenever $\kappa_i \leq \bar{\kappa}$ and $i \geq 1$, with $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, T, c_b)$. Finally, we set $c_h := (c \|h\|_{L^d(\mathcal{B})} + c)^{2^*}$ and

$$\mathcal{G}_i := \left(\int_{B_{\varrho_i}} \left[\left[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \right]^{s_i} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{1/s_i}$$

so that (6.34) (recall that $2^* = 2m\chi$ by (6.14)) becomes

$$G_{i+1} \leq \left[\frac{c_h 2^{2^*i} (\kappa_i + 1)^{2^*}}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)^{2^*}}\right]^{\frac{1}{s_{i+1}}} G_i^{\frac{\chi s_i}{s_{i+1}}}$$

Iterating the above inequality yields that

$$\mathcal{G}_{i+1} \leq \prod_{j=0}^{i-1} \left[\frac{c_h 2^{2^*(i-j)} (\kappa_{i-j}+1)^{2^*}}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)^{2^*}} \right]^{\frac{\chi_j}{s_{i+1}}} \mathcal{G}_1^{\frac{\chi_i s_1}{s_{i+1}}} \text{ holds provided } \kappa_i \leq \bar{\kappa} .$$
(6.35)

Now, from (6.33) we deduce that

$$\frac{\chi^{i+1}}{s_{i+1}} \leq \frac{\chi(\chi-1)}{2m(\chi-1-\sigma-\hat{\sigma})}.$$
(6.36)

The function $t \mapsto t/\chi^t$ is decreasing on $[1/\log \chi, \infty)$ and using this fact one sees that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{j}{\chi^j} \lesssim \frac{1}{(\log \chi)^2} \le \frac{c}{(\chi - 1)^2} \,. \tag{6.37}$$

We then write

$$\begin{split} &\prod_{j=0}^{i-1} \left[\frac{c_h 2^{2^*(i-j)} (\kappa_{i-j}+1)^{2^*}}{(\tau_2-\tau_1)^{2^*}} \right]^{\frac{\chi J}{s_{i+1}}} \\ &= \exp\left\{ \log\left(\frac{c_h}{(\tau_2-\tau_1)^{2^*}}\right) \frac{1}{s_{i+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \chi^j + \frac{2^* \log 2}{s_{i+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} (i-j) \chi^j \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{2^*}{s_{i+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \chi^j \log(\kappa_{i-j}+1) \right\}, \end{split}$$

and note that, for every integer $i \ge 1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{s_{i+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \chi^j \stackrel{(\mathbf{6},\mathbf{36})}{\leq} c, \quad \frac{1}{s_{i+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} (i-j) \chi^j \leq c \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \frac{i-j}{\chi^{i-j}} \stackrel{(\mathbf{6},\mathbf{37})}{\leq} c$$

and

$$\frac{2^*\log 2}{s_{i+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \chi^j \log(\kappa_{i-j}+1) \stackrel{(6.32),(6.36)}{\leq} c \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \frac{i-j}{\chi^{i-j}} \stackrel{(6.37)}{\leq} c,$$

where $c \equiv c(n, d, \sigma, \tilde{\sigma})$ in all cases. Using the content of the last three displays yields

$$\prod_{j=0}^{i-1} \left[\frac{c_h 2^{2^*(i-j)} (\kappa_{i-j}+1)^{2^*}}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)^{2^*}} \right]^{\frac{\chi^j}{s_{i+1}}} \leq \frac{c}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)^{\beta}} < \infty,$$
(6.38)

where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}) \geq 1$ and $\beta \equiv \beta(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) \geq 1$. Note that such constants blow-up when $\chi \to 1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}$; in particular, this happens when $d \to n$. Using (6.38) in (6.35), and keeping (6.36) in mind, yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{i+1}}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq G_{i+1} \leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}} G_{1}^{\frac{\chi^{i}s_{1}}{s_{i+1}}} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{1}}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\frac{\chi^{i}s_{1}}{s_{i+1}}} + 1 \right], \quad (6.39) \end{aligned}$$

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})})$ and $\beta \equiv \beta(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma})$, for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\kappa_{i} \leq \bar{\kappa}$.

6.3. Sobolev Regularity

By (6.15) we have $1 \leq s_* < s_1 = 2m(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})$ so that, for every integer index $i \geq 1$, we consider the interpolation inequality

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_1}(B_{\tau_2})} \le \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{i+1}}(B_{\tau_2})}^{\lambda_{i+1}} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_*}(B_{\tau_2})}^{1-\lambda_{i+1}},$$
(6.40)

with λ_{i+1} being defined by

$$\frac{1}{s_1} = \frac{1 - \lambda_{i+1}}{s_*} + \frac{\lambda_{i+1}}{s_{i+1}} \Rightarrow \lambda_{i+1} = \frac{s_{i+1}(s_1 - s_*)}{s_1(s_{i+1} - s_*)}.$$
(6.41)

Let us show that, thanks to (6.15), there exist $\bar{\vartheta} \equiv \bar{\vartheta}(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) < 1$ and $i_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$i > i_1 \Longrightarrow \frac{\lambda_{i+1} \chi^i s_1}{s_{i+1}} \leq \bar{\vartheta} < 1.$$
 (6.42)

Indeed, for this it is sufficient to observe that

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_{i+1} \chi^{i} s_{1}}{s_{i+1}} \stackrel{(6.41)}{=} \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{\chi^{i} (s_{1} - s_{*})}{s_{i+1} - s_{*}}$$

$$= l_* := \frac{\chi - 1}{2m} \frac{2m(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}) - s_*}{\chi - 1 - \sigma - \hat{\sigma}} \stackrel{(6.15)}{<} 1.$$

Note that the last inequality is actually equivalent to (6.15) and that (6.15) is in fact implied by (4.15) for $s_* = 1$. Now, we consider the number p > 1 for the statement of Proposition 6.2, and determine another index $k \equiv k(p) > i_1$ such that $s_{k+1} \ge p$; accordingly, we consider the number κ_k related to s_k via (6.32). We now choose the number $\bar{\kappa} \equiv \bar{\kappa}(p)$ in (6.28) as $\bar{\kappa} := \kappa_k$, and accordingly we determine $R_* \equiv R_*(p)$ via (6.28). It follows that (6.39) holds in the case $i \equiv k$ and therefore we can plug (6.40) in it, thereby obtaining

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{k+1}}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{k+1}\chi^{k_{s_{1}}}}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\frac{\lambda_{k+1}\chi^{k_{s_{1}}}}{s_{k+1}}} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{\varepsilon}}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\frac{(1 - \lambda_{k+1})\chi^{k_{s_{1}}}}{s_{k+1}}} \\ &+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}} \,. \end{split}$$
(6.43)

On the other hand, as $k > i_1$, then (6.42) holds with $i \equiv k$; we can therefore apply Young inequality in (6.43); this yields

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{k+1}}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{k+1}}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \\ &+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta_{k}}} \Big[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{*}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{k}} + 1 \Big], \end{split}$$

where

$$\beta_k := \frac{s_{k+1}\beta}{s_{k+1} - \lambda_{k+1}\chi^k s_1} \quad \text{and} \quad \theta_k := \frac{(1 - \lambda_{k+1})\chi^{k+1} s_1}{s_{k+1} - \lambda_{k+1}\chi^k s_1} \,. \tag{6.44}$$

Lemma 3.2 with the choice $\mathcal{Z}(t) \equiv \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{k+1}}(B_t)}$, finally yields

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{s_{k+1}}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c}{(\varrho-\varsigma)^{\beta_k}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{s_*}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_k}+1\right],$$

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. This last inequality holds provided the bound in (6.15) holds. All in all, recalling (5.18)₂, (6.26) and that $p \leq s_{k+1}$, completes the proof of Proposition 6.2 with $\beta_p := \beta_{k(p)}, \theta_p := \theta_{k(p)}$. We remark that in (6.16) the exponents θ_p, β_p can be replaced by exponents $\tilde{\beta}, \tilde{\theta} \equiv \tilde{\beta}, \tilde{\theta}(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma})$ that are independent of *p*. For this, observe that

$$\begin{cases} \beta_k, \beta_p \stackrel{(6.44)}{\rightarrow} \frac{\beta}{1-l_*} =: \tilde{\beta}, \quad \lambda_k \stackrel{(6.41)}{\rightarrow} 1 - \frac{s_*}{s_1} \\ \theta_k, \theta_p \stackrel{(6.44)}{\rightarrow} \frac{\chi l_* s_*}{(s_1 - s_*)(1 - l_*)} := \tilde{\theta}, \end{cases}$$
(6.45)

when $k, p \to \infty$. The only dependence on p in (6.16) comes through the threshold radius R_* ; it is $R_*(p) \to 0$ as $p \to \infty$ unless $f \equiv 0$.

Remark 8. In the proof of Proposition 6.2, assume that $g_{2,\varepsilon}/g_{2,\varepsilon} \leq c_b$ as in (5.30), and that $\sigma = \hat{\sigma}$ (compare with the assumptions of Theorem 4.4). It is then easy to see that $\sigma + \hat{\sigma}$ can be replaced by $\hat{\sigma}$, everywhere, starting from (6.29). This finally reflects in the same replacement in (6.15); in particular, we can assume $\hat{\sigma} < s_*/n - s_*/d$.

6.4. A Lipschitz Bound in the Homogeneous Case $f \equiv 0$

The above reasoning, eventually culminating in Proposition 6.2, immediately leads to a priori Lipschitz estimates when $f \equiv 0$. The result, when combined with the approximation of Section 7 below, extends those in [61,62,64] to the case of nonautonomous functionals with superlinear growth as in (1.1). For this, the key observation is that it is not any longer necessary to consider balls with small radii R_* as in (6.28), as the last term in (6.27) does not appear. Therefore we can take everywhere, and in particular in (6.16), $R_* = 1$, independently of the value of p. It follows we can let $p \to \infty$ in (6.16), and recalling (6.45) we conclude with

Proposition 6.3. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) for $n \ge 2$ and with $f \equiv 0$. Moreover, replace (4.15) by the weaker $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$. If $B_{\varsigma} \Subset B_{\rho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} , then

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c}{(\varrho-\varsigma)^{\tilde{\beta}}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\tilde{\theta}} + 1 \right],$$

holds with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}) \geqq 1, \tilde{\beta}, \tilde{\theta} \equiv \tilde{\beta}, \tilde{\theta}(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) > 0.$

Notice that here we are using Proposition 6.2 with the choice $s_* = 1$. Note also that Proposition 6.2 refers to the case n > 2. The remaining two dimensional case can be obtained via minor modifications to the proof of Proposition 6.2, by choosing $2^*/2$ large enough (see 2.2) in order to get $\chi > 1$ in (6.14). Anyway, the two dimensional case n = 2 will be treated in Section 6.7 directly for the general case $f \neq 0$. In that situation the proof cannot be readapted from the one of Proposition 6.2 as for Proposition 6.3.

6.5. Caccioppoli Inequality on Level Sets

This is in the following:

Lemma 6.4. (Caccioppoli inequality) Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) for $n \ge 2$, and let $B_r(x_0) \Subset \mathcal{B}$ be a ball. Then

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B_{r/2}(x_0)} |D(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_+|^2 dx \\ &\leq \frac{c}{r^2} \|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}^{\vartheta\sigma} \int_{B_r(x_0)} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_+^2 dx \\ &+ c \int_{B_r(x_0)} [h(x)]^2 [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} dx \\ &+ c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}^2 \int_{B_r(x_0)} |f|^2 dx \end{split}$$
(6.46)

holds whenever $\kappa \ge 0$, with $c \equiv c(\text{data})$ and $\vartheta \equiv \vartheta(\gamma)$ is as in (4.15).

Proof. For $s \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we take $\varphi_s := \eta^2(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_+ D_s u$ in (6.17), where $\eta \in C_c^1(B_r(x_0))$ satisfies $\mathbb{1}_{B_{r/2}(x_0)} \le \eta \le \mathbb{1}_{B_r(x_0)}$ and $|D\eta| \le 1/r$. Admissibility of φ_s follows by (6.5) and (6.10). Note that all the integrals stemming from (6.17) extend over $\mathcal{B}^{\kappa} := \mathcal{B} \cap \{G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) > \kappa\}$; in particular, by the very definition of G_{ε} , we can always restrict to the case it is |Du| > T and $g_{1,\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) > 0$ (recall 4.6). We start expanding the terms resulting from (6.17)

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot D\varphi_{s} dx$$

$$= \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot DD_{s} u dx$$

$$+ \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot [D_{s} u \otimes D(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}] dx$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) DD_{s} u \cdot D_{s} u \otimes D\eta dx$$

$$=: (IV)_{z} + (V)_{z} + (VI)_{z}. \qquad (6.47)$$

Moreover, it is

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot D\varphi_{s} dx$$

$$= \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot DD_{s} u dx$$

$$+ \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot (D_{s} u \otimes D(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}) dx$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \partial_{x_{s}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) \cdot (D_{s} u \otimes D\eta) dx$$

$$=: (IV)_{x} + (V)_{x} + (VI)_{x}. \qquad (6.48)$$

By (6.9) we have

$$(\mathrm{IV})_{z} \ge \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |D^{2}u|^{2} dx =: \mathcal{S}_{3} \quad (6.49)$$

and for later use we also define

$$\mathcal{S}_4 := \int_{\mathcal{B}^\kappa} \eta^2 |D(G_\varepsilon(x, |Du|) - k)_+|^2 \, dx \,. \tag{6.50}$$

We then consider two different cases.

Case 1: $1 < \gamma < 2$ *in* (4.4), *and therefore it is* $\vartheta = 2$. We proceed estimating the terms $(V)_z$ and $(VI)_z$. The estimate for the term $(V)_z$ is similar to the one for

(II)_z in (6.20), see in particular those for the terms (II)_{z,3} and (II)_{z,4}; indeed, again using (5.15), (5.29), (5.31), (6.3) and (6.13), we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{V})_{z} &\geq \mathcal{S}_{4} - c \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} h(x) [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,s)]^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} |D(G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)-k)_{+}| \, dx \\ &\geq \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{S}_{4} - c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} [h(x)]^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} \, dx \,, \end{aligned}$$

with $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, c_b)$. Using (6.7)–(6.12), we then have

$$\begin{split} \left(\text{VI} \right)_{z} &= 2 \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \frac{\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot D\eta \, dx \\ &+ 2 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}(|Du|) (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \frac{\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x, |Du|) |Du|}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du|^{2}} \\ &\times (DG_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \cdot Du^{\alpha}) (Du^{\alpha} \cdot D\eta) \, dx \\ &- 2 \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \frac{\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} \\ &\times \left(\int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t \, dt \cdot D\eta \right) \, dx \\ &- 2 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}(|Du|) (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+} \frac{\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x, |Du|) |Du|^{2}}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du|^{2}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t \, dt \cdot Du^{\alpha} \right) (Du^{\alpha} \cdot D\eta) \, dx \, . \end{split}$$

Using (5.29), (5.31), (6.3)-(6.4), and Young inequality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathrm{VI})_{z}| &\leq \frac{1}{4} \mathscr{S}_{4} + \frac{c}{r^{2}} \|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(x_{0}))}^{2\sigma} \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2} dx \\ &+ c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} [h(x)]^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\hat{\sigma})} dx , \end{aligned}$$
(6.51)

where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_b)$. Gathering the content of displays from (6.47) to (6.51), and using them in (6.17), some further elementary estimations we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{3} + \mathcal{S}_{4} &\leq c |(\mathrm{IV})_{x}| + c |(\mathrm{V})_{x}| + c |(\mathrm{VI})_{x}| \\ &+ \frac{c}{r^{2}} \|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(x_{0}))}^{\vartheta\sigma} \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2} dx \\ &+ c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} [h(x)]^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} dx \\ &+ c \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} |f \cdot D_{s} \varphi_{s}| dx \end{split}$$
(6.52)

where $\vartheta = 2$ and $c \equiv c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, c_b)$.

Case 2: $\gamma \ge 2$ *in* (4.4), *and therefore it is* $\vartheta = 1$. In this case we use that the function $t \mapsto \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t)$ is non-decreasing, so that $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$ is non-negative (when it exists). We note that

$$(V)_{z} + (VI)_{z}$$

$$(6.11)_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du| \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot D_{s} u \otimes D |Du| dx$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - k)_{+} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot D_{s} u \otimes D\eta dx$$

$$+ \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} \partial_{z} a_{\varepsilon}(x, Du) DD_{s} u \cdot D_{s} u \otimes \int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, t) t dt dx$$

$$=: (V)_{z,1} + (VI)_{z} + (V)_{z,2}.$$

$$(6.53)$$

In turn, we have

$$(\mathbf{V})_{z,1} \stackrel{(\mathbf{6.7})}{=} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |D| |Du||^{2} |Du|^{2} dx$$

$$+ \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|) \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x, |Du|) |Du|$$

$$\times (D|Du| \cdot Du^{\alpha})^{2} dx$$

$$\stackrel{(\mathbf{5.15}), \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(\cdot) \geq 0}{\geq} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} [g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du|]^{2} |D| |Du||^{2} dx .$$

$$(\mathbf{6.54})$$

For $(VI)_z$, keeping in mind the identity in the last display, we again use (6.7) and $\bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(\cdot) \ge 0$ to estimate via Young inequality as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} 4|(\mathrm{VI})_{z}| &\leq 8 \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta(G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)-k)_{+}\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)|Du||D||Du||D||dx \\ &+8 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta(G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)-k)_{+}\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,|Du|) \\ &\times |(D||Du| \cdot Du^{\alpha})(Du^{\alpha} \cdot D\eta)|dx \\ &\leq (\mathrm{V})_{z,1} + c \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \frac{(G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)-k)_{+}^{2}}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)} \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)|D\eta|^{2}dx \\ &+ c \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \frac{(G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)-k)_{+}^{2}}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|)\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,|Du|) \\ &\times \frac{(Du^{\alpha} \cdot D\eta)^{2}}{|Du|}dx \\ &\leq (\mathrm{V})_{z,1} + \frac{c}{r^{2}} \|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(x_{0}))}^{\sigma} \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2}dx \end{aligned}$$

As for $(V)_{z,2}$, by letting

$$\mathcal{G} := \int_{T}^{|Du|} \partial_{x} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,t) t \, dt \Longrightarrow |\mathcal{G}| \stackrel{(5.31)}{\leq} ch(x) [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x,|Du|)]^{1+\hat{\sigma}}, \quad (6.55)$$

we have, again using that $\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}'(\cdot) \geq 0$,

$$4|(\mathbf{V})_{z,2}| \stackrel{(6.7)}{\leq} 4 \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^2 \bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du| |D| |Du| \cdot \mathcal{G}| dx$$

$$+ 4 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^2 \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(|Du|) \bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)$$

$$\times |(D| Du| \cdot Du^{\alpha}) (Du^{\alpha} \cdot \mathcal{G})| dx$$

$$\stackrel{(6.54)}{\leq} (\mathbf{V})_{z,1} + c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \frac{\eta^2 [\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) + \bar{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) |Du|]}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} |\mathcal{G}|^2 dx$$

$$\stackrel{(5.16)_{2}}{\leq} (\mathbf{V})_{z,1} + c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \frac{g_{2,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} |\mathcal{G}|^2 dx$$

$$\stackrel{(5.29),(6.55)}{\leq} (\mathbf{V})_{z,1} + c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} [h(x)]^2 [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{\sigma+2(1+\hat{\sigma})} dx.$$

$$(6.56)$$

On the other hand, we have

$$S_{4} \stackrel{(6.11)}{\leq} c \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} \left([g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)|Du|]^{2} |D|Du||^{2} + |\mathscr{G}|^{2} \right) dx$$

$$\stackrel{(6.55)}{\leq} c \int_{\mathscr{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} \left([g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)|Du|]^{2} |D|Du||^{2} + |h(x)|^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\hat{\sigma})} \right) dx$$

$$\stackrel{(6.54)}{\leq} c(V)_{z,1} + c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} [h(x)]^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\hat{\sigma})} dx . \quad (6.57)$$

Assembling the content of displays from (6.53) to (6.57) and using it in (6.17), we again conclude with (6.52), but this time with $\vartheta = 1$. We proceed estimating the *x*-terms coming from (6.52) (these have been defined in (6.48)), using (5.13)_{3,4}, (5.37) as follows:

$$\begin{split} |(\mathrm{IV})_{x}| + |(\mathrm{V})_{x}| &\leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{3} + \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{4} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \eta^{2} [h(x)]^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma)} dx ,\\ |(\mathrm{VI})_{x}| &\stackrel{(5.37)_{1}}{\leq} \frac{c}{r^{2}} \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)^{2}_{+} dx \\ &+ c \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} [h(x)]^{2} [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\sigma)} dx , \end{split}$$

with $c \equiv c(\text{data})$ and arbitrary $\bar{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$. Finally, the estimate of the terms involving f can be done by using Young inequality and (5.27) as follows:

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} |f \cdot D_{s}\varphi_{s}| dx \leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{3} + \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{4} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} |D\eta|^{2} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)^{2}_{+} dx + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} \left[\frac{(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}}{g_{1,\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)} + |Du|^{2} \right] |f|^{2} dx \leq \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{3} + \bar{\varepsilon} \mathcal{S}_{4} + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}r^{2}} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)^{2}_{+} dx + \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}} \|Du\|^{2}_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} \eta^{2} |f|^{2} dx ,$$
(6.58)

for $c \equiv c(\text{data})$ and arbitrary $\bar{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$. Collecting the estimates in the last three displays to (6.52), recalling that recalling that $\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot) \geq 1$, and selecting $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ sufficiently small in order to reabsorb terms, we complete the proof of Lemma 6.4. \Box

6.6. Nonlinear Iterations

In this section we finally derive pointwise gradient bounds. This goes via Lemma 6.5 and Proposition 6.6 below.

Lemma 6.5. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) for n > 2. If $B_{2r_0}(x_0) \Subset \mathcal{B}$ is a ball such that x_0 is a Lebesgue point of |Du|, then

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x_{0}, |Du(x_{0})|) \leq \kappa + c \|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(x_{0}))}^{n\vartheta\sigma/4} \left(\int_{B_{r_{0}}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} + c \|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(x_{0}))}^{(n-2)\vartheta\sigma/4} \times \left[\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) + \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} \mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) \right]$$
(6.59)

holds for all $\kappa \ge 0$, with $c \equiv c(data)$, where $\vartheta \equiv \vartheta(\gamma)$ is as in (4.15), and

$$\mathfrak{h}(x) := h(x) [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} .$$
(6.60)

Proof. Note that we can assume that $|Du(x_0)| > T$, otherwise (6.59) is trivial by the very definition of G_{ε} ; this obviously implies $||Du||_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))} > T$. Let us first note that x_0 is also a Lebesgue point of $x \mapsto G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du(x)|)$ and it is

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B_r(x_0)} G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du(x)|) \, dx = G_{\varepsilon}(x_0, |Du(x_0)|) \,, \tag{6.61}$$

i.e., the right-hand side denotes the precise representative of $G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du(\cdot)|)$ at the point x_0 . Indeed, note that

$$\limsup_{r \to 0} \oint_{B_r(x_0)} |G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du(x)|) - G_{\varepsilon}(x_0, |Du(x_0)|)| dx$$

$$\leq \limsup_{r \to 0} \int_{B_r(x_0)} |G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du(x)|) - G_{\varepsilon}(x_0, |Du(x)|)| dx + \limsup_{r \to 0} \int_{B_r(x_0)} |G_{\varepsilon}(x_0, |Du(x)|) - G_{\varepsilon}(x_0, |Du(x_0)|)| dx =: \limsup_{r \to 0} C_1(r) + \limsup_{r \to 0} C_2(r) .$$
(6.62)

As x_0 is a Lebesgue point for Du, $t \mapsto G_{\varepsilon}(x_0, t)$ is locally Lipschitz-regular, and Du is locally bounded, we have

$$\lim_{r \to 0} C_2(r) \lesssim \lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B_r(x_0)} ||Du(x)| - |Du(x_0)|| \, dx = 0 \,. \tag{6.63}$$

As for the term $C_1(\cdot)$, we have, also using Fubini's

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}_1(r) &\leq \int_{B_r(x_0)} \int_T^{\max\{|Du(x)|,T\}} |g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s) - g_{1,\varepsilon}(x_0,s)| s \, ds \, dx \\ &\leq \int_T^{\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}} \oint_{B_r(x_0)} |g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s) - g_{1,\varepsilon}(x_0,s)| \, dx \, s \, ds \\ &\leq \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}^2 \sup_{s \in [T, \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}]} \oint_{B_r(x_0)} |g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s) - g_{1,\varepsilon}(x_0,s)| \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Recall that $g_1(\cdot)$ is assumed to be continuous on $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$. By the definition in (5.7), this implies that also $g_{1,\varepsilon}$ is continuous and therefore it is uniformly continuous on $\overline{B_{r_0}(x_0)} \times [T, \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}]$. This and the content of the last display it is sufficient to infer that $C_1(r) \to 0$ as $r \to 0$. This fact, together with (6.62)–(6.63), yields (6.61). Thanks to (6.46) we can verify (3.3) with the choices $v(\cdot) \equiv G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du(\cdot)|), f_1 \equiv \mathfrak{h}, f_2 \equiv f, M_1 \equiv \|\overline{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}^{\vartheta \sigma/2}$, $M_2 \equiv 1$ and $M_3 \equiv \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_0}(x_0))}$. Applying Lemma 3.1, inequality (3.4) yields (6.59).

Proposition 6.6. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1), under assumptions set in (4.20) for n > 2. There exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}, \mathfrak{f}(\cdot)) \leq 1$ such that if $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$ and $B_{\varsigma} \Subset B_{\varrho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} , then

$$[E_{\varepsilon}(\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})})]^{\gamma} + \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})}$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{(\varrho-\varsigma)^{\beta}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + \|f\|_{L^{(n,1)}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + 1\right]$$
(6.64)

holds with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}) \geq 1$ and $\beta, \theta \equiv \beta, \theta(n, d, \gamma, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) > 0$.

Proof. We take numbers τ , $p \equiv \tau$, $p(n, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma})$ such that

$$0 < \tau < d - n \text{ and } p := \frac{(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})(n + \tau)d}{d - n - \tau},$$
 (6.65)

where d > n is the exponent from (4.15), and fix $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}, \mathfrak{f}(\cdot)) > 0$ as the radius from Proposition 6.2, so that (6.16) holds such p. With $B_{\varsigma} \Subset B_{\varrho}$ being the balls considered in the statement, with no loss of generality we can assume that $||Du||_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})} \ge T$ otherwise the assertion in (6.64) is trivial by choosing *c* large enough. Let $\varrho_1 := \varsigma + (\varrho - \varsigma)/2$ and consider concentric balls $B_{\varsigma} \subseteq B_{\tau_1} \subseteq B_{\tau_2} \subseteq B_{\varrho_1} \subseteq B_{\varrho}$, a point $x_0 \in B_{\tau_1}$ which is a Lebesgue point for |Du|, and $r_0 := (\tau_2 - \tau_1)/8$, so that $B_{2r_0}(x_0) \subseteq B_{\tau_2}$. Needless to say, a.e. point in B_{τ_1} qualifies. By (6.26) we find that

$$\|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_0}(x_0))} \leq (T^2 + 1)^{\gamma/2} \Big[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_2})} + 1 \Big].$$
(6.66)

This and $(5.19)_1$ imply that

$$\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \le c \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{1/\gamma} + c$$
(6.67)

for $c \equiv c(\nu, \gamma, T)$. We then apply (6.59) on $B_{r_0}(x_0)$, and also using (6.66)–(6.67) and Hölder inequality (by (6.65) it is $p \ge 2$), we obtain

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x_{0}, |Du(x_{0})|) \leq cr_{0}^{-n/p} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{n\vartheta\sigma/4} + 1 \right] \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} + c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(n-2)\vartheta\sigma/4} + 1 \right] \times \left[\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) + \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) \right],$$
(6.68)

with $c \equiv c(\text{data})$. With (6.16) (where we take $\xi \equiv r_0$ and $\varrho \equiv 2r_0$) we further bound

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} \leq cr_{0}^{-\beta_{p}}\left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}}+1\right],$$

for $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. Using also (6.67) in (6.68), recalling that $x_0 \in B_{\tau_1}$ is a arbitrary Lebesgue point for |Du|, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{n/p + \beta_{p}}} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{n\vartheta\sigma/4} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1\right] \\ &+ c\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(n-2)\vartheta\sigma/4} \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \\ &+ c\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(n-2)\vartheta\sigma/4 + 1/\gamma} \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \\ &+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{n/p + \beta_{p}}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1\right] \\ &+ c\|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} + c\|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})}, \quad (6.69) \end{split}$$

where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})})$. Now, observe that (4.15) implies

$$n\sigma\vartheta/4 < 1$$
 and $(n-2)\sigma\vartheta/4 < 1 - 1/\gamma$, (6.70)

therefore we can apply Young's inequality in (6.69) to end up with

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_1})} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_2})}$$

$$+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta_{*}}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{*}} + 1 \right] + c \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})}^{\theta_{*}} + c \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})}^{\theta_{*}} + c, \qquad (6.71)$$

where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$ where it is $\beta_*, \theta_* \equiv \beta_*, \theta_*(n, d, \gamma, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) > 0$. Inequality (6.71) allows to apply Lemma 3.2 with the obvious choice $\mathcal{Z}(t) := ||G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)||_{L^{\infty}(B_t)}$, and this leads to

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c}{(\varrho - \varsigma)^{\beta_{\ast}}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{\ast}} + 1 \right]$$
$$+ c \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, (\varrho - \varsigma)/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho_{1}})}^{\theta_{\ast}}$$
$$+ c \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, (\varrho - \varsigma)/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho_{1}})}^{\theta_{\ast}} + c \quad (6.72)$$

for $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})})$. By using $(3.1)_{1}$, we infer that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{J}(\cdot, (\varrho - \varsigma)/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho_{1}})} \leq c \|f\|_{L(n,1)(B_{\varrho})}.$$

Moreover, with $\rho_2 := \rho_1 + (\rho - \varsigma)/4$; also using (6.65) and Hölder inequality yields (recall that $s_* = 1$)

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, (\varrho - \varsigma)/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho_{1}})} \stackrel{(3.1)_{1}}{\leq} c\|\mathfrak{h}\|_{L(n,1)(B_{\varrho_{2}})} \\ \stackrel{(3.2)}{\leq} c(\tau)\|\mathfrak{h}\|_{L^{n+\tau}(B_{\varrho_{2}})} \\ \stackrel{(6.60)}{\leq} c\|h\|_{L^{d}(B_{\varrho})}\|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\varrho_{2}})}^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} \\ \stackrel{(6.16)}{\leq} \frac{c\|h\|_{L^{d}(B_{\varrho})}\left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}+1\right]}{(\varrho - \varsigma)^{\beta_{p}(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}},$$

$$(6.73)$$

where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. We have applied Proposition 6.2 with the choice $s_* = 1$, so that (6.15) is verified by the assumption (4.15)₁. Inserting the above two estimates in (6.72) and recalling also (5.11) and (5.19)₁, we finally end up with (6.64), where $\beta := \max\{\beta_*, \beta_p \theta_*(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})\}$ and $\theta := \max\{\theta_*, \theta_p \theta_*(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})\}$.

6.7. The Case n = 2

Here we consider the missing two-dimensional case. We start with the following lemma, which is a hybrid counterpart of Proposition 6.2, in the sense that the a priori estimate involved still contains the L^{∞} -norm of Du in the right-hand side (we recall that the number *m* has been defined in (6.14)):

Lemma 6.7. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1) under assumptions set in (4.20) for n = 2, where we replace (4.15)₂ by

$$\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < \frac{s_*}{2} - \frac{s_*}{d} = \frac{s_*}{2m}, \text{ for some } s_* \text{ such that } 1 \leq s_* < 2m(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}).$$
(6.74)

If $B_{\varsigma} \subseteq B_{\rho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} , then, for every $p \ge 1$, there holds

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c}{(\varrho - \varsigma)^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{\ast}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right]$$

+ $c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho})} \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{\varrho})}$ (6.75)

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}, p) \ge 1, \beta_{p}, \theta_{p} \equiv \beta_{p}, \theta_{p}(d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}, p) > 0.$

Proof. We can confine ourselves to prove (6.75) for sufficiently large p, and we consider

$$p > \max\left\{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}), \frac{2ms_*}{s_* - 2m(\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}\right\} = \frac{2ms_*}{s_* - 2m(\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}.$$
 (6.76)

The last equality comes from the second inequality in (6.74). Note that such a choice is possible thanks to (6.74), making the denominator of the last quantity different than zero. In the following lines all the balls will be concentric to B_{ϱ} . We look back at the proof of Proposition 6.2, take $\kappa = 0$ to obtain the test function $\varphi_s = \eta^2 G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) D_s u$ for $s \in \{1, ..., n\}$, and perform exactly the same calculations made there up to (6.23). For the terms $(I)_f$ -(III)_f involving the right-hand side f, we note that, as $\kappa = 0$, the test maps φ_s used in the proof of Propositions 6.2 and Lemma 6.4 do coincide (actually, we take $\kappa = 0$ in both Propositions 6.2 and Lemma 6.4). Therefore we can use estimate (6.58), where $c \equiv c(\text{data})$ and $\overline{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$; here \mathcal{S}_3 and \mathcal{S}_4 have been defined in (6.49) and (6.50), respectively. All together, choosing $\overline{\varepsilon} > 0$ small enough and re-absorbing terms in a standard way, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{3} + \mathcal{S}_{4} &\leq c(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} + 1) \\ & \times \left(\int_{\mathcal{B}} (\eta^{2m} + |D\eta|^{2m}) \left[[G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} + 1 \right] dx \right)^{1/m} \\ & + c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho})}^{2} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta^{2} |f|^{2} dx , \end{split}$$
(6.77)

for $c \equiv c(\text{data})$. As it is $|D\eta| \lesssim 1/(\tau_2 - \tau_1)$, elementary manipulations on (6.77) yield

$$\begin{split} \|D(\eta G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|))\|_{L^{2}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{2} &\leq \frac{c(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})} + 1)^{2}}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{2}} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{2(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} \\ &+ \frac{c(\|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})} + 1)^{2}}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{2}} + c\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho})}^{2} \int_{B_{\tau_{2}}} |f|^{2} dx \end{split}$$

so that Sobolev embedding gives

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \leq c_{p}\tau_{2}^{2/p}\|D(\eta G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|))\|_{L^{2}(B_{\tau_{2}})}$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)} \| G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) \|_{L^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}(B_{\tau_2})}^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} + \frac{c}{(\tau_2 - \tau_1)} + c \| Du \|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho})} \| f \|_{L^2(B_{\tau_2})},$$
(6.78)

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. With $\lambda_p \in (0, 1)$ being defined through

$$\frac{1}{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})} = \frac{1-\lambda_p}{s_*} + \frac{\lambda_p}{p} \Rightarrow \lambda_p = \frac{p[2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})-s_*]}{2m(p-s_*)(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})},$$

using the interpolation inequality

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{2m(1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \leq \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\lambda_{p}}\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{*}}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{1-\lambda_{p}}$$

in (6.78), we get

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{1}})} & \leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\lambda_{p}(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{*}}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(1 - \lambda_{p})(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})} \\ & + \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})} + c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho})} \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \,. \end{split}$$

Using (6.74) and (6.76), we see that $\lambda_p(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}) < 1$, thus Young inequality gives

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \\ &+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{s_{\ast}}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right] + c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varrho})} \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \end{split}$$

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})})$ and

$$\beta_p := \frac{2m(p-s_*)}{s_*p - 2m[s_* + p(\sigma + \hat{\sigma})]} \text{ and } \theta_p := \frac{s_*p - 2ms_*(1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})}{s_*p - 2m[s_* + p(\sigma + \hat{\sigma})]}.$$
(6.79)

Lemma 3.2 with the choice $\mathcal{Z}(t) \equiv ||G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)||_{L^{p}(B_{t})}$ now gives (6.75). \Box

We finally come to the a priori gradient bound in the two dimensional case.

Proposition 6.8. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1) under assumptions set in (4.20) for n = 2. If $B_{\varsigma} \subseteq B_{\varrho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} , then

$$[E_{\varepsilon}(\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})})]^{\gamma} + \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})}$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{(\varrho-\varsigma)^{\beta}} \left[\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + \|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + 1\right], \qquad (6.80)$$

holds with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}) \geqq 1, \beta, \theta \equiv \beta, \theta(d, \gamma, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}) > 0.$

Proof. We proceed as for the proof of Proposition 6.6, keeping the notation used there, including (6.65). By Lemma 6.4 we use Lemma 3.1 with the choice made at the end of the proof of Lemma 6.5, and this for n = 2 gives

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x_{0}, |Du(x_{0})|) \leq cr_{0}^{-2/p} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(1+\delta)\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} + c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\delta\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \times \left[\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, 2r_{0}) + \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, 2r_{0}) \right],$$

$$(6.81)$$

for every $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$, where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}, \delta)$ and ϑ is as in (4.15). Then (6.75) gives

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} \leq cr_{0}^{-\beta_{p}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{2r_{0}})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right] + c\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r_{0}})}$$

where p is as in (6.65) with n = 2, $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}, p)$ and β_p, θ_p are as in (6.79). Note that here we are using Lemma 6.7 with the choice $s_* = 1$, which is allowed as the assumption gives that $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/2 - 1/d$, which is (4.15) for n = 2. Combining the last two estimates, that hold for a.e. $x_0 \in B_{\tau_1}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{2/p + \beta_{p}}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(1+\delta)\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right] \\ &+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{2/p}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{(1+\delta)\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{\varrho})} \\ &+ c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\delta\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \\ &\times \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \\ &+ c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\delta\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot, (\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \\ &=: T_{1} + T_{2} + T_{3} + T_{4} \,, \end{split}$$
(6.82)

for $c \equiv c(\text{data}, \|h\|_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}, \delta)$. To estimate the *T*-terms we take δ such that

$$(1+\delta)\vartheta\sigma/2 + 1/\gamma < 1$$
 and $\delta\vartheta\sigma/2 + (1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma})/\gamma < 1$ (6.83)

hold, which is in turn possible by $(4.15)_2$; this fixes δ as a function of σ , $\tilde{\sigma}$, γ . We then have

$$T_{1} \stackrel{(6.83)}{\leq} \frac{1}{8} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + \frac{c\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}},$$

$$T_{2} \stackrel{(6.67)}{\leq} \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{2/p}} [\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1]^{(1+\delta)\vartheta\sigma/2 + 1/\gamma} \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{\varrho})}$$

$$\stackrel{(6.83)}{\leq} \frac{1}{8} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + \frac{c\|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}},$$

$$\stackrel{(3.1)_{2}, (6.67)}{T_{3}} \stackrel{c}{\leq} c[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1]^{\delta\vartheta\sigma/2 + 1/\gamma} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}$$

$$\stackrel{(6.83)}{\leq} \frac{1}{8} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + c\|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + 1,$$

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. Here, as in the following lines, θ , β denote positive exponents depending on d, γ , σ , $\hat{\sigma}$; they might change from line to line according to the same convention used to denote a generic constant c. To estimate the last term T_4 we again use Lemma 6.7 with $s_* = 1$. Therefore, we set $\tau_3 := (\tau_1 + \tau_2)/2$ so that $\tau_2 - \tau_3 = (\tau_2 - \tau_1)/2$, and, recalling (6.65) for n = 2, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(\cdot,(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1})/4)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\stackrel{(3.1)_{2}}{\leq} c \|\mathfrak{h}\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\tau_{3}})} \\ &\stackrel{(3.2)}{\leq} c(\tau)\|\mathfrak{h}\|_{L^{2+\tau}(B_{\tau_{3}})} \\ &\stackrel{(6.60)}{\leq} c \|h\|_{L^{d}(B_{\tau_{3}})}\|\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{p}(B_{\tau_{3}})}^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} \\ &\stackrel{(6.75)}{\leq} \frac{c}{(\tau_{2}-\tau_{1})^{\beta_{*}}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\theta_{*}}+1\right] \\ &\quad + c \left[\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}\|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{\tau_{2}})}\right]^{1+\sigma+\hat{\sigma}} \end{split}$$

for $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. Using the above inequality and $(5.19)_1$, we end up with

$$\begin{split} T_{4} &\leq \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta_{*}}} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\delta\vartheta\sigma/2} + 1 \right] \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta_{*}} + 1 \right] \\ &+ c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{\delta\vartheta\sigma/2 + (1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma})/\gamma} + 1 \right] \|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{1 + \sigma + \hat{\sigma}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{8} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{2} + \frac{c \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}} + c \|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} \end{split}$$

where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$, and we have used the second condition in (6.83). Plugging the estimates for the *T*-terms in (6.82) yields

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \\ &+ \frac{c\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c\|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{\beta}} \end{split}$$

for new exponents θ , β as in the statement. Lemma 3.2 allows now to conclude with

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,|Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c\|f\|_{L^{2}(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + c}{(\varrho - \varsigma)^{\beta}},$$

where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})})$. Finally, (6.80) follows from this last estimate, (5.18) and (5.19)₁. The proof is complete.

7. Proofs of Theorems 4.1 and 4.3

We start with the proof of Theorem 4.3, where, in particular, we assume $f \in L^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and n > 2. We fix p as in statement and, without loss of generality, we assume that $p > 1 + \sigma$ (σ being as in (4.15)). Then, for every integer $j \ge 1$, we define $f_j \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ as $f_j(x) := f(x)$ if $|f(x)| \le j$, and $f_j(x) := j|f(x)|^{-1}f(x)$ otherwise. It clearly follows that

$$|f_j| \leq |f|$$
 for every $j \geq 1$, $f_j \to f$ in $L^n(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$. (7.1)

Next, we determine $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}, f(\cdot), p) \leq 1$ according to Proposition 6.2. Pay attention here; with some abuse of notation, the f used here is not the same from Proposition 6.2, but rather corresponds to \mathfrak{f} from (6.1) in the context of Proposition 6.2 (and thanks to (7.1), f_j corresponds to f in Proposition 6.2). Accordingly, we fix a ball $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ such that $\mathfrak{r}(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$. We consider a decreasing sequence of positive numbers $\{\varepsilon_j\}$ such that $\mathfrak{r}(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$. We consider a decreasing sequence of positive numbers $\{\varepsilon_j\}$ such that $\varepsilon_j \leq \min\{1, T\}/4$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$, and, accordingly, we consider the families of functions $\{F_j\} \equiv \{F_{\varepsilon_j}\}, \{G_j\} \equiv \{G_{\varepsilon_j}\}$ constructed in (5.4). Note now that any minimizer u of the functional \mathcal{F} in (1.1) belongs to $W_{\text{loc}}^{1,\gamma}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ by (5.20)₁. This allows to define $u_j \in u + W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ as the solution to

$$u_{j} \mapsto \min_{\substack{w \in u + W_{0}^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B};\mathbb{R}^{N})}} \mathcal{F}_{j}(w;\mathcal{B})$$

$$:= \min_{\substack{w \in u + W_{0}^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B};\mathbb{R}^{N})}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[F_{j}(x, Dw) - f_{j} \cdot w \right] dx.$$

Directs Methods of the Calculus of Variations apply here and ensure existence (see for instance [4, Section 4.4]). As for [4, (4.55)], and recalling $(5.20)_2$ and (5.22), we find

$$\|F_{j}(\cdot, Du_{j})\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})} + \|Du_{j}\|_{L^{\gamma}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma}$$

$$\leq c \left[\|F(\cdot, Du) + 1\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})} + [r(\mathcal{B})]^{n} \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)}\right]$$
(7.2)

for every $j \ge 1$, where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, T)$. This implies we can assume that, up to a not relabelled subsequence, $Du_j \rightharpoonup D\tilde{u}$ weakly in $L^{\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ and $u_j \rightarrow \tilde{u}$ strongly in $L^{\frac{n}{n-1}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$, for some $\tilde{u} \in u + W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$. Note that Proposition 6.2 applies to u_j with the choice $s_* = 1$, as (6.15) is satisfied assuming that $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$, which is the case here by (4.15) in set. The application of Proposition 6.2, and (6.16), now give that

$$\|G_{j}(\cdot, |Du_{j}|)\|_{L^{p}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta_{p}}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right]$$
(7.3)

holds for every $s \in (0, 1)$, for new exponents β_p , $\theta_p \equiv \beta_p$, $\theta_p(n, \gamma, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}, p) > 0$, where we have also used (7.2) to bound the right-side coming from (6.16); *c* depends on data and $||h||_{L^d(\mathcal{B})}$. We fix $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, and apply (5.33) with $j \ge j_0$ in (7.3), to get

$$\|G_{j_0}(\cdot, |Du_j|)\|_{L^p(\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta_p} [r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta_p}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^1(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_p} + \|f\|_{L^n(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_p} + 1 \right].$$
(7.4)

Letting $j \to \infty$ in the above inequality, and using weak lower semicontinuity (recall that $G_{j_0}(\cdot)$ is convex and non-decreasing, by (5.17), $\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon_{j_0}$, therefore $z \mapsto G_{j_0}(\cdot, |z|)$ is convex), yields

$$\|G_{j_{0}}(\cdot, |D\tilde{u}|)\|_{L^{p}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta_{p}}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right].$$
(7.5)

This holds for every $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and therefore, by finally letting $j_0 \to \infty$ (by Fatou's lemma) and recalling (5.33), we conclude with

$$\|G(\cdot, |D\tilde{u}|)\|_{L^{p}(\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta_{p}}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta_{p}}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + \|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta_{p}} + 1 \right],$$
(7.6)

for every $s \in (0, 1)$, where $c \equiv c(\text{data}, ||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})})$ and $\beta_{p}, \theta_{p} \equiv \beta_{p}, \theta_{p}(n, \gamma, d, \sigma, \hat{\sigma}, p) > 0$. Next, we trivially write

$$\mathcal{F}_{j_0}(u_j; s\mathcal{B}) \le \mathcal{F}_j(u_j; s\mathcal{B}) + \|F_j(\cdot, Du_j) - F_{j_0}(\cdot, Du_j)\|_{L^1(s\mathcal{B})} + \|(f_{j_0} - f_j) \cdot u_j\|_{L^1(s\mathcal{B})}$$
(7.7)

whenever $s \in (0, 1)$. Properties (7.1)–(7.2), Hölder and Sobolev-Poincaré inequalities give

$$\mathcal{F}_{j}(u_{j};s\mathcal{B}) \leq \mathcal{F}_{j}(u_{j};\mathcal{B}) + \|f_{j} \cdot u_{j}\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B} \setminus s\mathcal{B})} \leq \mathcal{F}_{j}(u;\mathcal{B}) + c\|f\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B} \setminus s\mathcal{B})},$$
(7.8)

where c is independent of s, j and we have used minimality of u_j . Using (5.42) with $\varepsilon_1 \equiv \varepsilon_j$, $\varepsilon_2 \equiv \varepsilon_{j_0}$, $w \equiv u_j$, $B \equiv s\mathcal{B}$ (recall it is $p > 1 + \sigma$) and (7.4), we have

$$\|F_{j}(\cdot, Du_{j}) - F_{j_{0}}(\cdot, Du_{j})\|_{L^{1}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq c(1-s)^{-\beta_{p}} \circ (j_{0})$$
(7.9)

where *c* is independent of *s*, *j*, *j*₀. Again Sobolev-Poincaré inequality (7.1) and (7.2) give $||(f_{j_0} - f_j) \cdot u_j||_{L^1(s\mathcal{B})} \leq c ||f_{j_0} - f_j||_{L^n(s\mathcal{B})}$, with *c* independent of *s*, *j*, *j*₀. Using this last inequality and (7.8)–(7.9) in (7.7), and finally letting $j \rightarrow \infty$, lower semicontinuity yields

$$\mathcal{F}_{j_0}(\tilde{u};s\mathcal{B}) \leq \mathcal{F}(u;\mathcal{B}) + c \|f\|_{L^n(\mathcal{B}\setminus s\mathcal{B})} + c \|f_{j_0} - f\|_{L^n(\mathcal{B})} + c(1-s)^{-\beta_p} \circ (j_0).$$
(7.10)

Note that we have used (5.22) and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem to get $\mathcal{F}_j(u; \mathcal{B}) \to \mathcal{F}(u; \mathcal{B})$. In turn, again note that (7.6) ensures that $G(\cdot, |D\tilde{u}|) \in L^p(s\mathcal{B})$ and therefore allows to apply (5.43); this yields

$$\|F(\cdot, D\tilde{u}) - F_{j_0}(\cdot, D\tilde{u})\|_{L^1(s\mathcal{B})} \le c(1-s)^{-\beta_p} \circ (j_0),$$

so that $\mathcal{F}_{j_0}(\tilde{u}; s\mathcal{B}) \to \mathcal{F}(\tilde{u}; s\mathcal{B})$ as $j_0 \to \infty$, where we also use (7.1). In view of this, letting first $j_0 \to \infty$ and then $s \to 1$ in (7.10), yields $\mathcal{F}(\tilde{u}; \mathcal{B}) \leq \mathcal{F}(u; \mathcal{B})$. This and the minimality of *u* finally give $\mathcal{F}(u; \mathcal{B}) = \mathcal{F}(\tilde{u}; B)$, therefore, by standard convexity arguments, see for instance [4, Section 4.4], we end up with

either
$$\max\{|Du(x)|, |D\tilde{u}(x)|\} \le T$$
 or $Du(x) = D\tilde{u}(x)$ (7.11)

for a.e. $x \in \mathcal{B}$. Using this information in (7.6) yields (4.24) and concludes the proof of Theorem 4.3. Observe that, in order to justify the content of Remark 4 it is sufficient to note that making the a priori estimate (7.3) only requires the bound $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$.

We now come to the proof of Theorem 4.1. We can again use the same approximation employed for Theorem 4.3. Using this time estimate (6.64) for the case n > 2 and estimate (6.80) when n = 2, together with (7.2), we find

$$[E_{\varepsilon_{j}}(\|Du_{j}\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})})]^{\gamma} + \|G_{j}(\cdot, |Du_{j}|)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})}$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + 1\right]$$
(7.12)

for every $s \in (0, 1)$, where c, β, θ have the same dependencies as in (6.64). It follows that for every $s \in (0, 1)$ there exists M_s such that $\|Du_j\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq M_s$, for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Using a standard diagonalization argument we infer that, up to a not relabelled subsequences, we have that $u_j \rightarrow^* \tilde{u}$ in $W_{\text{loc}}^{1,\infty}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ for some $\tilde{u} \in u + W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ being such that $\|D\tilde{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq M_s$. Moreover, we can repeat verbatim the argument of Theorem 4.3 leading to (7.11). Now, denoting j_s the first integer such that $1/\varepsilon_{j_s} > M_s$, from the very definition of $G_j \equiv G_{\varepsilon_j}$ in (5.11), it follows that $\|G_j(\cdot, |Du_j|)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} = \mathfrak{g}_1 \|G(\cdot, |Du_j|)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})}$, for every $j \geq j_s$. Therefore, letting $j \to \infty$ in (7.12), and using (7.11), yields (4.22) and the proof of Theorem 4.1 is complete too. Notice that here we are using standard lower semicontinuity theorems for supremal functionals with respect to the weak* convergence in $W_{\text{loc}}^{1,\infty}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ (see for instance [3]).

Remark 9. Let us discuss the case $f \equiv 0$. We start by the case n > 2; the first relation in (6.70) is already implied by $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$. Moreover, note that the second condition in (6.70) appears only when $f \not\equiv 0$. This is the only point in the proof of Theorem 4.1 where the full bound in (4.15)₁ is required; otherwise $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$ is sufficient. Alternatively, one can apply directly Proposition 6.3 instead of Proposition 6.2 in the proof of Theorem 4.1. When n = 2 and $f \equiv 0$, (6.83) turns into $(1 + \delta)\vartheta\sigma/2 < 1$ and $\delta\vartheta\sigma/2 < 1$, that are implied by $\sigma + \hat{\sigma} < 1/2 - 1/d$ by taking δ small enough (see estimate of T_4 in Proposition 6.8). Finally, note that in the case $\gamma \geq 2$, the minimum in (4.15) is attained by 1/n - 1/d. All in all, we have justified the content of Remark 3.

8. Uniform Ellipticity and Proof of Theorem 4.2

Here we work under assumptions $s \in t_u$ in (4.20); we keep the full notation introduced in Sects. 5 and 6. In particular, we keep on considering a solution $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ to (6.1) in a ball $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ such that $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq 1$. With the current choice of g_1, g_2, g_3 as in (4.19), we apply the constructions laid down in Section 5, thereby obtaining, in particular, the new functions $\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}, g_{1,\varepsilon}, g_{2,\varepsilon}, g_{3,\varepsilon}$ in (5.3) and (5.7)–(5.9). The last three functions are now independent of x, as well as G_{ε} defined in (5.11). Note that (4.19)₂ from $s \in t_u$ implies the validity of (4.18) with $c_b \equiv c_u$ and $\sigma = 0$. Therefore we can use all the properties from Section 5, and displayed through Lemmas 5.1–5.4, implied by assumptions (4.1)–(4.4) and (4.18). In particular, we can use Lemma 5.4 with $\sigma = 0$. In addition to such properties, we have

Lemma 8.1. Under assumptions set_u in (4.20), we have that

- The following inequalities hold for every $t \in [T, \infty)$:

$$\begin{cases} g_{1,\varepsilon}(t) \le g_{2,\varepsilon}(t) \le \tilde{c}_u g_{1,\varepsilon}(t) \\ g_{3,\varepsilon}(t) \le \tilde{c}_u g_{1,\varepsilon}(t)t \end{cases}$$

$$(8.1)$$

where $\tilde{c}_u \equiv \tilde{c}_u(n, N, v, \gamma, c_u) \ge 1$, and

$$\frac{1}{2\tilde{c}_u}g_{1,\varepsilon}(t)t^2 \le G_{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{\mathfrak{g}_1}{2}g_1(T)T^2 \le \frac{\tilde{c}_u}{2}g_{1,\varepsilon}(t)t^2.$$
(8.2)

– Moreover, for every $x \in \Omega$ and $t \ge 0$, it holds that

$$G_{\varepsilon}(t) \leq \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \leq cG_{\varepsilon}(t) + cg_1(T)(T^2 + \mu_{\varepsilon}^2), \quad c \equiv c(data_u).$$
(8.3)

Proof. Properties (8.1) are immediate and follow from (4.19), also recalling (4.6), therefore we concentrate on (8.2). As for the right-hand side of (8.2), integration by parts yields

$$\int_{T}^{t} \left[\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s) + \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,s)s \right] s \, ds = -\int_{T}^{t} \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s)s \, ds + \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)t^2 - \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,T)T^2,$$
(8.4)

and therefore, recalling the definition in (5.7), we have

$$G_{\varepsilon}(t) \stackrel{(5.16)_2}{\leq} \int_T^t \left[\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s) + \tilde{a}'_{\varepsilon}(x,s)s \right] s \, ds$$

$$\stackrel{(5.15),(8.1)}{\leq} -G_{\varepsilon}(t) + \tilde{c}_{u}g_{1,\varepsilon}(t)t^2 - \mathfrak{g}_{1}g_{1}(T)T^2;$$

that is, the right-hand side of (8.2). As for the left-hand side, we similarly have

$$G_{\varepsilon}(t) \stackrel{(\mathbf{5}.\mathbf{16})_{2},(\mathbf{8}.\mathbf{1})}{\geq} \frac{1}{\tilde{c}_{\mathrm{u}}} \int_{T}^{t} \left[\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,s) + \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}'(x,s)s \right] s \, ds$$

$$\stackrel{(\mathbf{5}.\mathbf{15}),(\mathbf{8}.\mathbf{4})}{\geq} - \frac{1}{\tilde{c}_{\mathrm{u}}} \int_{T}^{t} g_{2,\varepsilon}(s)s \, ds + \frac{1}{\tilde{c}_{\mathrm{u}}} \left[\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)t^{2} - \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(x,T)T^{2} \right]$$

$$\stackrel{(5.7),(8.1)}{\geq} -G_{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\tilde{c}_{\mathrm{u}}}g_{1,\varepsilon}(t)t^2 - \mathfrak{g}_1g_1(T)T^2.$$

We turn to (8.3). The left-hand side inequality is nothing but $(5.18)_3$ (that holds whenever $|z| \ge 0$). For the right-hand side inequality, when $t \le T$ we have, similarly to (5.28),

$$\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) \stackrel{(4.19)_{2,}(5.28)}{\leq} c \left[\frac{g_{1}(T)}{(T^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}}} + \varepsilon \right] (T^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}^{2})^{\gamma/2}$$

$$\stackrel{(4.6)}{\leq} cg_{1}(T)(T^{2} + \mu^{2}).$$

When t > T, we note that (5.15) and (8.1) imply $\bar{a}_{\varepsilon}(x, s) \leq cg_{1,\varepsilon}(s)$, that implies $\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x, t) - \tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}(x, T) \leq cG_{\varepsilon}(t)$, from which (8.3) follows again using the content of the last display. \Box

Proposition 8.2. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a solution to (6.1), under assumptions $set_u in (4.20)$ for $n \ge 2$. There exists a positive radius $R_* \equiv R_*(data_u, h(\cdot)) \le 1$ such that if $r(\mathcal{B}) \le R_*$ and $B_{\varsigma} \Subset B_{\varrho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} , then

$$\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\xi})} + \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\xi})}$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{(\varrho - \xi)^{n}} \|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})} + c\left[\|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)} + 1\right]$$
(8.5)

holds with $c \equiv c(data_u)$, where $\mathfrak{X}(\cdot)$ has been defined in (1.9).

Proof. We start taking a ball $B_r(x_0) \in \mathcal{B}$ (therefore it is r < 1), and prove that

$$\int_{B_{r/2}(x_0)} |D(G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|) - \kappa)_+|^2 dx \le \frac{c}{r^2} \int_{B_r(x_0)} (G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|) - \kappa)_+^2 dx$$
$$+ c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))} + 1 \right]^2 \int_{B_r(x_0)} |h|^2 dx$$
$$+ c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}^2 \int_{B_r(x_0)} |f|^2 dx$$
(8.6)

holds whenever $\kappa \ge 0$, with $c \equiv c(data_u)$. This is an analogue of (6.46) and to get it we modify the proof of Lemma 6.4, keeping the notation used there. Proceeding as for the bounds for $(IV)_z - (VI)_z$ in Lemma 6.4, we have

$$\mathcal{S}_{3} + \mathcal{S}_{4} \leq c |(\mathrm{IV})_{x}| + c |(\mathrm{V})_{x}| + c |(\mathrm{VI})_{x}| + \frac{c}{r^{2}} \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2} dx$$
$$+ c \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{\mathcal{B}^{\kappa}} |f \cdot D_{s}\varphi_{s}| dx , \qquad (8.7)$$

with $c \equiv c(\text{data}_u)$. This estimate can be obtained by adapting those in (6.49)–(6.51), and also those for the terms in (6.20). One must take into account that now $g_{1,\varepsilon}$ is independent of x (therefore the terms coming from the use of (5.31) and

1034

featuring $h(\cdot)$ disappear), and the fact that we can formally take $\sigma \equiv 0$ as the ratio $g_{2,\varepsilon}/g_{1,\varepsilon}$ is bounded by a constant by $(8.1)_1$. In turn, the last term in (8.7) involving the right-hand side f can be treated exactly as in (6.58). As for the remaining *x*-terms appearing in the first line of (8.7), with the help of (5.13)₃, (8.1) and (8.2), we estimate

$$\begin{aligned} c|(\mathrm{IV})_{x}| + c|(\mathrm{VI})_{x}| &= \bar{\varepsilon}\mathcal{S}_{3} + \bar{\varepsilon}\mathcal{S}_{4} + \frac{c}{r^{2}}\int_{B_{r}(x_{0})}(G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2}dx \\ &+ \frac{c}{\bar{\varepsilon}}\int_{\mathcal{B}}\eta^{2}|h|^{2}[G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|) + 1]^{2}dx \,, \end{aligned}$$

for $c \equiv c(\text{data}_u)$ and $\bar{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$. Merging the content of the above two displays, choosing $\bar{\varepsilon} \equiv \bar{\varepsilon}(\text{data}_u)$ small enough, and reabsorbing terms, we end up with (8.6), where $c \equiv c(\text{data}_u)$. As a consequence, we proceed as for the proofs of Lemma 6.5 and Proposition 6.6. An application of Lemma 3.1 gives that, if $B_{2r_0}(x_0) \Subset \mathcal{B}$ is any ball, then

$$G_{\varepsilon}(|Du(x_{0})|) \leq cr_{0}^{-n/2} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1 \right]^{1/2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{1/2} + c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1 \right] \mathbf{P}_{1}^{h}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) + c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1 \right]^{1/\gamma} \mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(x_{0}, 2r_{0})$$
(8.8)

holds provided x_0 is a Lebesgue point of |Du|, where $c \equiv c(data_u)$, and we have also used $(5.19)_1$. Next, (3.1) gives that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{h}(\cdot, 2r_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \lesssim \|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})} \text{ and } \|\mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(\cdot, 2r_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})}.$$

Using these informations in (8.8) yields

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} + 1 \\ &\leq cr_{0}^{-n/2} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1 \right]^{1/2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\tau_{2}})}^{1/2} + 1 \\ &+ c_{*} \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1 \right] \|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})} \\ &+ c \left[\|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} + 1 \right]^{1/\gamma} \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})}, \end{split}$$
(8.9)

where $c, c_* \equiv c, c_*(\text{data}_u)$. By absolute continuity, we now determine the radius $R_* \equiv R_*(\text{data}_u, h(\cdot))$ mentioned in the statement in such a way that

$$r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_* \Longrightarrow c_* \|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})} \leq c_* \|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})} \leq 1/6.$$
(8.10)

Using this and Young inequality in (8.9), and yet recalling that $r_0 := (\tau_2 - \tau_1)/8$, gives

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{1}})} &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_{2}})} \\ &+ \frac{c}{(\tau_{2} - \tau_{1})^{n}} \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{1}(B_{\varrho})} + c \left[\|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B_{\varrho})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)} + 1 \right]. \end{split}$$

Inequality (8.5) now follows using Lemma 3.2 with $\mathcal{Z}(t) := \|G_{\varepsilon}(|Du|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_t)}$ and (8.3). \Box

With Proposition 8.2 available, we can now complete the proof of Theorem 4.2. Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.1 in Section 7 (as usual with $F_j \equiv F_{\varepsilon_j}$ and so on), and arrive up to (7.12), the analog of which in the present context is

$$\|F_j(\cdot, Du_j)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^n [\mathfrak{r}(\mathcal{B})]^n} \|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^1(\mathcal{B})} + c \left[\|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)} + 1\right]$$

where c depends on data_u (again recall the equivalence in (8.3)). The rest of the proof again follows with minor modifications to the proof for Theorem 4.1.

9. Proof of Theorem 4.4

We revisit the proof of Theorem 4.1 starting from the part concerning the a priori estimates of Section 6 in the case n > 2. In turn, this uses as a preliminary result Proposition 6.2 for $s_* = 1$, that now works only assuming $\hat{\sigma} < 1/n - 1/d$, as allowed by (4.25). This relies on the condition $g_2/g_1 \leq c_b$ in (4.25), that via (5.29) also implies $g_{2,\varepsilon}/g_{1,\varepsilon} \leq c$. Then Remark 8 can be used and we can replace $\sigma + \hat{\sigma}$ by $\hat{\sigma}$ in (6.15). The same arguments of Remark 8 also apply in the proof of Lemma 6.4, and yield the following simplified form of (6.46):

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{r/2}(x_0)} |D(G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_+|^2 \, dx &\leq \frac{c}{r^2} \int_{B_r(x_0)} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_+^2 \, dx \\ &+ c \int_{B_r(x_0)} [h(x)]^2 [\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{2(1+\hat{\sigma})} \, dx \\ &+ c \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0))}^2 \int_{B_r(x_0)} |f|^2 \, dx \, . \end{split}$$

This last inequality still holds when n = 2. Using it as in Lemma 6.5 yields

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x_{0}, |Du(x_{0})|) \leq \kappa + c \left(\oint_{B_{r_{0}}(x_{0})} (G_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|) - \kappa)_{+}^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} + c \left[\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) + \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r_{0}}(x_{0}))} \mathbf{P}_{1}^{f}(x_{0}, 2r_{0}) \right], \quad (9.1)$$

for every $\kappa \ge 0$, which is in fact the analog of (6.59) in the present setting. Here it is $\mathfrak{h}(x) := h(x)[\bar{G}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Du|)]^{1+\hat{\sigma}}$. From this last inequality we again arrive at (6.64) exactly as in the proof of Proposition 6.6 (needless to say, for different exponents θ and β). Here the key observation is that we do not have to verify the two conditions in (6.70), that in fact are not occurring (actually they occur taking formally $\sigma = 0$). It is only the second, and more restrictive one, that requires the stronger bound in (4.15), that can therefore be relaxed in (4.25). Starting from this fact, the rest of the proof is the same as the one of Theorem 4.1 in the case n > 2, again replacing $\sigma + \hat{\sigma}$ by $\hat{\sigma}$. In the case n = 2 the argument is similar. First, we use Lemma 6.7, again with $s_* = 1$, and, as for the case n > 2, this works replacing $\sigma + \hat{\sigma}$ by $\hat{\sigma}$ in

(6.74). Next, we apply this time (9.1), thereby getting (6.81) (with formally $\sigma = 0$) and then (6.82), with $||G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|)||_{L^{\infty}(B_{\tau_2})}$ replaced by 1. From this point on, the proof goes as in the previous case; the only remark is that now the first condition in (6.83) does not appear as a consequence of the new version of (6.82), and this new bound is exactly the one appearing in (4.25) upon considering only $\hat{\sigma}$.

10. Proof of Theorems 1.1-1.7

10.1. Theorems 1.1 and 1.2

We just verify that the assumptions of Theorem 1.1 imply those of Theorem 4.1 for suitable choices of objects and parameters. For this we take $\gamma = p$, $g_i(x, t) \equiv$ $g_i(t), i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, where $g_1(t) := \nu(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2}, g_2(t) := \Lambda(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(q-2)/2} + \Lambda(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2}$ and $g_3(t) := (t^2 + \mu^2)^{(q-2)/2}t + (t^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2}t$, for all $t \in (0, \infty)$. It follows that $G(x, t) \equiv G(t) = \nu[(t^2 + \mu^2)^{p/2} - (T^2 + \mu^2)^{p/2}]/p$ (for $t \ge T$ and it is zero otherwise) and $\bar{G}(x, t) \equiv \bar{G}(t) = G(t) + (T^2 + 1)^{p/2} \ge C$ $v(t^2 + \mu^2)^{p/2} + (p - v)/p$. Here, any number $T \in (0, \infty)$ is fine. By (1.13)–(1.15) we see that F satisfies (4.1)–(4.4). Note that (4.16) holds with $\hat{\sigma} = 0$ since g_1 is x-independent. As for (4.17)–(4.18), we verify them choosing $\sigma = q/p - 1$, for a suitably large constant $c_{\rm b} \equiv c_{\rm b}(n, N, \nu, p, q, \Lambda) \ge 1$. With such a choice of σ , and $\hat{\sigma} = 0$ as above, the condition in (4.15) is implied by the assumed one in (1.16). All in all, assumptions (4.14)–(4.18) are verified too and and we can apply Theorem 4.1 to get Theorem 1.1. Finally, the last assertion concerning the improved bound in (1.17) follows from the content of Remark 3 and this completes the proof of Theorem 1.1. Theorem 1.2 is a special case of Theorem 1.1, upon taking $h(\cdot) \approx |D\mathfrak{c}(\cdot)|$. For this, just observe that the convexity of $z \to F(z)$, and the growth assumptions (1.13), imply also that $\tilde{F}'(t) \leq (t^2 + \mu^2)^{(q-2)/2} t + (t^2 + \mu^2)^{(p-2)/2} t$, thereby allowing to verify also (1.15) for the integrand $(x, t) \mapsto c(x)\tilde{F}(t)$.

10.2. Theorem 1.3

As all our estimates are local in nature, we can assume that $H(\cdot, Du) \in L^1(\Omega)$, where the integrand $H(\cdot)$ has been defined in (1.10); moreover, by localizing Morrey's embedding theorem, we can also assume that $[a]_{0,1-n/d;\Omega} + ||a||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}$ is finite. Similarly to (4.21), we denote

$$data_{h} := (n, \nu, N, p, q, d, [a]_{0,1-n/d;\Omega}, \|a\|_{L^{\infty}}, \|H(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}}, \|f\|_{L^{n}}).$$
(10.1)

Here $[a]_{0,1-n/d;\Omega}$ denotes the usual (1-n/d)-Hölder seminorm of $a(\cdot)$ on Ω , and all the norms extend over Ω . The proof now proceeds in three steps.

Step 1: Quantification of Ellipticity We refer to the framework of Theorem 4.4. We define, for $x \in \Omega$ and t > 0, $g_1(x, t) := \min\{p - 1, 1\}[t^{p-2} + a(x)t^{q-2}]$, $g_2(x, t) := 2qNn[t^{p-2} + a(x)t^{q-2}]$, $g_3(x, t) \equiv g_3(t) := t^{q-1}$ that implies $G(x, t) := \min\{p - 1, 1\}[(t^p/p + a(x)t^q/q) - (1/p + a(x)/q)]$ (here we take T = 1 and $\mu = 0$, $\bar{G}(x, t) = G(x, t) + 2^{p/2}$ and $g_2/g_1 \leq c_b$ for $t \geq 1$, where $c_b \equiv c_b(\text{datah})$. We also set $h(\cdot) = |Da(\cdot)|$, $\sigma = \hat{\sigma} := q/p - 1$, $\gamma = p$. We now observe that, replacing $\leq by < in$ the first bound from (1.19), we can immediately conclude with the local Lipschitz continuity of minima invoking Theorem 4.4, whose assumptions, and in particular (4.25), are satisfied but in the limiting/equality case. In order to get the delicate equality in (1.19), we have to readapt some points from the proof of Theorem 4.4 using some additional results available when the peculiar structure in (1.10) is considered.

Step 2: Uniform Higher Integrability We modify and extend arguments from [24,25,29].

Lemma 10.1. Let $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of the functional in (1.10), under assumptions (1.2) and $0 \leq a(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ with (1.17). There exists $s_{**} \equiv s_{**}(\text{data}_h) > 1$ such that $H(\cdot, Du) \in L^{s_{**}}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$.

Proof. Consider concentric balls $B_{\varrho} \subset B_t \in B_s \subset B_R$ contained in Ω , then take a standard cut-off function $\eta \in C_c^1(B_R)$ so that $\mathbb{1}_{B_t} \leq \eta \leq \mathbb{1}_{B_s}$ and $|D\eta| \lesssim 1/(s-t)$. We take $w := u - \eta(u - (u)_{B_R})$ as competitor to minimality, that yields $\|H(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^1(B_s)} \leq \|H(\cdot, Dw)\|_{L^1(B_s)} + \|\eta f \cdot (u - (u)_{B_R})\|_{L^1(B_s)}$. The first term in the right-hand side of this last inequality can be handled as in [24, Section 9], while by Sobolev and Young inequalities we have

$$\|\eta f \cdot (u - (u)_{B_R})\|_{L^1(B_s)} \leq \|f\|_{L^n(B_s)} \|\eta (u - (u)_{B_R})\|_{L^{n/(n-1)}(B_s)}$$

$$\leq cR^{n-n/p} \|f\|_{L^n(\Omega)} \|Du\|_{L^p(B_s)} + \frac{cR^{n-n/p}}{s-t} \|f\|_{L^n(\Omega)} \|u - (u)_{B_R}\|_{L^p(B_s)}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{4} \|H(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^1(B_s)} + c \int_{B_R} \tilde{H}\left(x, \frac{|u - (u)_{B_R}|}{s-t}\right) dx + cR^n, \qquad (10.2)$$

where $c \equiv c(n, p, q, ||f||_{L^{n}(B)})$. This last estimate together with the arguments developed in [24, Section 9], leads to the reverse Hölder inequality

$$\left(\int_{B_{R/2}} [H(\cdot, Du)]^{1+\delta} dx\right)^{1/(1+\delta)} \leq c \int_{B_R} [H(\cdot, Du)] dx + c$$

for $c \equiv c(\text{data}_h) \geq 1$, $\delta \equiv \delta(\text{data}_h) > 0$, which in turn allows us to conclude via a covering argument.

Let $B \subseteq \Omega$ be a ball with $r(B) \le 1$. As is [24,25], we say that the *p*-phase occurs when

$$a_{i}(B) := \inf_{x \in B} a(x) \leq 4[r(B)]^{1-n/d} [a]_{0,1-n/d;B}$$
(10.3)

holds, otherwise we say that the (p, q)-phase occurs. Accordingly, we define the integrand $\tilde{H}_B^-(|z|) := |z|^p/p + a_i(B)|z|^q/q$. Finally, let $\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$, $\tilde{H}_{B,\varepsilon}^-(\cdot)$ be the integrands defined by applying the construction in Section 5.1, (5.3)–(5.4), to $\tilde{H}(\cdot)$ and $\tilde{H}_B^-(\cdot)$, respectively, with $\gamma = p$ and g_1, g_2, g_3 defined in *Step 1* and T = 1.

Such a construction provides us with approximating integrands that are still of double phase type, i.e.,

$$\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \int_0^t \tilde{h}_{\varepsilon}(x,s) s \, ds + \varepsilon \int_0^t (s^2 + \varepsilon^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} s \, ds \,, \tag{10.4}$$

where

$$\tilde{h}_{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \begin{cases} \frac{\varepsilon^{p-2}}{(2\varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}}} (t^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \\ +a(x) \frac{\varepsilon^{q-2}}{(2\varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}}} (t^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [0,\varepsilon) \\ t^{p-2} + a(x)t^{q-2} & \text{if } t \in [\varepsilon, T_{\varepsilon}) \\ \frac{T_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}}} (t^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \\ +a(x) \frac{T_{\varepsilon}^{q-2}}{(T_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}}} (t^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} & \text{if } t \in [T_{\varepsilon}, \infty) , \end{cases}$$
(10.5)

with the same representation holding for $\tilde{H}_{B,\varepsilon}^{-}(\cdot)$, replacing $a(\cdot)$ by $a_i(B)$ in (10.5) above; here it is $T_{\varepsilon} = 1 + 1/\varepsilon$. Next, we develop an intrinsic Sobolev-Poincaré inequality involving $H_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$; the main point is that the implied constants and exponents are independent of ε .

Lemma 10.2. Assume that $0 \leq a(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ with (1.17). Let $B \in \Omega$ be a ball with $r(B) \leq 1$ and $w \in W_0^{1,p}(B; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and $v \in W^{1,p}(B; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be such that $H_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Dw), H_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Dv) \in L^1(B)$. Then, the following Sobolev and Sobolev-Poincaré inequalities hold:

$$\int_{B} \tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}\left(x, \frac{|w|}{r(B)}\right) dx \leq c \left(\int_{B} [\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Dw|) + 1]^{\tau} dx\right)^{1/\tau}$$
(10.6)

 $c \equiv c(n, N, p, q, d, [a]_{0,1-n/d;B}, \|Dw\|_{L^{p}(B)})$ and

$$\oint_{B} \tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}\left(x, \frac{|v-(v)_{B}|}{r(B)}\right) dx \leq c \left(\oint_{B} [\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Dv|) + 1]^{\tau} dx\right)^{1/\tau}, \quad (10.7)$$

for $c \equiv c(n, N, p, q, d, [a]_{0,1-n/d;B}, ||Dv||_{L^{p}(B)})$. In both cases it is $\tau \equiv \tau(n, p, q) \in (0, 1)$.

Proof. We prove (10.6), the proof of (10.7) being totally similar. We start considering the *p*-phase; this is when (10.3) occurs. In this case, recalling (10.4)–(10.5), we bound

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B} \tilde{H}_{\varepsilon} \left(x, \frac{|w|}{r(B)} \right) dx \\ &\leq c \varepsilon^{p} [r(B)]^{n} + c \int_{B \cap \{\varepsilon \leq |w|/r(B) < T_{\varepsilon}\}} \left(\int_{\varepsilon}^{|w|/r(B)} g_{1}(x,s) s \, ds \right) dx \\ &+ c \int_{B \cap \{|w|/r(B) \geq T_{\varepsilon}\}} \left(\int_{\varepsilon}^{|w|/r(B)} g_{1,\varepsilon}(x,s) s \, ds \right) dx \end{split}$$

+
$$c\varepsilon[r(B)]^n \left(\oint_B |Dw|^{p_*} dx \right)^{p/p_*} =: (I) + (II) + (III) + (IV)$$

where $c \equiv c(n, p, [a]_{0,1-n/d;B})$. Now, note that the assumed bound in (1.17) implies $p_* \leq q_* < p$, where $b_* := \max\{1, nb/(n+b)\}$, for $b \in \{p, q\}$. Therefore using again Sobolev-Poincaré and Hölder's inequalities, we estimate

$$(\mathrm{II}) + (\mathrm{III}) \leq c \int_{B} [(|w|/r(B))^{p} + a(x)(|w|/r(B))^{q}] dx + c \int_{B \cap \{|w|/r(B) \geq T_{\varepsilon}\}} [T_{\varepsilon}^{p} + a(x)T_{\varepsilon}^{q} + a(x)T_{\varepsilon}^{q-p}(|w|/r(B))^{p}] dx \stackrel{(10.3)}{\leq} c[r(B)]^{n} \int_{B} [(|w|/r(B))^{p} + [r(B)]^{1-n/d}(|w|/r(B))^{q}] dx \leq c[r(B)]^{n} \left(\int_{B} |Dw|^{p_{*}} dx\right)^{p/p_{*}} + c[r(B)]^{n+1-n/d} \left(\int_{B} |Dw|^{p} dx\right)^{q/p-1} \left(\int_{B} |Dw|^{p(q_{*}/p)} dx\right)^{p/q_{*}} \stackrel{(1.17)}{\leq} c[r(B)]^{n} \left(\|Dw\|_{L^{p}(B)}^{q-p} + 1\right) \left(\int_{B} |Dw|^{p\tilde{\tau}} dx\right)^{1/\tilde{\tau}},$$

with $c \equiv c(n, N, p, q, d, [a]_{0,1-n/d;B})$ and $\tilde{\tau} := q_*/p < 1$. Merging the content of the last two displays above easily yields

$$\oint_{B} \tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}\left(x, \frac{|w|}{r(B)}\right) dx \leq c \left(\oint_{B} [\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Dw|) + 1]^{\tilde{\tau}} dx\right)^{1/\tilde{\tau}}$$
(10.8)

for $c \equiv c(n, N, p, q, d, [a]_{0,1-n/d;B} ||Dw||_{L^{p}(B)}^{q-p})$. We then pass to the (p, q)-phase, that is, when the complementary condition to (10.3) holds; here we follow the arguments from [25, Section 4]. It is then easy to see that $\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(x, z) \sim \tilde{H}_{B,\varepsilon}^{-}(z)$ for $(x, z) \in B \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$. Moreover, recalling that $H_{B,\varepsilon}^{-}$ can be written as in (10.4)-(10.5) with $a(\cdot)$ replaced by $a_i(B)$, it follows that $\tilde{H}_{B,\varepsilon}^{-}$ satisfies both Δ_2 and ∇_2 conditions (with constants depending on n, p, q, but independent of ε). We are therefore in position to argue as in the proof of [33, Theorem 7], thereby again arriving at (10.8), for a different exponent $\tilde{\tau} \equiv \tau(n, p, q) \in (0, 1)$. At this stage the proof of (10.6) follows merging the inequalities found in the two cases, and taking the largest of the two exponents $\tilde{\tau}$ found for the two phases. \Box

Given the inequalities in (10.6)–(10.7), and the representation in (10.4)–(10.5), we can proceed for instance as in [29, Lemma 5] to get a global gradient integrability result; this also involves estimates as in (10.2) to treat the additional *f*-terms appearing here with respect to the case considered in [29]. This involves a matching of local and up-to-the-boundary versions of Gehring's lemma (see [49]).

1040

Lemma 10.3. Let $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \Omega$ be a ball with $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq 1$. Under assumptions (1.2), and $0 \leq a(\cdot) \in W^{1,d}(\Omega)$ with (1.17), let $u_{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,p}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ solve

$$u_{\varepsilon} \mapsto \min_{w} \int_{\mathcal{B}} [\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(x, |Dw|) - f \cdot w] \, dx \qquad w \in u + W_0^{1, p}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N) \,, \quad (10.9)$$

where $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ is a minimizer of the functional in (1.10). Then there exists $s_* \in (1, s_{**})$, depending only on datah, but not on ε , such that

$$\|\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du_{\varepsilon}|) + 1\|_{L^{s_*}(\mathcal{B})} \leq c \|\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du|) + 1\|_{L^{s_*}(\mathcal{B})}$$
$$\leq c \|\tilde{H}(\cdot, |Du|) + 1\|_{L^{s_*}(\mathcal{B})}$$
(10.10)

holds for a constant $c \equiv c(data_h)$, where s_{**} is the exponent coming from Lemma 10.1.

We finally remark that the constants appearing in (10.10) should a priori depend also on $||Du_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{p}(B)}$, as Lemma 10.2 is involved in the derivation of Lemma 10.3 (see again [29]), and it is used with the choices $w \equiv u_{\varepsilon}$ and $v \equiv u_{\varepsilon}$. Such a dependence on ε does not actually occur; indeed, adapting estimate (7.2) to the present case leads to bounds as $||Du_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{p}(B)}^{p} \leq ||H(\cdot, Du) + 1||_{L^{1}(B)} + [r(B)]^{n} ||f||_{L^{n}(B)}^{p/(p-1)}$, thereby reducing the dependence of the constants on data_h in (10.1). This fact is indeed used to prove the intermediate last inequality in (10.10) with an ε -independent constant *c*. The last inequality in (10.10) is instead a direct consequence of (5.22). In turn, the last quantity in (10.10) is finite by Lemma 10.1.

Step 3: Completion of the Proof of Theorem 1.3 We proceed almost verbatim as in the proof of Theorem 4.4. We start with the case n > 2; the only difference here is that we apply Proposition 6.2 with $s_* > 1$ being equal to the higher integrability exponent found in Lemma 10.3. With no loss of generality we may assume that $s_* < \min\{2m(1 + \hat{\sigma}), 2^*\} = \min\{2mq/p, 2^*\}$, as required in (6.15) (applied with $\sigma = 0$). Note that this is possible when $\hat{\sigma} < s_*/n - s_*/d$ and therefore, in particular, when $\hat{\sigma} \leq 1/n - 1/d$, which is the case considered here. Indeed, with the choice made in Step 1, this last condition translates in $q/p \le 1+1/n-1/d$, which is (1.19) for n > 2. This is the essential point where the higher integrability estimates of Step 2 come into the play, allowing for equality in (1.19). We then proceed exactly as for Theorem 4.4, as its assumptions are verified but for the equality case in (1.19), as noticed in Step 1. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 4.4 we arrive at (9.1), and all the foregoing considerations remain the same, but, in order to get a suitable a priori estimate, the term involving $\mathbf{P}_{1}^{\mathfrak{h}}$ must be estimated slightly differently from Proposition 6.6. More precisely, using (6.16) with the current choice of s_* in (6.73), we finally come to the new uniform bound

$$\|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du_{\varepsilon}|)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\varsigma})} \leq \frac{c}{(\varrho-\varsigma)^{\beta}} \left[\|\tilde{H}_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du_{\varepsilon}|)\|_{L^{s_{\ast}}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + \|f\|_{L^{(n,1)}(B_{\varrho})}^{\theta} + 1 \right], \qquad (10.11)$$

which replaces (6.64) and holds whenever $B_{\varsigma} \subseteq B_{\varrho}$ are concentric balls contained in \mathcal{B} ; the constant *c* depends on data_h. Note that we have applied the argument of Proposition 6.6 directly to u_{ε} defined in (10.9). Using (10.10) in (10.11) yields

$$\begin{split} \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du_{\varepsilon}|)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \\ & \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta}} \left[\|H(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{s_{\ast}}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + \|f\|_{L(n,1)(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + 1 \right] \end{split}$$

for every $s \in (0, 1)$. Again, the right-hand side stays finite by Lemma 10.1. This last estimate can be used as a replacement of (7.12) in an approximation argument which is at this stage completely similar to the one used for the proof of Theorem 4.1 and this completes the proof in the case n > 2. It remains to treat the case n = 2. For this we again turn to the arguments of Section 6.7, where we apply Lemma 6.7 with the choice of the number $s_* > 1$ again determined in Lemma 10.3. Such an application is legal as we are assuming that $\hat{\sigma} = q/p - 1 \leq 1/2 - 1/d$, while again we may assume that $s_* < 2m(1 + \hat{\sigma})$. Then we proceed exactly as in the proof of Theorem 4.4 case n = 2, again noting that only the second inequality in (6.83) is needed (formally with $\sigma = 0$), and this leads to require that q/p < p, which is the second condition in (1.19) for the case n = 2.

10.3. Proof of Theorems 1.4–1.5 and 1.7

We deduce Theorem 1.5, from Theorem 4.1; Theorem 1.4 then follows similarly. In exactly the same way, we can then deduce Theorem 1.7 from Theorem 4.3. As usual, we do it by making a suitable choice of the growth functions g_1, g_2, g_3 and of the parameters σ , $\hat{\sigma}, c_a, c_b, \gamma, T, \mu$. This requires some preparations; we split the proof in two steps. In the following we denote data_k \equiv $(n, N, k, \nu_m, L, p_m, p_M)$, for every integer $k \ge 0$. In the following, with abuse of notation, we shall indicate by $\partial_{zz} \mathbf{e}_k(\cdot)$ the Hessian matrix of $z \to \mathbf{e}_k(\cdot, |z|)$, while $\mathbf{e}'_k(x, t)$ keeps on denoting the (partial) derivative of the function $t \to \mathbf{e}_k(\cdot, t)$. By Sobolev-Morrey embedding theorem we can assume that { \mathbf{c}_k, p_k } are Hölder continuous functions with exponent $\alpha = 1 - n/d$.

Step 1: Computations By induction we have

$$\mathbf{e}'_{k}(x,t) = \mathbf{c}_{k}(x)p_{k}(x)t^{p_{0}(x)-1}\Pi_{k}(x,t)\mathbf{e}_{k}(x,t) \text{ for } k \ge 0, \qquad (10.12)$$

for every $x \in \Omega$ and t > 0, where

$$\begin{cases} \Pi_k(x,t) := \mathfrak{c}_{k-1}(x) p_{k-1}(x) [\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_k(x)} \Pi_{k-1}(x,t) & \text{for } k \ge 1 \\ \Pi_0(x,t) := 1 \,. \end{cases}$$

Then, observing that

$$\Pi'_k(x,t) = \Pi_k(x,t)t^{p_0(x)-1} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} p_{j+1}(x)\mathfrak{c}_j(x)p_j(x)\Pi_j(x,t) \text{ for } k \ge 1,$$

identity (10.12) gives

$$\mathbf{e}_0''(x,t) = t^{p_0(x)-1} \mathbf{e}_0'(x,t) \left[\mathbf{c}_0(x) p_0(x) + \frac{p_0(x)-1}{t^{p_0(x)}} \right]$$

and

$$\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime\prime}(x,t) = t^{p_{0}(x)-1}\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime}(x,t)\mathbf{c}_{k}(x)p_{k}(x)\Pi_{k}(x,t) + t^{p_{0}(x)-1}\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime}(x,t)\sum_{j=0}^{k-1}p_{j+1}(x)\mathbf{c}_{j}(x)p_{j}(x)\Pi_{j}(x,t) + t^{p_{0}(x)-1}\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime}(x,t)\frac{p_{0}(x)-1}{t^{p_{0}(x)}} \quad \text{for } k \ge 1.$$
(10.13)

Finally, we have

$$[[\mathbf{e}_k(x,t)]^{p_{k+1}(x)}]' = [\mathbf{e}_k(x,t)]^{p_{k+1}(x)} p_{k+1}(x) \mathbf{c}_k(x) p_k(x) t^{p_0(x)-1} \Pi_k(x,t).$$

We now come to the *x*-derivatives; note that the following computations are justified as in (1.21) we are considering a composition of bounded Sobolev functions \mathfrak{c}_k , p_k with smooth functions, and therefore the standard (vectorial) chain rule applies as in the traditional case, i.e., if \mathfrak{c}_k , p_k were C^1 -regular. We use properly defined, auxiliary vector fields \mathfrak{D}_k , $\mathcal{L}_k : \mathfrak{Q} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ for $k \ge 0$, and the notation $\mathfrak{e}_{-1}(x, t) \equiv t$. Then, we have, for a.e. $x \in \mathfrak{Q}$ and t > 0

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{x} \mathbf{e}_{k}(x,t) &= \mathbf{e}_{k}(x,t) [\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_{k}(x)} \mathcal{D}_{k}(x,t), & \text{for } k \geq 0 \\ \partial_{x} [\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_{k}(x,t)} &:= [\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_{k}(x,t)} [\mathbf{e}_{k-2}(x,t)]^{p_{k-1}(x,t)} \\ & \times [\mathbf{c}_{k-1}(x) D p_{k}(x) + p_{k}(x) \mathcal{D}_{k-1}(x,t)], & \text{for } k \geq 1, \end{aligned}$$
(10.14)

where, by induction, we have defined, for $k \ge 0$

$$\mathcal{D}_{0}(x,t) := D\mathbf{c}_{0}(x) + \mathbf{c}_{0}(x) \log t Dp_{0}(x)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{k+1}(x,t) := D\mathbf{c}_{k+1}(x) + \mathbf{c}_{k+1}(x)\mathbf{c}_{k}(x)[\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_{k}(x)}Dp_{k+1}(x) \quad (10.15)$$

$$+ \mathbf{c}_{k+1}(x)p_{k+1}(x)[\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_{k}(x)}\mathcal{D}_{k}(x,t).$$

Using (10.14)–(10.15), for $k \ge 1$ we compute, again by induction

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{x}\Pi_{0}(x,t) &= 0, \quad \mathcal{L}_{0}(x,t) = 0_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \\ \partial_{x}\Pi_{k}(x,t) &= \Pi_{k}(x,t)\mathcal{L}_{k}(x,t) \\ \mathcal{L}_{k}(x,t) &:= D\log\left(\mathbf{c}_{k-1}(x)p_{k-1}(x)\right) \\ &+ \left[\mathbf{e}_{k-2}(x,t)\right]^{p_{k-1}(x)} \left[\mathbf{c}_{k-1}(x)Dp_{k}(x) + p_{k}(x)\mathcal{D}_{k-1}(x,t)\right] + \mathcal{L}_{k-1}(x,t). \end{aligned}$$
(10.16)

Finally, using (10.14)–(10.16) in (10.12), for every $k \ge 0$ we conclude with

$$\partial_x \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t) = \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t) \left[D\left(\log(\mathbf{c}_k(x) p_k(x)) \right) \right]$$

$$+\log t Dp_0(x) + \mathcal{L}_k(x,t) + [\mathbf{e}_{k-1}(x,t)]^{p_k(x)} \mathcal{D}_k(x,t) \Big]. \quad (10.17)$$

As for the tensor $\partial_{zz} \mathbf{e}_k(x, |z|)$, by a direct computation we have that

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{zz} \mathbf{e}_{k}(x, |z|) \xi \cdot \xi \ge \min\left\{\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime\prime}(x, |z|), \frac{\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime}(x, |z|)}{|z|}\right\} |\xi|^{2} \\ |\partial_{zz} \mathbf{e}_{k}(x, |z|)|^{2} = [\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime\prime}(x, |z|)]^{2} + \left[\frac{\mathbf{e}_{k}^{\prime}(x, |z|)}{|z|}\right]^{2} (Nn - 1) \end{cases}$$
(10.18)

hold for every choice of $z, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ with $z \neq 0$ and $x \in \Omega$.

Step 2: Determining g_1, g_2 and g_3 . For every fixed $k \ge 0$, the constants implied in the symbols \le and \approx , will depend on data_k and we shall use the auxiliary functions

$$\mathfrak{h}_k(x) := \sum_{i=0}^k [|D\mathfrak{c}_i(x)| + |Dp_i(x)|] + 1, \quad k \ge 0.$$

It follows that $\mathfrak{h}_k \in L^d(\Omega)$ for d > n, by assumptions. By (10.15) it follows $|\mathcal{D}_0(x, t)| \leq \mathfrak{h}_0(x)[|\log t| + 1]$, so that induction gives that

$$|\mathcal{D}_k(x,t)| \lesssim \mathfrak{h}_k(x) \left[(t^{p_0(x)} |\log t| + 1) \Pi_{k-1}(x,t) + 1 \right] \text{ holds for all } k \ge 1.$$

In turn, this and (10.16) imply that

$$|\mathcal{L}_k(x,t)| \lesssim \mathfrak{h}_k(x) \left[(t^{p_0(x)} |\log t| + 1) \Pi_{k-1}(x,t) + 1 \right] \text{ holds for all } k \ge 1.$$

By (10.12) it is also $\mathbf{e}'_k(x, t) \leq t^{p_0(x)-1} \leq t^{p_m-1}$ for $t \approx 0$. From this and (10.17) it follows there exit constants $m_k \equiv m_k(\text{data}_k) \geq 1$ such that, for a.e. $x \in \Omega$

$$\begin{cases} |\partial_x \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t)| \lesssim m_k \mathfrak{h}_k(x) & \text{for all } t \in [0,e] \\ |\partial_x \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t)| \lesssim \mathfrak{h}_k(x) \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t) t^{p_0(x)} \log t \Pi_k(x,t) & \text{for all } t \in [e,\infty) . \end{cases}$$
(10.19)

Now, let $\{c_k, d_k\}$ be constants larger than 1, to be eventually chosen large enough, again in dependence on data_k, and $\phi \in C([0, \infty), [0, 1])$ be a non-decreasing function such that $\phi(t) = 0$ for $t \in [0, e/2]$ and $\phi(t) = 1$ for $t \in [e, \infty)$. With $p_{\mathfrak{m}}$ as in (1.20), and $x \in \Omega$ and t > 0, we define

$$\begin{cases} g_1(x,t) \equiv g_{1,k}(x,t) := \phi(t) \min\{p_m - 1, 1\} \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t)/t \\ g_2(x,t) \equiv g_{2,k}(x,t) := \phi(t) c_k t^{p_0(x)} \Pi_k(x,t) \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t)/t \\ g_3(x,t) \equiv g_{3,k}(x,t) := (1 - \phi(t)) c_k m_k \\ + \phi(t) c_k m_k \mathbf{e}'_k(x,t) t^{p_0(x)} \log t \Pi_k(x,t) . \end{cases}$$

We are ready to check that g_1, g_2, g_3 satisfy the relations prescribed in Section 4.1 and required to meet the assumptions of Theorem 4.1. We take $c_b \equiv c_b(\text{data}_k) \ge 1$ to be determined in due course of the proof, $T = e, \nu \approx \min\{p_m - 1, 1\}, \gamma = p_m, \mu = 0$; moreover, any choice of small numbers $\sigma, \hat{\sigma} > 0$ will work. In this way it is $\bar{G}(x,t) = \min\{p_m - 1, 1\}[\mathbf{e}_k(x,t) - \mathbf{e}_k(x, \mathbf{e}) + (\mathbf{e}^2 + 1)^{p_m/2}]$ for $t \ge \mathbf{e}$, so that $\bar{G}(x,t) \approx \mathbf{e}_k(x,t)$ for t large. By (10.12)–(10.13) and (10.18), it follows that (4.2)_{2,3} are satisfied provided we take $c_k \equiv c_k(\text{data}_k)$ large enough. Similarly, (4.2)₄ follows using (10.19) and eventually increasing c_k . In the same way (4.4) holds with the above choice of the parameters by (10.12). As for (4.16)– (4.18), note that, given $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, there exists $c \equiv c(\text{data}_k, \varepsilon)$, such that $\Pi_k(x,t)t^{p_0(x)+1}\log t \leq c[\mathbf{e}_k(x,t)]^{\varepsilon}$ for $t \ge \mathbf{e}$. Using this, (4.16) follows, for all $\hat{\sigma} > 0$, from (10.19) by taking $h \equiv d_k \mathfrak{h}_k \in L^d(\Omega)$, provided we take $d_k \equiv d_k(\text{data}_k, \hat{\sigma})$ large enough. As for (4.17), note that $(g_3^2/g_1)(x,t) \lesssim$ $[\mathbf{e}'_k(x,t)]^{1+\varepsilon} \lesssim [\mathbf{e}_k(x,t)]^{1+2\varepsilon}$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $t \ge \mathbf{e}$; therefore (4.17) follows for every $\sigma \in (0, 1)$, again taking $c_b \equiv c_b(\text{data}_k, \sigma)$ large enough. In the same way, (4.18) follows by eventually enlarging c_b . This means that the assumptions of Theorem 4.1 are satisfied and the proof of Theorem 1.5 is complete.

10.4. Proof of Theorem 1.6

Conditions in (4.1) are verified by (1.4); indeed, an easy consequence of (1.4) is that $t \mapsto \tilde{a}(t)/t^{i_a}$ is non-decreasing. It follows that $\tilde{a}(t)t \leq \tilde{a}(1)t^{i_a+1}$ for $t \in (0, 1]$, and therefore $t \mapsto A(x, t) \in C^1_{\text{loc}}[0, \infty) \cap C^2_{\text{loc}}(0, \infty)$ for every $x \in \Omega$ as it is $i_a > -1$. Moreover,

 $\begin{cases} |\partial_{zz}A(x,|z|)| \le L\sqrt{Nn} \max\{1, s_{a}+1\}\tilde{a}(|z|)\\ \nu \min\{1, i_{a}+1\}\tilde{a}(|z|)|\xi|^{2} \le \partial_{zz}A(x,|z|)\xi \cdot \xi\\ |\partial_{xz}A(x,|z|)| \le |D\mathfrak{c}(x)|\tilde{a}(|z|)|z| \end{cases}$

hold for every choice of $x \in \Omega$ and $z, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}, |z| \neq 0$. Notice that here we again indicate by $\partial_{zz}A(\cdot)$ the Hessian of $z \to A(\cdot, |z|)$. Having in mind to apply Theorem 4.2, this leads to define $g_1(t) := \nu \min\{1, i_a + 1\}\tilde{a}(t), g_2(t) := LNn \max\{1, s_a + 1\}\tilde{a}(t), g_3(t) := \tilde{a}(t)t$ and $h := |Dc| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$. As $t \mapsto \tilde{a}(t)/t^{i_a}$ is non-decreasing, (4.4) is also verified with $\gamma = i_a + 2, \mu = 0$. The definitions given above make sure that conditions (4.19) are satisfied with $c_u \approx \max\{1, s_a + 1\}/\min\{1, i_a + 1\}$. This means that Theorem 4.2 applies and (1.24) follows from (4.23).

11. Obstacle Problems and Theorem 1.8

11.1. A General Result

We start with the following constrained analog of Theorem 4.1, which will be used to ge the proof of Theorem 1.8:

Theorem 11.1. Let $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ be a constrained minimizer of the functional \mathcal{F}_0 in (1.25), under assumptions $s \in t$ in (4.20) with g_3 , $\partial_{zz}F$ being locally bounded on $\Omega \times [0, \infty)$ and $\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$, respectively, and $\gamma \geq 2$. If $\psi \in W^{2,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ with $|D^2\psi| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$, then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$. **Proof.** In set we have initially assumed that g_3 was locally bounded in $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$, while here we are assuming it is locally bounded in $\Omega \times [0, \infty)$, that means that for every $\Omega_0 \in \Omega$ and $b \ge 0$ we have that $\sup_{\Omega_0 \times [0,b]} g_3$ is finite. This is is not really an additional assumption as it is automatically satisfied in all the cases considered for instance in Theorem 1.8. Notice also that $D^2 \psi \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega) \subset L(n, 1)$ implies that $D\psi$ is continuous in Ω [71] and, in particular, $D\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^n)$ for any ball $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$; accordingly, we let $T_{\psi} \equiv T_{\psi}(\mathcal{B}) := \|D\psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B})} + T + 1$. We now fix an arbitrary ball $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ with $r(\mathcal{B}) \le 1$, we consider the family $\{F_{\varepsilon}\}$ constructed in Section 5.1. This time we take $0 < \varepsilon < \min\{1/T_{\psi}, T\}/4$ and define u_{ε} as the solution to the auxiliary problem

$$u_{\varepsilon} \mapsto \min_{(u+W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}))\cap \mathcal{K}_{\psi}(\mathcal{B})} \int_{\mathcal{B}} F_{\varepsilon}(x, Dw) \, dx \,. \tag{11.1}$$

The existence of u_{ε} follows by standard theory, and the variational inequality

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} \partial_z F_{\varepsilon}(x, Du_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (Dw - Du_{\varepsilon}) \, dx \ge 0 \tag{11.2}$$

holds for all $w \in (u + W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B})) \cap \mathcal{K}_{\psi}(\mathcal{B})$. Thanks to the γ -polynomial growth conditions in (5.14), we are now able to perform the linearization procedure used in [43, page 237] i.e., we can rearrange (11.2) in the following way:

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[\partial_z F_{\varepsilon}(x, Du_{\varepsilon}) \cdot D\varphi - f_{\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi \right] dx = 0$$
(11.3)

for all $\varphi \in W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B})$, where

$$f_{\varepsilon}(x) := -\theta_{\varepsilon}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\{x \in \mathcal{B} : u_{\varepsilon}(x) = \psi(x)\}} \operatorname{div} \partial_{z} F_{\varepsilon}(x, D\psi)$$

for some measurable density $\theta_{\varepsilon} : \mathcal{B} \to [0, 1]$. Note that the definition of f_{ε} makes sense in light of the fact that $\psi \in W^{2,n}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ and of the discussion made at the beginning of Section 6 to prove (6.8). This implies that $\partial_z F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, D\psi) \in$ $W^{1,n}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^n)$ and the usual chain rule formula holds as in Section 6, again thanks to the results in [27]; see Remark 10 below. We then define the constant

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\mathcal{B}) := \|g_3\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}\times[0,T_{\psi}))} + \|\tilde{a}(\cdot,1)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B})} + \sup_{x\in\mathcal{B}, |z|\in[0,T_{\psi})} |\partial_{zz}F(x,z)| + T_{\psi}^{\gamma-2} + 1.$$
(11.4)

This quantity is always bounded as $\partial_{zz} F$ is in turn assumed to be locally bounded and $\gamma \ge 2$, here we also use the fact that g_3 is locally bounded as again described in the statement of the Theorem. This is essentially the only place where such assumptions come into the play. Elementary manipulations based on the first property in (4.4) and (5.13)₃, give

$$|f_{\varepsilon}(x)| \le c(n, N, \nu, \gamma, c_{\mathsf{b}})\mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\mathcal{B})[|D^{2}\psi(x)| + h(x)].$$
(11.5)

Here we have also used that $\varepsilon \leq 1/T_{\psi}$ to exploit the definitions in (5.3) and (5.9). In turn, (11.5) gives

$$f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathfrak{X}(B) \quad \text{with} \quad \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B)} \le c \|D^2\psi\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B)} + c\|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B)} \tag{11.6}$$

for all balls $B \subseteq \mathcal{B}$, where $c \equiv c(n, N, v, \gamma, c_b, g_{\psi}(B))$. Since u_{ε} verifies (11.3), the strict convexity of $F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot)$ prescribed by (5.6)₄ implies that u_{ε} is the unique solution of Dirichlet problem

$$u_{\varepsilon} \mapsto \min_{u+W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B})} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[F_{\varepsilon}(x, Dw) - f_{\varepsilon} \cdot w \right] dx \,. \tag{11.7}$$

By (5.14) and (11.6), we see that problem (11.7) falls in the realm of those covered by Proposition 12.1 in Section 12 below, therefore $u_{\varepsilon} \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,\infty}(B) \cap W_{\text{loc}}^{2,2}(B)$. This is exactly the information in (6.5) allowing to justify the all the subsequent calculations in Section 6 in view of an application to solutions to (11.7). Moreover, thanks to (11.5), the coercivity estimate (7.2) applied to the case of (11.7), becomes

$$\|F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, Du_{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})} + \|Du_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\gamma}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma}$$

$$\leq c\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})} + c\|D^{2}\psi\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)} + c\|h\|_{L^{n}(\mathcal{B})}^{\gamma/(\gamma-1)} + c \qquad (11.8)$$

thanks to (11.5). Using Proposition 6.6 when n > 2, and Proposition 6.8 when n = 2 (with $u_{\varepsilon} \equiv u$ and $f_{\varepsilon} \equiv f$), we arrive at

$$\begin{split} & [E_{\varepsilon}(\|Du_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})})]^{\gamma} + \|G_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, |Du_{\varepsilon}|)\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \\ & \leq \frac{c}{(1-s)^{\beta}[r(\mathcal{B})]^{\beta}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + \|D^{2}\psi\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + \|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{\theta} + 1\right], \end{split}$$

$$\tag{11.9}$$

where we have used (11.5) and (11.8). Here c depends on data, $||h||_{L^{d}(\mathcal{B})}$ and $\mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\mathcal{B})$, but not on ε . Notice that, accordingly to the content of Section 6 and in particular recalling (6.28), estimate (11.9) does not hold for any ball, but it holds provided $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$ where, exactly as in (6.28), the threshold radius z R_* depends now also on $h(\cdot)$, $D\psi(\cdot)$ and $\mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\mathcal{B})$. As for the dependence on this last quantity, there is no vicious circle here since the set function $\Omega_0 \mapsto \mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\Omega_0)$ defined in (11.4) is obviously non-decreasing with respect to general open subsets $\Omega_0 \Subset \Omega$ (specifically, fix $\Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega$, determine $\mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\Omega_0)$ as in (11.4) and proceed for every ball $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \Omega_0$ with radius $r(\mathcal{B})$ whose smallness now depends on $\mathfrak{g}_{\psi}(\Omega_0)$). Estimate (11.9) can be now used to replace (7.12) in the approximation scheme of the proof of Theorem 4.1, with $\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon_i$. The rest of the proof now follows exactly the proof of Theorem 4.1 and leads to the conclusion, along with explicit a priori estimates obtainable by (11.9) after a suitable passage to the limit. Note that also the argument of (7.11) can be repeated verbatim, as the obstacle constraint involved here is still convex. Indeed, note that here we are not passing to the limit in the linearized problems (11.3), but rather directly in the obstacle problems (11.1); see for instance [28, Section 5.5] and [43] for more details on such approximation arguments.

Remark 10. The linearization procedure leading to (11.7) has been first introduced in [42], and it is usually employed assuming that $\psi \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathcal{B})$ [43]. A careful examination of the proof reveals that $\psi \in W^{2,n}(\mathcal{B}) \cap W^{1,\infty}(\mathcal{B})$ suffices, that in turn implies $\partial_z F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, D\psi) \in W^{1,n}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^n)$. For this, a first basic remark is that the weak integration-by-parts formula $\int_{\mathcal{B}} h\varphi_{x_i} dx = -\int_{\mathcal{B}} h_{x_i}\varphi dx$ holds for every $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, whenever $h \in W^{1,n}(\mathcal{B})$ and $\varphi \in W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B})$, for some $\gamma > 1$. In turn, this follows by a standard density argument and Sobolev embedding in the limiting case.

11.2. Proof of Theorem 1.8 and Additional Results

The proof of Theorem 11.1 offers a route to get the obstacle version of all the other results presented in the unconstrained case; in particular, Theorem 1.8 follows. The key point is again to employ the linearization procedure used in [42,43] to pass from a variational inequality as in (11.2) to an equation as in (11.3), to which the estimates in the unconstrained case immediately apply. The whole procedure then works provided the additional assumptions $\gamma \geq 2$ and $g_3, \partial_{zz} F \in$ $L_{\rm loc}^{\infty}$ are in force as described in the statement of Theorem 11.1. With this path being settled, the reader can now easily obtain the constrained extensions of all the results presented in this paper. A few remarks are in order. First, notice that Theorems 1.1-1.2 and Theorems 1.4-1.5 in the constrained version, are a direct consequence of Theorem 11.1 and this can be checked exactly as in the unconstrained version. Next, again as for the case of Theorem 11.1, Theorems 4.2 and 4.4 admit a constrained reformulation. In turn, the former would imply a constrained version of Theorem 1.6. The latter would instead imply a first constrained version of Theorem 1.3, where the bounds in (1.19) appear in the <-version; see also Step 1 of the proof of Theorem 1.3. As for the full \leq -version in (1.19), it is then necessary to readapt to the obstacle case the arguments from Step 2 and 3 of the proof of Theorem 1.3in Section 10.2, along the lines of the proof of Theorem 11.1. In this respect, the only worth mentioning difference is that the higher integrability lemmas 10.1 and 10.2 can be easily obtained in the setting of obstacle problems too, starting from the arguments indicated here. For this see also [15]. Finally, note that in the case of functionals with (p, q)-growth, including the double phase one in (1.10), verifying the assumptions $\gamma \ge 2$ and $\partial_{zz} F \in L^{\infty}_{loc}$ boils down to assume that $p \ge 2$, as indeed done in Theorem 1.8. The additional (micro)assumption on g_3 in the statement of Theorem 11.1 is instead satisfied in every case.

Remark 11. In Theorem 11.1 we can trade the assumption $\gamma \ge 2$ with $\mu > 0$ (non-degenerate case). This eventually leads to constrained versions of Theorems 1.1-1.2 assuming that p > 1 instead of $p \ge 2$, provided it is $\mu > 0$.

12. Justification of a Priori Regularity

In this final section we justify the claim in (6.5), which is necessary to carry out the rest of the estimates in Sects. 6 and 8. Keeping (5.6) in mind, we therefore

consider a functional like (1.1), with the integrand F being convex in the gradient variable, satisfying the structure condition $(4.1)_1$, where we assume that \tilde{F} and \tilde{F}' are continuous functions on $\Omega \times [0, \infty)$ such that $\tilde{F}(x, 0) \equiv 0$, that $\partial_{zz}F$, $\partial_{xz}F$ are measurable and

$$\begin{cases} t \mapsto \tilde{F}(x,t) \in C^{1}_{\text{loc}}[0,\infty) & \text{for all } x \in \Omega \\ t \mapsto \tilde{F}'(x,t) =: \tilde{a}(x,t)t \in \text{Lip}_{\text{loc}}[0,\infty) & \text{for all } x \in \Omega \\ x \mapsto \tilde{F}'(x,t) \in W(1;\mathfrak{X})(\Omega) & \text{for every } t \geqq 0. \end{cases}$$
(12.1)

The last condition means that $|\partial_x \tilde{F}'(\cdot, t)| \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ for every $t \ge 0$, where $\mathfrak{X}(\Omega)$ has been defined in (1.9). In particular, this implies that $x \mapsto \tilde{F}'(x, t) \in W^{1,n}(\Omega)$. As in Section 6, we also assume that the set of non-differentiability points of $t \mapsto \tilde{a}(x, t)t$ is independent of x and that

$$\begin{aligned}
\nu_{0}(|z|^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\gamma/2} - \Lambda \mu^{\gamma} &\leq F(x, z) \leq \Lambda (|z|^{2} + \mu^{2})^{\gamma/2} \\
|\partial_{zz}F(x, z)| &\leq \Lambda (|z|^{2} + \mu^{2})^{(\gamma-2)/2} \\
\nu_{0}(|z|^{2} + \mu^{2})^{(\gamma-2)/2} |\xi|^{2} &\leq \partial_{zz}F(x, z)\xi \cdot \xi \\
|\partial_{xz}F(x, z)| &\leq \Lambda h(x)(|z|^{2} + \mu^{2})^{(\gamma-1)/2} \\
f, h \in \mathfrak{X}(\Omega)
\end{aligned}$$
(12.2)

hold for every $x \in \Omega$, and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$, provided $\partial_{zz} F(x, z)$ exists, and a.e. x and $z, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$ in the case of (12.2)₄. In (12.2), it is $\gamma > 1, 0 < \nu_0 \leq 1 \leq \Lambda$, $0 < \mu \leq 1$. This functional is of the type considered in (6.2) by (5.14) and (5.23), so that the claim in (6.5) is justified by the following:

Proposition 12.1. Let $u \in W^{1,\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a minimizer of \mathcal{F} in (1.1), under assumptions (12.1)-(12.2). Then $Du \in L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ and $u \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. The proof goes now in three different steps, where we essentially revisit and readapt a few hidden facts in the literature. References [31] and [48] are particularly relevant here.

Step 1: Regularized Integrands

We revisit the procedure we used in [31, Theorem 4, Step 1] and start fixing a ball $\mathcal{B} \in \Omega$ such that $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq 1$. We first extend \tilde{F} by even reflection making it defined on $\Omega \times \mathbb{R}$, i.e., $\tilde{F}(x, t) := \tilde{F}(x, -t)$, and then we consider standard, radially symmetric mollifiers $\phi_1 \in C_c^{\infty}(B_1), \phi_2 \in C_c^{\infty}(-1, 1), \|\phi_1\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \|\phi_2\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 1, \phi_{1,\delta}(x) := \phi_1(x/\delta)/\delta^n, \phi_{2,\delta}(t) := \phi(t/\delta)/\delta, B_{3/4}(0) \subset \operatorname{supp} \phi_1, (-3/4, 3/4) \subset \operatorname{supp} \phi_2$. With δ such that $0 < \delta < (0, \operatorname{dist}(\mathcal{B}, \partial \Omega)/2)$, we define

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{F}_{\delta}(x,t) := \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{B_{1}} \tilde{F}(x+\delta y,t+\delta s)\phi_{1}(y)\phi_{2}(s) \, dy \, ds \\ h_{\delta}(x) := (h*\phi_{1,\delta})(x) \end{cases}$$
(12.3)

for all $x \in \mathcal{B}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Lemma 12.2. If $F_{\delta}(x, z) := \tilde{F}_{\delta}(x, \langle z \rangle)$, where $\langle z \rangle := \sqrt{|z|^2 + \delta^2}$, then

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{c_r} (|z|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{\gamma/2} - c_r \mu_{\delta}^{\gamma} \le F_{\delta}(x, z) \le c_r (|z|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{\gamma/2} \\ |\partial_{zz} F_{\delta}(x, z)| \le c_r (|z|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \\ \frac{1}{c_r} (|z|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} |\xi|^2 \le \partial_{zz} F_{\delta}(x, z) \xi \cdot \xi \\ |\partial_{xz} F_{\delta}(x, z)| \le c_r h_{\delta}(x) (|z|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-1)/2} \end{cases}$$
(12.4)

hold for every $x \in \Omega'$, $z, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$, where $c_r \equiv c_r(n, N, v_0, \Lambda, \gamma) \ge 1$ is a positive constant, and, as usual, it is $\mu_{\delta} := \mu + \delta$. Moreover, we have

$$\begin{cases} F_{\delta}(x,z) \to F(x,z) & uniformly on compact subsets of \overline{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathbb{R}^{n} \text{ as } \delta \to 0 \\ \|h_{\delta}\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B)} \leq c \|h\|_{\mathfrak{X}(B+\delta B_{1}(0))} \end{cases}$$
(12.5)

whenever $B \subset \mathcal{B}$ is a ball such that $B + \delta B_1(0) \subseteq \Omega$, where *c* is independent of δ and $h(\cdot)$.

Proof. The arguments we are going to use here build on those employed in [31, Section 4.5]. The upper bound in (12.4)₁ follows directly from the definition (12.3), while the lower bound follows verbatim from [31, Section 4.5, last display], upon replacing $\gamma - 2$ there with γ here, and taking the case n = 1 there. We now go for (12.4)₃. Denoting $\tilde{a}_{\delta}(x, t) := \tilde{F}'_{\delta}(x, t)/t$ for $t \neq 0$, we note that (12.4)₃ follows from

$$\begin{cases} (t^{2} + \mu_{\delta}^{2})^{(\gamma-2)/2} \lesssim \tilde{a}_{\delta}(x,t) \\ (t^{2} + \mu_{\delta}^{2})^{(\gamma-2)/2} \lesssim \tilde{a}_{\delta}(x,t) + \tilde{a}_{\delta}'(x,t)t = \tilde{F}_{\delta}''(x,t) \end{cases}$$
(12.6)

for $t \ge \delta$. This in turn follows by observing that

$$\partial_{zz} F_{\delta}(x, z) = a_{\delta}(x, \langle z \rangle) \mathbb{I}_{N \times n} + a'_{\delta}(x, \langle z \rangle) \langle z \rangle \frac{z \otimes z}{\langle z \rangle^2}$$
(12.7)

holds for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}$, and recalling the arguments for (5.15)–(5.16) and Lemma 6.1; also observe that $\langle z \rangle^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2 \approx |z|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2$. Here, as in the rest of the proof of the Lemma, all the implied constants in the symbol \lesssim depend only on n, N, v_0, Λ and γ , but remain otherwise independent of δ . To prove (12.6)₁, note that $\tilde{F}_{\delta}(x, t)$ is still such that $\tilde{F}_{\delta}(x, t) = \tilde{F}_{\delta}(x, -t)$ for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$ so that $\tilde{F}_{\delta}'(x, 0) = 0$. Moreover, from (12.2)₃, arguing as in (4.10), it follows that $(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \approx \tilde{F}''(x, t)$, for $t \neq 0$, provided F''(x, t) exists. From this and the definition in (12.3), following again the same argument in [31, Section 4.5, last two displays], we gain $(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} \lesssim \tilde{F}_{\delta}''(x, t)$, which is (12.6)₂. In turn, integrating this last inequality and using $\tilde{F}_{\delta}'(x, 0) = 0$, yields $(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}t/\max\{1, \gamma - 1\} \leq \int_0^t (s^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} ds \lesssim \tilde{F}_{\delta}'(x, t)$ for t > 0, which is in fact (12.6)₁ and (12.4)₃ is verified. We now derive (12.4)₂. By (12.7), it is sufficient to prove that $\tilde{a}_{\delta}(x, t) + |\tilde{a}_{\delta}'(x, t)t| \lesssim (t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}$. For this we can again use the argument in [31, Proof of (4.52)₃] to start showing that $|\tilde{a}_{\delta}(x, t) + \tilde{a}_{\delta}'(x, t)t| = |\tilde{F}_{\delta}''(x, t)| \lesssim (t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}$ for $t \ge \delta$. Therefore it remains to prove that $\tilde{a}_{\delta}(x, t)t = \tilde{F}_{\delta}'(x, t) \lesssim$ $(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}t$. Again by $\tilde{F}'_{\delta}(x, 0) = 0$, it follows that $\tilde{F}'_{\delta}(x, t) \lesssim \int_0^t (s^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2} ds \leq \max\{1, 1/(\gamma-1)\}(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}t$, and this completes the proof of (12.4)₂. For the proof of (12.4)₄, note that this implies that $|\partial_x \tilde{F}'(x, t)| \leq \Lambda h(x)(t^2 + \mu^2)^{(\gamma-1)/2}$, from which (12.4)₄ follows from the definitions in (12.3) as for (12.4)₁. Finally, (12.5)₁ is again an immediate consequence of the definitions in (12.3) since \tilde{F} is continuous; (12.5)₂ follows from the definition of Lorentz and $L^2(\log L)^{\mathfrak{a}}$ -norms and the boundedness of maximal operators in the corresponding spaces.

We further define $f_{\delta} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ as $f_{\delta}(x) := f(x)$ if $|f(x)| \le 1/\delta$, and $f_{\delta}(x) := \delta^{-1} |f(x)|^{-1} f(x)$ otherwise. Finally, we let $u_{\delta} \in u + W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$, defined as the unique solution of the Dirichlet problem

$$u_{\delta} \mapsto \min_{w \in u + W_0^{1,\gamma}(\mathcal{B};\mathbb{R}^N)} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \left[F_{\delta}(x, Dw) - f_{\delta} \cdot w \right] dx$$

Up until now, we have required that δ is small enough to have $\delta < \text{dist}(\mathcal{B}, \partial \Omega)/2$. In the next step we shall choose additional smallness conditions on δ .

Step 2: $Du \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n})$ Thanks to (12.4), standard regularity theory yields

$$\begin{cases} Du_{\delta} \in L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}), & u_{\delta} \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N}) \\ \partial_{z} F_{\delta}(x, Du_{\delta}) \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times n}); \end{cases}$$
(12.8)

see, for instance, [73]. We can therefore proceed exactly as in the proof of Proposition 8.2 arguing on the Euler-Lagrange $-\operatorname{div} \partial_z F_{\delta}(x, Du_{\delta}) = f_{\delta}$. This yields the existence of $\delta_0 \equiv \delta_0(n, N, v_0, \gamma, \Lambda, h(\cdot)) \in (0, 1)$ and $R_* \equiv R_*(n, N, v_0, \gamma, \Lambda, h(\cdot)) \leq 1$ such that the estimate

$$\|Du_{\delta}\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{[(1-s)r(\mathcal{B})]^{n/\gamma}} \left[\|F_{\delta}(\cdot, Du_{\delta})\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{1/\gamma} + 1 \right] + c \|f_{\delta}\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{1/(\gamma-1)}$$
(12.9)

holds whenever $s \in (0, 1)$, provided $\delta \leq \min\{\delta_0, \operatorname{dist}(\mathcal{B}, \partial \Omega)/2\}$ and $r(\mathcal{B}) \leq R_*$, where $c \equiv c(n, N, v_0, \Lambda, \gamma) \geq 1$ is independent of δ . Indeed, the setting of Proposition 8.2 applies with the obvious choices $g_{1,\varepsilon}(t) \equiv (t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}/c_r$, $g_{2,\varepsilon}(t) \equiv c_r(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}$, $g_{3,\varepsilon}(t) \equiv c_r(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}t$, $h(\cdot) \equiv h_{\delta}(\cdot)$ and $T \equiv \mu_{\delta}$; note that $(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-1)/2} \leq \sqrt{2}(t^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{(\gamma-2)/2}t$ for $t \geq \mu_{\delta}$. Moreover, the only qualitative properties of the solution u_{δ} needed to argue as in Proposition 8.2 are those in (6.5), that are exactly those in (12.8). Therefore the whole set of estimates developed there applies here verbatim once we observe that $(5.13)_3$ in only needed here when $t \geq T$, which is the case thanks to $(12.4)_4$. Notice that, proceeding as in Proposition 8.2, and recalling (8.10) (here applied with $h \equiv h_{\delta}$), the radius R_* here should exhibit a dependence on h_{δ} , and therefore ultimately on δ . However, R_* can be made independent of δ , thanks to $(12.5)_2$ by further taking δ small enough, and without creating vicious circles. Specifically, we arrive at (8.9) with the above choice of $g_{1,\varepsilon}, g_{2,\varepsilon}, g_{3,\varepsilon}$ and (8.10) turns out to be $c_* \|h_{\delta}\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})} \leq 1/6$, where c_* is independent of δ but only depends of data_u.

parameters this means that c_* depends only on $n, N, v_0, \Lambda, \gamma, \mathfrak{a}$. We use $(12.5)_2$ to reduce the last condition to $cc_* ||h||_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B}+\delta B_1(0))} \leq 1/6$, where c is the constant appearing in $(12.5)_2$ and it is independent of δ . Therefore, by absolute continuity we find $\delta_0, R_* \equiv \delta_0, R_*(n, N, v_0, \gamma, \Lambda, h(\cdot))$ as described above, such that the last inequality is satisfied. This allows us to set inequality (12.9) free from any dependence on δ . Next, using $(12.2)_1$ and $(12.4)_1$, and finally the minimality of u_{δ} in (12.9), we gain

$$\|Du_{\delta}\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{[(1-s)r(\mathcal{B})]^{n/\gamma}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{1/\gamma} + 1 \right] + c \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{1/(\gamma-1)}, \qquad (12.10)$$

with *c* being independent of δ . From this, a standard convergence argument based on (12.5)₁ (see again the proof of Theorem 4.1) extracting a subsequence $\{u_{\delta} \equiv u_{\delta_j}\}$ such that $u_{\delta} \rightharpoonup^* u$ weakly in $W^{1,\infty}(s\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$, leads to

$$\|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(s\mathcal{B})} \leq \frac{c}{[(1-s)r(\mathcal{B})]^{n/\gamma}} \left[\|F(\cdot, Du)\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{B})}^{1/\gamma} + 1 \right] + c \|f\|_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B})}^{1/(\gamma-1)}$$

As this holds whenever $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \Omega$, Du is locally bounded.

Step 3: $u \in W^{2,2}_{loc}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)$ For this we shall revisit some arguments from [48, Theorems 4.5-4.6]. We test the weak formulation of the Euler-Lagrange system $-\operatorname{div} \partial_z F_\delta(x, Du_\delta) = f_\delta$ by $D_s \varphi$, for $s \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $\varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathcal{B})$; integration by parts yields

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} D_s[\partial F_\delta(x, Du_\delta)] \cdot D\varphi \, dx = -\int_{\mathcal{B}} f_\delta \cdot D_s \varphi \, dx \,. \tag{12.11}$$

We then take $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}/2; [0, 1])$ with $\eta \equiv 1$ in $\mathcal{B}/4$, $\|D\eta\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B})} \lesssim 1/[r(\mathcal{B})]$, and we define $\varphi \equiv \varphi_s := \eta^2 D_s u_\delta$ so that $\varphi \in W_0^{1,2}(\mathcal{B}; \mathbb{R}^N)$ and has compact support in \mathcal{B} . Using φ as test function in (12.11), summing over $s \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ and taking (12.4) into account, yields

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathcal{B}} (|Du_{\delta}|^{2} + \mu_{\delta}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} |D^{2}u_{\delta}|^{2} \eta^{2} dx \\ & \leq c \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta (|Du_{\delta}|^{2} + \mu_{\delta}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} |D^{2}u_{\delta}| |Du_{\delta}| |D\eta| dx \\ & + c \int_{\mathcal{B}} h_{\delta} (|Du_{\delta}|^{2} + \mu_{\delta}^{2})^{\frac{\gamma-1}{2}} [\eta^{2} |D^{2}u_{\delta}| + \eta |D\eta| |Du_{\delta}|] dx \\ & + \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{B} |f_{\delta}| |D\varphi_{s}| dx \,. \end{split}$$

Estimating the third integral in a standard way (see for instance in [48, pag. 395]) we get

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}} (|Du_{\delta}|^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{\frac{\gamma-2}{2}} |D^2u_{\delta}|^2 \eta^2 dx$$

$$\leq c[r(\mathcal{B})]^{-2} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \eta [1 + h_{\delta}^{2}] (|Du_{\delta}|^{2} + \mu_{\delta}^{2})^{\gamma/2} dx + c[r(\mathcal{B})]^{-1} ||f||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})} ||Du_{\delta}||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B}/2)} + c ||f||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})} ||\eta^{2} D^{2} u_{\delta}||_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})} .$$

$$(12.12)$$

The involved constant *c* only depends on *n*, *N*, ν , Λ and γ and is otherwise independent of $\delta \in (0, 1)$. We now set $M := \sup_{\delta} \|Du_{\delta}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}/2)} + 1$, which is a finite quantity by (12.10). We start considering the case $\gamma \ge 2$, where we have

$$\mu^{\gamma-2} \|\eta D^2 u_{\delta}\|_{L^2(\mathcal{B})}^2 \leq c \|1 + h_{\delta}\|_{L^2(\mathcal{B})}^2 (M^2 + \mu_{\delta}^2)^{\gamma/2} + c \|f\|_{L^2(\mathcal{B})} M$$
$$+ c \|f\|_{L^2(\mathcal{B})} \|\eta^2 D^2 u_{\delta}\|_{L^2(\mathcal{B})},$$

where $c \equiv c(n, N, v_0, \Lambda, \gamma, r(\mathcal{B}))$ and therefore, via Young's inequality, we get

$$\|D^{2}u_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B}/4)}^{2} \leq c\mu^{2-\gamma} \|1+h_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})}^{2} [M^{2}+1]^{\gamma/2} + c\mu^{2-\gamma} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})} M + c\mu^{2(2-\gamma)} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})}^{2}$$

which is a uniform (with respect to δ) local bound for $\{D^2u_{\delta}\}$:

$$\|D^{2}u_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B}/4)} \leq c(n, N, \nu_{0}, \gamma, \Lambda, \|h\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})}, \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{B})}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathcal{B}), M, \mu).$$
(12.13)

In the case $1 < \gamma < 2$, we can argue exactly as after (12.12), but replacing μ by M, thereby getting again (12.13). Starting from (12.13), using the same approximation argument for the proof of Theorem 4.1 and in Step 2 here, we can let $\delta \rightarrow 0$ (via a subsequence) in (12.13) finally getting a local upper bound for D^2u in L^2 . The assertion then follows via the usual covering argument.

Acknowledgements. This work is supported by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC): CDT Grant Ref. EP/L015811/1, and by the University of Parma via the project Regularity, Nonlinear Potential Theory and related topics.

Funding Open access funding provided by Università degli Studi di Parma within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

References

- 1. BARONI, P.: Riesz potential estimates for a general class of quasilinear equations. *Calc. Var. PDE* **53**, 803–846, 2015
- 2. BARONI, P., COLOMBO, M., MINGIONE, G.: Regularity for general functionals with double phase. *Calc. Var. PDE* **57**, 62, 2018
- BARRON, E.N., JENSEN, R.R., WANG, C.Y.: Lower semicontinuity of Lⁱnfty functionals. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire 18, 495–517, 2001
- 4. BECK, L., MINGIONE, G.: Lipschitz bounds and nonuniform ellipticity. *Commun. Pure Appl. Math.* **73**, 944–1034, 2020
- BELLA, P., SCHÄFFNER, M.: Local boundedness and Harnack inequality for solutions of linear nonuniformly elliptic equations. *Commun. Pure Appl. Math.* 74, 453–477, 2021
- BILDHAUER, M.: Convex Variational Problems: Linear, Nearly Linear and Anisotropic Growth Conditions, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1818. x+217 pp. Springer, Berlin (2003)
- 7. BILDHAUER, M., FUCHS, M.: $C^{1,\alpha}$ -solutions to nonautonomous anisotropic variational problems. *Calc. Var. PDE* **24**, 309–340, 2005
- 8. BOUCHUT, P., CRIPPA, G.: Lagrangian flows for vector fields with gradient given by a singular integral. J. Hyperbol. Differ. Equ. 11, 813–854, 2018
- 9. BOUSQUET, P., BRASCO, L.: Lipschitz regularity for orthotropic functionals with nonstandard growth conditions. *Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana* **36**, 1989–2032, 2020
- 10. BYUN, S.S., OK, J., RYU, S.: Global gradient estimates for elliptic equations of p(x)-Laplacian type with BMO nonlinearity. *J. Reine Angew. Math.* **715**, 1–38, 2016
- BYUN, S.S., OH, J.: Global gradient estimates for nonuniformly elliptic equations. *Calc. Var. PDE* 56, 36, 2017
- 12. BYUN, S.S., YOUN, Y.: Riesz potential estimates for a class of double phase problems. *J. Differ. Equ.* **264**, 1263–1316, 2018
- BYUN, S.S., LIANG, S., OK, J.: Irregular double obstacle problems with Orlicz growth. J. Geom. Anal. 30, 1965–1984, 2020
- CELLINA, A., STAICU, V.: On the higher differentiability of solutions to a class of variational problems of fast growth. *Calc. Var. PDE* 57, 66, 2018
- 15. CHLEBICKA, I., DE FILIPPIS, C.: Removable sets in non-uniformly elliptic problems. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (IV) **199**, 619–649, 2020
- CHOE, H.J.: A regularity theory for a general class of quasilinear elliptic partial differential equations and obstacle problems. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* 114, 383–394, 1991
- CHOE, H.J., LEWIS, J.L.: On the obstacle problem for quasilinear elliptic equations of *p*-Laplace type. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 22, 623–638, 1991
- 18. CIANCHI, A.: Maximizing the L^{∞} -norm of the gradient of solutions to the Poisson equation. J. Geom. Anal. 2, 499–515, 1992
- CIANCHI, A., MAZ'YA, V.G.: Global Lipschitz regularity for a class of quasilinear equations. Commun. PDE 36, 100–133 (2011)
- 20. CIANCHI, A., MAZ'YA, V.G.: Global boundedness of the gradient for a class of nonlinear elliptic systems. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **212**, 129–177 (2014)
- CIANCHI, A., MAZ'YA, V.G.: Gradient regularity via rearrangements for *p*-Laplacian type elliptic boundary value problems. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 16, 571–595 (2014)
- CIANCHI, A., MAZ'YA, V.G.: Global gradient estimates in elliptic problems under minimal data and domain regularity. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 14, 285–311 (2015)
- CIANCHI, A., MAZ'YA, V.G.: Second-order two-sided estimates in nonlinear elliptic problems. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 229, 569–599 (2018)
- 24. COLOMBO, M., MINGIONE, G.: Regularity for double phase variational problems. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **215**, 443–496, 2015
- COLOMBO, M., MINGIONE, G.: Bounded minimisers of double phase variational integrals. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 218, 219–273, 2015

- 26. CRIPPA, G., DE LELLIS, C.: Estimates and regularity results for the DiPerna-Lions flow. *J. Reine Angew. Math.* **616**, 15–46, 2008
- 27. DE CICCO, V., LEONI, G.: A chain rule in $L^1(\text{div}; \Omega)$ and its applications to lower semicontinuity. *Calc. Var. PDE* **19**, 23–51, 2004
- 28. De FILIPPIS, C.: Regularity results for a class of nonautonomous obstacle problem with (p, q)-growth. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **501**, 123450, 2021
- DE FILIPPIS, C., MINGIONE, G.: A borderline case of Calderón–Zygmund estimates for nonuniformly elliptic problems. *St. Petersburg Math. J.* 31, 455–477, 2020
- DE FILIPPIS, C., MINGIONE, G.: Manifold constrained nonuniformly elliptic problems. J. Geom. Anal. 30, 1661–1723, 2020
- DE FILIPPIS, C., MINGIONE, G.: On the regularity of minima of nonautonomous functionals. J. Geom. Anal. 30, 1584–1626, 2020
- 32. DI MARCO, T., MARCELLINI, P.: A-priori gradient bounds for elliptic systems under either slow or fast growth conditions. *Calc. Var. PDE* **59**, 120, 2020
- 33. DIENING, L., ETTWEIN, F.: Fractional estimates for non-differentiable elliptic systems with general growth. *Forum Math.* **20**, 523–556, 2008
- DIENING, L., HARJULEHTO, P., HÄSTÖ, P., RUZICKA, M.: Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces with Variable Exponents, p. 2017. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- 35. DOLZMANN, G., KRISTENSEN, J.: Higher integrability of minimizing Young measures. *Calc. Var. PDE* 22, 283–301, 2005
- DUC, D.M., EELLS, J.: Regularity of exponentially harmonic functions. *Internat. J. Math.* 2, 395–408, 1991
- 37. ELEUTERI, M., MARCELLINI, P., MASCOLO, E.: Lipschitz estimates for systems with ellipticity conditions at infinity. *Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (IV)* **195**, 1575–1603, 2016
- ESPOSITO, L., LEONETTI, F., MINGIONE, G.: Sharp regularity for functionals with (*p*, *q*) growth. J. Differ. Equ. 204, 5–55, 2004
- 39. EVANS, L.C.: Some new PDE methods for weak KAM theory. *Calc. Var. PDE* 17, 159–177, 2003
- FOCARDI, M., GERACI, F., SPADARO, E.: Quasi-monotonicity formulas for classical obstacle problems with Sobolev coefficients and applications. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 184, 125–138, 2020
- 41. FONSECA, I., MALY, J., MINGIONE, G.: Scalar minimizers with fractal singular sets. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **172**, 295–307, 2004
- 42. FUCHS, M.: Hölder continuity of the gradient for degenerate variational inequalities. *Nonlinear Anal.* **15**, 85–100, 1990
- 43. FUCHS, M., MINGIONE, G.: Full $C^{1,\alpha}$ -regularity for free and constrained local minimizers of elliptic variational integrals with nearly linear growth. *Manuscr. Math.* **102**, 227–250, 2000
- IVANOV, A.V.: Quasilinear degenerate and nonuniformly elliptic and parabolic equations of second order. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. no. 1 (160), xi+287 pp (1984)
- KARPPINEN, A., LEE, M.: Hölder continuity of the minimizer of an obstacle problem with generalized Orlicz growth. Inter. Math. Res. Notices. https://doi.org/10.1093/imrn/ rnab1502020
- 46. KILPELÄINEN, T., MALÝ, J.: The Wiener test and potential estimates for quasilinear elliptic equations. *Acta Math.* **172**, 137–161, 1994
- 47. KINDERLEHRER, D., STAMPACCHIA, G.: An introduction to variational inequalities and their applications. Academic Press, New York (1980)
- KRISTENSEN, J., MINGIONE, G.: Boundary regularity in variational problems. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 198, 369–455, 2010
- KRISTENSEN, J., STROFFOLINI, B.: The Gehring lemma: dimension free estimates. Nonlinear Anal. 177, 601–610, 2018
- 50. KUUSI, T., MINGIONE, G.: Guide to nonlinear potential estimates. *Bull. Math. Sci.* 4, 1–82, 2014
- 51. KUUSI, T., MINGIONE, G.: A nonlinear Stein theorem. Calc. Var. PDE 51, 45-86, 2014

- 52. KUUSI, T., MINGIONE, G.: Vectorial nonlinear potential theory. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 20, 929–1004, 2018
- 53. HARJULEHTO, P., HÄSTÖ, P.: Orlicz Spaces and Generalized Orlicz Spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2236. Springer (2019)
- 54. Hästö, P., Oκ, J.: Maximal regularity for local minimizers of nonautonomous functionals. J. Europ. Math. Soc., to appear
- HIRSCH, J., SCHÄFFNER, M.: Growth conditions and regularity, an optimal local boundedness result. *Commun. Cont. Math* 23, 2050029, 2021
- JIN, T., MAZ'YA, V., VAN SCHAFTINGEN, J.: Pathological solutions to elliptic problems in divergence form with continuous coefficients. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 347, 773–778 (2009)
- LADYZHENSKAYA, O.A., URAL'TSEVA, N.N.: Local estimates for gradients of solutions of nonuniformly elliptic and parabolic equations. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 23, 677– 703 (1970)
- LIEBERMAN, G.M.: The natural generalization of the natural conditions of Ladyzhenskaya and Ural'tseva for elliptic equations. Commun. PDE 16, 311–361 (1991)
- LIEBERMAN, G.M.: Regularity of solutions to some degenerate double obstacle problems. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 40, 1009–1028, 1991
- MARCELLINI, P.: Regularity and existence of solutions of elliptic equations with p, qgrowth conditions. J. Differ. Equ. 90, 1–30, 1991
- 61. MARCELLINI, P.: Everywhere regularity for a class of elliptic systems without growth conditions. *Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (IV)* **23**, 1–25, 1996
- 62. MARCELLINI, P.: Regularity for some scalar variational problems under general growth conditions. *J. Optim. Theory Appl.* **90**, 161–181, 1996
- 63. MARCELLINI, P.: Growth conditions and regularity for weak solutions to nonlinear elliptic pdes. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 501, 124408, 2021
- MARCELLINI, P., PAPI, G.: Nonlinear elliptic systems with general growth. J. Differ. Equ. 221, 412–443, 2006
- 65. MAZ'YA, V., HAVIN, M.: A nonlinear potential theory. Russ. Math. Surv. 27, 71–148 (1972)
- MINGIONE, G., RADULESCU, V.: Recent developments in problems with nonstandard growth and nonuniform ellipticity. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 501 (2021), article no. 125197
- 67. RADULESCU, V., REPOVS, D.: Partial Differential Equations with Variable Exponents: Variational Methods and Qualitative Analysis. Chapman & Hall/CRC Monographs and Research Notes in Mathematics (2015)
- SARASON, D.: Functions of vanishing mean oscillation. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 207, 391–405, 1975
- 69. SIL, S.: Nonlinear Stein theorem for differential forms. Calc. Var. PDE 58, 154, 2019
- SIMON, L.: Interior gradient bounds for nonuniformly elliptic equations. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 25, 821–855, 1976
- 71. STEIN, E.M.: Editor's note: the differentiability of functions in \mathbb{R}^n . Ann. of Math. (II) **113**, 383–385 (1981)
- ŠVERÁK, V., YAN, X.: Non-Lipschitz minimizers of smooth uniformly convex variational integrals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99(24), 15269–15276, 2002
- TOLKSDORF, P.: Everywhere-regularity for some quasilinear systems with a lack of ellipticity. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (IV) 134, 241–266, 1983
- UHLENBECK, K.: Regularity for a class of nonlinear elliptic systems. Acta Math. 138, 219–240, 1977
- URAL'TSEVA, N.N.: Degenerate quasilinear elliptic systems. Zap. Na. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 7, 184–222 (1968)
- URAL'TSEVA, N.N., URDALETOVA, A.B.: The boundedness of the gradients of generalized solutions of degenerate quasilinear nonuniformly elliptic equations. Vestnik Leningrad Univ. Math. 19 (1983) (russian) english. tran.: 16, 263–270, 1984
- 77. ZHIKOV, V.V.: Averaging of functionals of the calculus of variations and elasticity theory. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat.* **50**, 675–710, 1986

78. ZHIKOV, V.V.: On some variational problems. Russ. J. Math. Phys. 5, 105-116, 1997

CRISTIANA DE FILIPPIS Dipartimento di Matematica "Giuseppe Peano", Università di Torino, Via Carlo Alberto 10, 10123 Torino Italy. e-mail: cristiana.defilippis@unito.it

and

GIUSEPPE MINGIONE Dipartimento SMFI, Università di Parma, Parco Area delle Scienze 53/a, 43124 Parma Italy. e-mail: giuseppe.mingione@unipr.it

(Received July 14, 2020 / Accepted July 19, 2021) Published online September 14, 2021 © The Author(s) (2021)